Synaptic loss in the primary tauopathies of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy and Corticobasal Degeneration

Negin Holland

This thesis is submitted for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy



Downing College

University of Cambridge

May 2021

PREFACE

This thesis is the result of my own work and includes nothing which is the outcome of work done in collaboration except as declared in the preface and specified in the text. It is not substantially the same as any work that has already been submitted before for any degree or other qualification except as declared in the preface and specified in the text. It does not exceed the prescribed word limit for the Degree Committee of the Faculties of Clinical Medicine and Clinical Veterinary Medicine.

Some of the material presented in chapter 1 (pertaining to patterns of atrophy in Progressive Supranuclear palsy and Corticobasal syndrome) are as a result of collaborative research with the PROSPECT-UK consortium, and has been published as:

Jabbari, E., **Holland, N.,** Chelban, V., Jones, P.S., et al. 2019. Diagnosis Across the Spectrum of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy and Corticobasal Syndrome. JAMA Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.4347

Part of Chapter 3 has been published as:

Holland N, Jones PS, Savulich G, et al. Synaptic Loss in Primary Tauopathies Revealed by [¹¹C]UCB-J Positron Emission Tomography. Mov Disord. 2020;35(10):1834-1842. doi:10.1002/mds.28188

Parts of the material in chapter 4 is as a result of collaborative research and published as: Mak, E*, **Holland, N*,** Jones, S, et al. In vivo coupling of dendritic complexity with presynaptic density in primary tauopathies. Neurobiol Aging. 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2021.01.016 ***Joint first author**

Much of the material in Chapter 5 is under revision as:

Holland N, Malpetti M, Rittman T, Mak E, et al. The relationship between molecular pathology and synaptic loss in the primary tauopathies: a combined $[^{18}F]AV-1451$ and $[^{11}C]UCB-J$ PET study.

Other relevant publications referenced within the thesis include: Rowe JB, **Holland N**, Rittman T. Progressive Supranuclear Palsy: Diagnosis and Management. Practical Neurology. 2021. *In press*.

Holland N, Robbins TW, Rowe JB. The role of noradrenaline in cognition and cognitive disorders. Brain. 2021. doi: 10.1093/brain/awab111

Nicastro N, **Holland N**, Savulich G, et al. [¹¹C]UCB-J synaptic PET and multimodal imaging in dementia with Lewy Bodies. Eur J Hybrid Imaging. 2020. doi: 10.1186/s41824-020-00093-9

SYNAPTIC LOSS IN THE PRIMARY TAUOPATHIES OF PROGRESSIVE SUPRANUCLEAR PALSY AND CORTICOBASAL DEGENERATION.

Dr Negin Holland

In this thesis I address the debilitating symptom of cognitive dysfunction in the primary tauopathies of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy (PSP) and Corticobasal Degeneration (CBD). Both PSP and CBD are associated with an accumulation of 4-repeat tau in cortical and subcortical areas. As well as movement disorders, they impair cognitive function, even where there is minimal atrophy. Neurophysiological studies have also identified electrophysiological changes associated with cognitive dysfunction, in areas without atrophy. I propose that synaptic loss prior to cell loss contributes to these effects of disease.

Chapter two summarises my cohort and principal methods. I quantify synaptic density *in vivo* with dynamic [¹¹C]UCB-J PET, and molecular pathology with [¹⁸F]AV1451 PET. Brain structural changes are quantified by MRI. Disease severity and cognition are assessed with the PSP rating scale, and neuropsychological tests. Patients with CBD are negative on amyloid-imaging ([¹¹C]PiB PET) to exclude those with Alzheimer's pathology. In chapter three, [¹¹C]UCB-J PET reveals widespread loss of synapses in PSP and CBD including areas with minimal atrophy. The loss of synapses correlated with cognition and disease severity.

In chapter four, I test whether presynaptic changes (from [¹¹C]UCB-J PET) are correlated with postsynaptic abnormalities (i.e. changes to postsynaptic dendritic microstructural integrity quantified by MRI using the Neurite Orientation and Dispersion Index, NODDI). In accordance with *in vitro* and animal models, I confirm that loss of dendritic complexity is tightly coupled with presynaptic density, over and above the effects of atrophy.

In chapter five, I test the relationship between the molecular pathology in primary tauopathies (tau burden) and synaptic loss, using [¹⁸F]AV-1451 and [¹¹C]UCB-J PET. The use of the "tau" ligand [¹⁸F]AV-1451 has become controversial in PSP. With due consideration to the caveats, I report that brain regions with a higher synaptic density have higher [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding, consistent with the hypothesis of connectivity-based

progression of tauopathy. I further show that accrual of pathology in any given area is associated with loss of synapses, consistent with synaptic injury from tauopathy.

I conclude my thesis in chapter 6, by discussing and highlighting the importance of synaptic density in primary tauopathies. The findings are relevant to other neurodegenerative disorders, and support early interventional studies targeting synaptic maintenance and restoration.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Although I use the singular pronouns "I" and "my" throughout my thesis, this work would not have been possible without the tremendous support, effort and patience of my family, colleagues, collaborators, advisors, and supervisor.

First and foremost, I am grateful to my supervisor, Professor James Rowe for his continuous and tireless mentorship and guidance. As well as teaching me the importance of rigorous scientific research, he has acted as a true role model both in his role as a caring clinician and a scientist. I am also very grateful to my advisor Professor John O'Brien, for his constructive feedback throughout my PhD.

Each member of the Rowe Lab, in their own individual way, has made my PhD a joy. Special thanks go to Dr George Savulich and Ms Julie Wiggins for their support with recruitment, and for sharing the challenges of running a multi-PET study. My gratitude also goes to Professor Karalyn Patterson, Mr Simon Jones, Dr Thomas Cope, Dr Timothy Rittman, Dr Luca Passamonti, Dr Maura Malpetti, and Dr Rong Ye for their expertise in research methods, and constructive feedback. I am also very grateful to the radiographers at the Wolfson Brain Imaging Centre, and the PET physics department for their support in the last 3 years, and my funders the Association for British Neurologists (Patrick Berthoud Charitable Trust), and the Cambridge Centre for Parkinson-Plus. I thank the participants who generously gave up their time to support this research, without whom advancement in neurodegenerative research would be impossible.

Neither my PhD, nor the write-up of this thesis, would be possible without the tireless support, encouragement and understanding from my parents, in-laws, and husband – to all of them I am eternally grateful.

DEDICATION

To my son and daughter, Daniel and Miriam.

Table of Contents

| 1 General | introduction | 1 |
|------------|--|------------|
| 1.1 Prin | nary Tauopathies | 2 |
| 1.1.1 | Pathological phenotypes associated with Primary Tauopathies | 2 |
| 1.1.2 | Clinical phenotypes associated with primary tauopathies | 4 |
| 1.1.3 | Progressive Supranuclear Palsy - clinical symptoms and signs | 6 |
| 1.1.4 | Corticobasal Syndrome - clinical symptoms and signs | 7 |
| 1.1.5 | Neural mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction in PSP and CBS | 8 |
| 1.2 Cor | clusion | 15 |
| 1.3 Ain | ns and structure of this thesis | 16 |
| 2 General | Methods | 17 |
| 2.1 Rec | ruitment | |
| 2.1.1 | Participants | 18 |
| 2.1.2 | Inclusion Criteria | |
| 2.1.3 | Exclusion Criteria | 19 |
| 2.2 Eth | ical & Radiation Approvals | 19 |
| 2.3 Ove | erview of study protocol | 19 |
| 2.3.1 | Neuropsychological and clinical assessment | 20 |
| 2.3.2 | Neuroimaging | 21 |
| 2.4 Ana | alysis | 25 |
| 2.4.1 | Power calculation | 25 |
| 2.4.2 | Statistical Analysis | 25 |
| 3 Synaptic | loss in primary tauopathies revealed by [11C]UCB-J Positron | n Emission |
| Tomography | | 27 |
| 3.1 Intr | oduction | 29 |

| 3. | 1.1 | The Synapse |
|-------------------|---------------------------|---|
| 3. | 1.2 | The role of synapses in cognition and behaviour |
| 3. | 1.3 | Measuring synapses in vivo |
| 3.2 | Met | hods |
| 3.2 | 2.1 | Participants and Study Design |
| 3.2 | 2.2 | Neuroimaging Pre-processing |
| 3.2 | 2.3 | Statistical analysis |
| 3.3 | Res | ults |
| 3.3 | 3.1 | Clinical summary and Demographics |
| 3.3 | 3.2 | Widespread reduction in cortical and subcortical synaptic density40 |
| 3.2 | 3.3 | Synaptic loss occurs beyond the extent of atrophy41 |
| 3.3 | 3.4 | Synaptic loss correlates with disease severity and global cognition45 |
| 3.4 | Disc | cussion46 |
| 4 In tauopat | vivo hies | coupling of dendritic complexity with presynaptic density in primary |
| 4.1 | mu | Juuction |
| 4. | 1.1 | Postsynaptic compartment and its physiological role |
| 4. | 1.2 | Measuring dendritic spines and complexity |
| 4.2 | Met | hods and Study Design |
| 4.2 | 2.1 | Neuroimaging Pre-processing55 |
| 1 1 | | |
| 4.2 | 2.2 | Statistical Analysis |
| 4.3 | 2.2 Res | Statistical Analysis |
| 4.3 4.3 | 2.2 Rest 3.1 | Statistical Analysis |
| 4.3 4.3 4.2 | 2.2 Rest 3.1 3.2 | Statistical Analysis |

| | 4.4 | Disc | cussion | 67 |
|----------|-------------------------|-----------------|---|--------------|
| 5 tau | The Iopathi | relat ies: a | ionship between <i>in vivo</i> molecular pathology and synaptic loss in p combined [¹⁸ F]AV-1451 and [¹¹ C]UCB-J PET study. | rimary 72 |
| | 5.1 | Intro | oduction | 75 |
| | 5.2 | Tau | -induced toxicity in tauopathies | 75 |
| | 5.2. | 1 | Direct tau synapto-toxicity | 77 |
| | 5.2.2 | 2 | Indirect tau synapto-toxicity | 77 |
| | 5.3 | Trar | ns-synaptic spread of tau | 78 |
| | 5.4 | Met | hods | 81 |
| | 5.4. | 1 | Participants and study design | 81 |
| | 5.4. | 2 | Neuroimaging pre-processing | 81 |
| | 5.4. | 3 | Statistical analyses | 81 |
| | 5.5 | Res | ults | 83 |
| | 5.5. | 1 | Demographics | 83 |
| | 5.5. | 2 | Relationship between [¹¹ C]UCB-J BP _{ND} and [¹⁸ F]AV-1451 BP _{ND} | 84 |
| | 5.5. BP _N | 3 ID | Cross-regional correlation between $[^{18}F]AV-1451$ BP _{ND} and $[^{11}C]$ 85 | UCB-J |
| | 5.6 | Disc | cussion | 87 |
| 6 | Gen | eral c | liscussion | 91 |
| | 6.1 | Rev | iew of the principal findings | 92 |
| | 6.2 | Syna | aptic loss in Primary Tauopathies | 93 |
| | 6.3 | Syna | aptic loss in other neurodegenerative disorders | 95 |
| | 6.3. | 1 | Alzheimer's disease | 95 |
| | 6.3. | 2 | Frontotemporal Dementia | 97 |
| | 6.3. | 3 | Parkinson's Disease and Lewy Body Dementia | 98 |

| 6.3. | 4 Huntington's Disease | |
|-------|--|-----|
| 6.3. | 5 Prion disease | |
| 6.3. | 6 Neuropsychiatric disorders | |
| 6.4 | Targeting the synapse therapeutically | |
| 6.5 | Overall Study Limitations and future direction | |
| 6.6 | Conclusion | 110 |
| 7 App | pendices | |
| A. S | upplementary materials for Chapter 1 | 113 |
| B. S | upplementary materials for Chapter 4 | 116 |
| C. S | upplementary materials for Chapter 5 | |

ABBREVIATIONS

| Αβ | Amyloid β protein/protein residues; used as a diagnostic marker of Alzheimer's disease |
|---------------------------|---|
| ACE-R | Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination – revised |
| AD | Alzheimer's disease |
| ANOVA | Analysis of variance |
| ARSAC | The Administration of Radioactive Substances Advisory Committee |
| [¹⁸ F]AV-1451 | The tau PET tracer developed by Siemens Medical Solutions USA, Inc. and acquired by AVID and Eli |
| | Lilly and Company |
| BADL | Bristol Activities of Daily Living |
| BP _{ND} | Non-displaceable binding potential |
| BRC | Cambridge Biomedical Research Centre |
| bvFTD | Behavioural variant Frontotemporal dementia |
| CBD/CBS | Corticobasal Syndrome/Degeneration |
| CDR | Clinical Dementia Scale |
| CSF | Cerebrospinal fluid |
| CUH | Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust |
| DLB | Dementia with Lewy bodies |
| FTD | Frontotemporal dementia (including semantic dementia, Pick's disease, frontotemporal lobar |
| | degeneration, behavioural variant FTD, and several other variants) |
| FTLD | Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration |
| LBD | Lewy Body Dementia |
| LME | Linear mixed effect model |
| MAPT | Microtubule associated protein Tau |
| MCI | Mild cognitive impairment |
| MHRA | Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency |
| MMSE | Mini mental state examination |
| MoCA | Montreal Cognitive Assessment |
| MRI | Magnetic resonance imaging |
| NHS | National Health Service |
| NIHR | National Institute for Health Research |
| PD | Parkinson's disease. |
| PDD | Parkinson's disease dementia. |
| PET | Positron emission tomography |
| [¹¹ C]PiB | Pittsburgh compound B ([N-methyl- ¹¹ C]2-(4'-methylaminophenyl)-6-hydroxybenzothiazole), a |
| | radioactively labelled compound that binds to Aβ |
| PrEPPAReD | Prospective Evaluation of Parkinson's Plus And Related Disorders |
| PROSPECT-M-UK | Progressive Supranuclear Palsy, Corticobasal Syndrome and Multisystem Atrophy - a national cohort |
| | study. |
| PSP | Progressive Supranuclear Palsy |
| PSPRS | PSP Rating Scale |
| REC | Research ethics committee |
| SPM | Statistical parametric mapping - a technique used in analysis of MRI and PET data. |
| SEADL | Schwab and England Activities of Daily Living Scale |
| SENDeR | Synaptic Evaluation in Neurodegenrative Research |
| SUVR | Standard Uptake Value Ratio - used in PiB PET imaging |
| TENDeR | Tau Evaluation in Neurodegenerative Research |
| [¹¹ C]UCB-J | ((<i>R</i>)-1-((3-(methyl- ¹¹ C)pyridin-4-yl)methyl)-4-(3,4,5-trifluorophenyl)pyr-rolidin-2-one); synaptic vesicle |
| | 2A specific PET radioligand |
| WBIC | Wolfson Brain Imaging Centre (University of Cambridge) |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1-1. Molecular pathological classification of primary tauopathies |
|---|
| Figure 1-2. Clinicopathological spectrum of frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndromes including primary tauopathies |
| Figure 1-3. Theoretical model of dynamic changes to tauopathy related biomarkers in relation to clinical symptom manifestation |
| Figure 2-1. Flowchart illustrating the participants' journey through the study20 |
| Figure 3-1. Schematic diagram of the components of a central synapse |
| Figure 3-2. Synaptic Vesicle Proteins are key for neurotransmission |
| Figure 3-3. Widespread reductions in cortical and subcortical synaptic density in PSP and CBD |
| Figure 3-4. Normalised grey matter volume and [¹¹ C]UCB-J BP _{ND} in regions of interest. |
| Figure 3-5. Synaptic loss correlates with disease severity and global cognition45 |
| Figure 4-1. Regional distributions of mean (sd) cortical thickness, cortical ODI and cortical [¹¹ C]-UCB-J BP _{ND} across controls, CBD, and PSP61 |
| Figure 4-2. Subcortical (basal ganglia and brainstem) distributions of mean (sd) grey matter volumes, ODI and [¹¹ C]-UCB-J BP _{ND} across controls, CBD, and PSP62 |
| Figure 4-3. GM atrophy, reduced ODI and [¹¹ C]UCB-J BP _{ND} in PSP vs Controls63 |
| Figure 4-4. GM atrophy, reduced ODI and [¹¹ C]UCB-J BP _{ND} in CBD vs Controls64 |
| Figure 4-5. Local associations between ODI and [¹¹ C]UCB-J BP _{ND} 66 |
| Figure 5-1. The neuropathological distribution of neurofibrillary tangles in different stages of PSP76 |

| Figure 5-2. Schematic diagram illustrating the predicted toxic effect of tau on syn | naptic |
|---|--------------|
| density | 80 |
| Figure 5-3. The association between synaptic density ([¹¹ C]UCB-J) and mole pathology ([¹⁸ F]AV-1451) is a function of disease severity | ecular 84 |
| Figure 5-4. Cortical pathology is negatively correlated with subcortical synaptic de | nsity. |
| | 86 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 2-1. Clinical and neuropsychological assessment battery, and questionnaires | 21 |
|---|----|
| Table 2-2. Baseline High Resolution MRI protocol. | 22 |
| Table 2-3. Total number of participants completing each arm of the study. | 25 |
| Table 3-1. Demographics and neuropsychological profile for each participant cohort4 | 40 |
| Table 3-2. Mean (standard deviation) GTM PVC [¹¹ C]UCB-J BP _{ND} values per group ² | 43 |
| Table 4-1. Demographics and neuropsychological profile for each participant cohort | 58 |
| Table 5-1. Demographics and neuropsychological profile for each participant cohort8 | 33 |

1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Summary

Neurodegenerative diseases are a major global cause of morbidity and mortality. A common symptom experienced by many patients with neurodegenerative disease is cognitive dysfunction (or dementia) manifesting as impairment in previously attained functioning - it can present with difficulties with memory, language, attention, and executive function. These symptoms are debilitating for patients, their carers and families, and result in great financial and personal cost (Winblad et al., 2016). Yet attempts to effectively treat or cure cognitive dysfunction in neurodegeneration, although promising (Boxer et al., 2019; Panza et al., 2019), has proven challenging. This has been in part due to the challenges in understanding the multifaceted underlying pathology: from genetic and environmental risk factors, accumulation and spread of misfolded proteins leading to dysfunction of neuronal communications and oscillations, and neurotransmitter deficits, with ensuing neuronal loss and loss of functional brain network connectivity – each of these processes contribute to cognition and affect survival both directly and synergistically. Of note however, cognitive symptoms can occur early in the disease process and neuronal loss is not essential to symptom manifestation. Indeed, in Alzheimer's disease, the loss of the core units of communication within the central nervous system – the synapse, correlates better with cognitive dysfunction than neuronal loss (Masliah et al., 1992; Scheff et al., 2006; Terry et al., 1991).

Synaptic loss is a common, early pathological process in neurodegeneration (Hamos et al., 1989), and occurs in response to misfolded proteins (Jacobsen et al., 2006), resulting in neuronal dysfunction before neuronal loss (Kaniyappan et al., 2017; Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015). Targeting this pathway in clinical trials may therefore provide an opportunity to modulate cognition and other physical symptoms early in neurodegeneration.

In this chapter, I introduce the main disease focus of my thesis – primary tauopathies - as a disease model for studying synaptic dysfunction. I review the pathological and clinical phenotypes of primary tauopathies and the common symptom of cognitive dysfunction, focusing in particular on Progressive Supranuclear Palsy and Corticobasal Degeneration. I then review the neural mechanisms underlying cognitive dysfunction, and emphasise the critical and central role of synapses as evidenced by animal models, post mortem and *in vivo* assessments. I summarise this chapter by setting out the hypotheses for each subsequent experimental chapter. Firstly, I propose that there is significant synaptic loss *in vivo*, in the primary tauopathies of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy and Corticobasal Degeneration of the underlying pathology in primary tauopathies correlates with synaptic loss, but that this relationship may be moderated by disease severity. Overall, I propose a key role of synapses in primary tauopathies and the associated cognitive dysfunction that is applicable to other neurodegenerative disorders, and a potential therapeutic target in future intervention studies.

1.1 PRIMARY TAUOPATHIES

1.1.1 PATHOLOGICAL PHENOTYPES ASSOCIATED WITH PRIMARY TAUOPATHIES

Primary tauopathies encompass a family of pathologies that are associated with frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) and the intracellular accumulation of the misfolded and hyperphosphorylated tau protein. The distinct pathological phenotypes are differentiated by the anatomical location of the abnormal tau protein, the specific cell types affected (astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, neurons), and the distinct tau isomers in the protein deposit (Kovacs, 2015). The pathological phenotypes include pure 4-repeat tauopathies: progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP), corticobasal degeneration (CBD), globular glial tauopathy (GGT), argyrophilic grain disease (AGD), and rarely associated with frontotemporal lobar degeneration associated with mutations in the microtubule associated protein tau (FTLD-MAPT; which can also present as a pure 3-repeat tauopathy and a mixed 3,4-repeat tauopathy); pure 3-repeat tauopathies: Pick's disease; and mixed 3 and 4-repeat

tauopathies: primary age-related tauopathy (PART) and neurofibrillary tangles dementia (NFT) (Figure 1-1).



Figure 1-1. Molecular pathological classification of primary tauopathies.

Tauopathies are characterised by the predominant aggregation of tau isoforms with 3 repeats (3R), or 4 repeats (4R) of the microtubulebinding domain, or mixed 3R/4R isoforms. Secondary tauopathies are associated with other diseases or aetiologies (dashed lines; these include e.g. Alzheimer's disease (AD), chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE) or anti-IgLON5-related tauopathy). Primary tauopathies are pure in nature and are rarely associated with other proteinopathies but concomitant co-pathologies may exist. Pathological slices in this figure represent molecular pathological characteristics, evidenced by anti- phospho-tau antibodies of the following tauopathies: Progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP): tufted astrocyte (A), globose neurofibrillary tangle in the caudate nucleus (B), oligodendroglial coiled bodies in the internal capsule (C); corticobasal degeneration (CBD): astrocytic plaque in the frontal cortex (D), neuronal corticobasal bodies in the substantia nigra (E), threads and coiled bodies in the parietal white matter (F); argyrophilic grain disease (AGD): classical Gallyas-positive argyrophilic grains (G), tau-positive grains and neuronal cytoplasmic immunoreactivities (pre- tangles) in the hippocampus (H), coiled bodies in the hippocampal white matter (I); glial globular tauopathy (GGT): globular astroglial inclusions (J), spherical neuronal inclusions in the frontal cortex (K), globular oligodendroglial inclusions in the hippocampal white matter (L). Aging-related tau astrogliopathy (ARTAG): subpial (M), subependymal (N), white matter (O), perivascular (P) and grey matter (Q) astrogliopathy. Reproduced from Rösler *et al.* 2019, with permission from Elsevier.

1.1.2 CLINICAL PHENOTYPES ASSOCIATED WITH PRIMARY TAUOPATHIES

The clinical phenotypes associated with primary tauopathies are heterogenous, and manifest as movement disorders, cognitive disorders or commonly a mixture of both.

The clinical syndromes associated with pathologies of frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD, Figure 1-2), include behavioural variant frontotemporal lobe dementia (with or without motor neuron disease), the primary progressive aphasias (including the non-fluent, semantic and logopenic variants), progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal syndrome (Coyle-Gilchrist et al., 2016; Gorno-Tempini et al., 2011; Murley et al., 2020a), all presenting with cognitive dysfunction as well as, in some cases, a movement disorder.

Cognitive dysfunction, in the form of personality change, executive dysfunction, impulsivity, apathy, and language deficits, are common in FTLD-related syndromes and debilitating for both patients and their carers (Burrell et al., 2014; Coyle-Gilchrist et al., 2016; Murley et al., 2020a; Piguet et al., 2011; Rascovsky et al., 2007). Yet the management of these disabling symptoms remains a challenge for clinicians. This is partly due to the multi-faceted underlying neural mechanisms, causing the clinical symptoms. These interlinked pathological entities include genetic/epigenetic (Ferrari et al., 2019; Höglinger et al., 2011; Wen et al., 2021; Yokoyama et al., 2017), and environmental risk factors (Litvan et al., 2016; Litvan et al., 2021), the aggregation and spread of misfolded proteins (Goedert et al., 2017a), alterations to neuronal physiology (Adams et al., 2021; Hughes et al., 2013; Sami et al., 2018) and chemical balance (Murley & Rowe, 2018), and the ensuing neuronal loss and functional brain connectivity (Cope et al., 2018; Gardner et al., 2013). Neuronal loss is however, a late phenomenon in neurodegeneration and electrochemical disturbances as well as communication breakdown, occur early with a better correlation with clinical symptoms. In this thesis, I focus on the concept of communication loss as a key neural basis for cognitive dysfunction in the primary tauopathies of progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal syndrome.

Progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP) and corticobasal syndrome (CBS), are primary tauopathies that were first described by Richardson, Steele and Olszweski (Steele et al., 1964), and Rebeiz and colleagues (Rebeiz et al., 1968), respectively. Our understanding of the pathophysiology of these two conditions has substantially increased since their original description in the 1960s. Through advancements in cryo-electron microscopy, we now

know the structure of the underlying pathogenic 4-repeat tau species (Scheres et al., 2020; W. Zhang et al., 2020); genome wide association studies have identified several risk loci, including the Microtubule Associated Protein Tau (MAPT)-H1 haplotype as a shared pathogenic risk factor for both PSP and CBS (Di Maria et al., 2000); and neuroimaging has helped in understanding the macrostructural, molecular and longitudinal changes through the disease course. Below I review the clinical features seen in PSP and CBS, with a particular emphasis on the cognitive profile and the potential underlying neural mechanism underlying cognitive dysfunction in these conditions.



Figure 1-2. Clinicopathological spectrum of frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndromes including primary tauopathies.

The clinical syndromes caused by frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD), coloured by the prevalence of each FTLD subtype: bvFTD: behavioural variant frontotemporal dementia; nvfPPA: non-fluent variant primary progressive aphasia; svPPA: semantic variant primary progressive aphasia; PSP: progressive supranuclear palsy-Richardson's syndrome; CBS: corticobasal syndrome; lvPPA: logopenic variant primary progressive aphasia. Neuropathological subtypes of FTLD: PSP: progressive supranuclear palsy. CBD: corticobasal degeneration. AGD: argyrophilic grain disease. GGT: globular glial tauopathy. FTLD-FET: Fused in sarcoma (FUS), Ewing's sarcoma (EWS), and TAF15 proteins; FTLD-U: ubiquitin positive inclusions; BIBD: basophilic inclusion body disease. NIFID: neuronal intermediate filament inclusion disease. **Possible genetic mutations underlying FLTD:** MAPT: microtubule-associated protein tau; PGRN: progranulin; TARDBP: TAR DNA-binding Protein; FUS: fused in sarcoma; CHMP2B: charged multivesicular body protein 2b. Figure idea taken, and adapted from Professor William Seely, UCSF.

1.1.3 PROGRESSIVE SUPRANUCLEAR PALSY - CLINICAL SYMPTOMS AND SIGNS

Progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP) is a rare neurocognitive disorder with a prevalence of 10 per 100,000 (Coyle-Gilchrist et al., 2016). It was first described by Richardson, Steele and Olszweski (Steele et al., 1964) and initially clinically characterised by a vertical supranuclear gaze palsy, early postural instability and falls. This classic phenotype of PSP is referred to as Richardson's syndrome (PSP-RS), but it does not capture one of the main debilitating symptoms of PSP, namely cognitive dysfunction. Indeed, of the first nine patients described by Richardson, Steele and Olszweski, seven had significant cognitive dysfunction or dementia. The more recent diagnostic criteria, published in 2017, recognises PSP as a spectrum with features of movement abnormalities, visual and language difficulties, and cognitive dysfunction (Höglinger et al., 2017) (Supplementary Figure A1). In PSP, difficulties with movement are often due to a combination of global akinesia and rigidity, particularly around the neck and axial muscles, giving patients the typical hyperextended posture. Visual disturbance in PSP is a common symptom, presenting as slow and irregular vertical saccadic eye movements in early disease (Shaikh et al., 2017), and restricted eye movements overcome with the vestibulo-occular reflex, as the disease progresses (Anderson, 2015). Visual disturbance also occurs secondary to reduced blink rate (Bologna et al., 2009), lack of coordination (apraxia) of eye-lid opening or closing, and eye-lid spasms (blepharospasm) (Yoon et al., 2005). Postural instability is yet another common symptom, presenting within two to three years of symptom onset (Höglinger et al., 2017). Together with visual disturbance and movement abnormalities, postural instability leads to frequent falls in PSP but impulsivity and impaired decision making also heavily contribute (reviewed in Brown et al. (2020)).

Both speech and language are affected in PSP. Patients characteristically present with a slow, and dysarthrophonic speech, combined with hypokinetic, spastic and ataxic elements (Kluin et al., 2001; Rusz et al., 2015; Tykalova et al., 2017). The commonest language impairment is reduced fluency, but deficits in comprehension, and naming are also seen (Burrell et al., 2014; Peterson et al., 2021). In addition to speech impairment, other bulbar presentations in PSP include swallowing difficulties (dysphagia), a predictor of survival in PSP, which requires early attention and careful management (Glasmacher et al., 2017).

A degree of behavioural and cognitive impairment occurs in almost all patients with PSP; and behavioural change is a strong predictor of survival (Glasmacher et al., 2017; Murley et al., 2021), but management remains a challenge (Rittman et al., 2016; Rowe et al., 2021). The spectrum of symptoms overlap with those seen in patients with frontotemporal lobe dementia (FTD) (Bak et al., 2010). Impairments span those affecting frontal executive function (impaired decision making and problem solving, impaired attention, and rigid thinking), action inhibition (impulsivity), motivation (apathy), and speed of thinking (bradyphrenia), to social cognitive deficits (including impaired emotion recognition, loss of social behaviours with abnormal eating habits, and lack of insight) (Bak et al., 2010; Burrell et al., 2014; Lansdall et al., 2017; Robbins et al., 1994).

1.1.4 CORTICOBASAL SYNDROME - CLINICAL SYMPTOMS AND SIGNS

Cortricobasal syndrome (CBS) is a clinical diagnosis, first described by Rebeiz et al in 1968 (Rebeiz et al., 1968) (Figure A2). CBS is the commonest clinical presentation of the pathological diagnosis of the primary 4-repeat tauopathy of Corticobasal Degeneration (CBD), with a similar prevalence to PSP of 10 per 100,000 (Coyle-Gilchrist et al., 2016). The terms CBD and CBS have sometimes been used interchangeably, but this is no longer the case. Not all cases of CBD present with CBS; and not all people with CBS have CBD. The clinical features arising from CBD may overlap with frontotemporal lobe dementia, non-fluent variant primary progressive aphasia, or PSP (Rösler et al., 2019). Similar heterogeneity is seen in the underlying pathological diagnosis presenting with a CBS phenotype, including CBD, Alzheimer's disease (Alexander et al., 2014; Burrell et al., 2013; S. E. Lee et al., 2011), PSP (Josephs et al., 2006; Ling et al., 2010), and TAR DNA-binding Protein (TDP-43) (S. E. Lee et al., 2011).

The clinical phenotype of CBS manifests with motor signs, language difficulties and cognitive dysfunction (Armstrong et al., 2013). Symptoms include asymmetric cortical and basal (subcortical) features (Supplementary Figure A2). Cortical symptoms include apraxia (affecting the eye lids, face, speech and limbs) (Zadikoff & Lang, 2005), alien limb phenomenon (Lewis-Smith et al., 2020), cortical sensory loss, and visuospatial dysfunction (simultagnosia and visual inattention) (Burrell et al., 2014; Rittman et al., 2013). Subcortical features include dystonia, rigidity, and akinesia. Dystonia in CBS can affect the limbs, neck or the eyelids and in some cases is responsive to dopaminergic medication

(Stamelou et al., 2012). Patients can also present with myoclonus (coarse tremor) featuring as either a subcortical (Grosse et al., 2003) or cortical phenomenon (Carella et al., 1997).

Speech production in CBS can be affected by apraxia of speech (orobuccal apraxia) but primary language deficits affecting comprehension, fluency and repetition are also seen (Burrell et al., 2014; Peterson et al., 2021; Rittman et al., 2013). Behavioural features in CBS overlap with those seen in PSP and frontotemporal lobe dementia, manifesting as apathy, impulsivity, and stereotyped movements (Burrell et al., 2014; Lansdall et al., 2017; Litvan et al., 1998).

On terminology of CBS/CBD, the current consensus is that CBS refers to the clinical syndrome whilst CBD refers to the characteristic 4-repeat tau pathology. About a third of those with CBS have Alzheimer's pathology (Alexander et al., 2014). In experimental chapters 3-5, I exclude this cohort of patients using amyloid imaging and use the term CBD to describe the group in whom amyloid imaging is negative.

1.1.5 NEURAL MECHANISMS OF COGNITIVE DYSFUNCTION IN PSP AND CBS

Many different pathological processes contribute to the cognitive deficits seen in PSP/CBS. At their core however, lies synaptic toxicity caused by the underlying pathology, and in turn leading to loss of structural and functional connectivity. I briefly review these pathological mechanisms below before expanding on pertinent aspects in chapters 3-5.

1.1.5.1 Tau Pathology

In a healthy brain, tau protein is abundant within neuronal axons (although it is also found in the somatodendritic compartment), where it serves as a key regulator of microtubular stability, neuronal dynamic and intracellular transport (V. M. Lee et al., 2001; Trojanowski et al., 1989; Y. Yoshiyama et al., 2013). Tau protein is encoded by the microtubuleassociated protein tau (MAPT) on chromosome 17 and can form 6 different isomers through alternative splicing. The latter process determines how many repeat regions reside within the microtubule-binding domain of the protein, generating three isoforms each with three (3R) or four repeats (4R) (V. M. Lee et al., 2001).

Under normal conditions, tau can undergo a series of post-translational modifications including phosphorylation, acetylation and methylation (reviewed in Rösler et al. (2019)). Due to genetic and/or environmental risk factors, the normal unfolded tau protein can

become hyperphosphorylated, misfolded, and subsequently form soluble oligomers and then insoluble intracellular fibril aggregates in neurons and glial cells. The downstream effect of hyperphosphorylated tau is many fold: (1) within the axon it has reduced binding affinity for microtubules and other proteins therefore leading to an abnormal cytoskeleton, and ineffective intracellular molecular transport (Niewidok et al., 2016); (2) within the dendritic spine, it interferes with synaptic function (Frandemiche et al., 2014; Regan & Cho, 2019), and loses the ability to interact with other binding targets for example the plasma membrane or DNA (Ekinci & Shea, 2000; Hanger et al., 2009); and (3) within both neurons and glial cells it gains toxic function and the ability to propagate across the brain (Clavaguera et al., 2009; Goedert et al., 2017a; Mandelkow & Mandelkow, 2012). In addition to hyperphosphorylation, abnormal methylation can also contribute to tau pathology (Park et al., 2018; Weber et al., 2018).

Hyperphosphorylated tau is the principal pathology in primary tauopathies, unlike the secondary tauopathy of Alzheimer's disease where tau proteinopathy is secondary to betaamyloid pathology (Selkoe & Hardy, 2016). Primary tauopathies can be mixed in their tau isoforms 3R/4R, predominant 3R, and predominant 4R.

The staging of the disease process in PSP depends on the anatomical areas affected, as well as the specific cell type harbouring hyperphosphorylated tau. Tau neurofibrillary tangles and threads, as well as tufted astrocytes, are seen initially within subcortical nuclei of patients with PSP before spreading cortically. Additionally, coiled bodies within oligodendroglial cells with diffuse cytoplasmic immunoreactivity within neurons, are also observed. With disease progression to fronto-parietal, temporal and occipital cortices, cortical astroglial tau accumulation ensues, followed by the involvement of cortical neuronal and oligodendroglial cells (Kovacs et al., 2020). In CBD, tau aggregates are seen in neurons and glial cells giving the appearance of coiled bodies and astrocytic plaques, with tau threads found within the white and grey matter. PSP and CBD tau filaments are subtly different in their biochemical features and distribution. Neuronal tau pathology is more pronounced in the forebrain in CBD, whilst PSP mainly affects hindbrain structures. Similarly, the degree of white matter involvement is greater in CBD than PSP, whilst subcortical neurofibrillary tangles are more pronounced in PSP (Rösler et al., 2019).

The density of cortical neurofibrillary tangles is strongly correlated with cognitive function, in PSP, CBS and Alzheimer's disease (Murray et al., 2014; Nelson et al., 2012), particularly affecting the executive cognitive domain (Koga et al., 2017). The mechanisms by which tau affects cognition are however multifaceted, and include both direct and indirect mechanisms with synaptic dysfunction as a key pathological consequence (Jadhav et al., 2015; Spires-Jones & Hyman, 2014). Direct pathways of tau-mediated synaptotoxicity include interference with dendritic morphology, synaptic protein expression, and synaptic vesicle numbers. Indirectly, tau adversely affects the functioning of the neuronal support network, including microglia cells and astrocytes, which in turn affect synaptic function (Kovacs et al., 2020; Vogels et al., 2019).

1.1.5.2 Genetic risk factors in PSP and CBS

Genetic risk factors, although not directly linked with cognitive outcomes in primary tauopathies, are linked to key pathogenic mechanisms that correlate with cognition and survival. For example, a recent Genome Wide Association Study (GWAS) in PSP has identified a single nucleotide polymorphism at loci rs2242367 associated with increased expression of pathogenic LRRK2 mutations, and decreased survival (Jabbari et al., 2021). Pathogenic mutations in LRRK2 lead to phosphorylation of a subset of Rab proteins (involved in synaptic vesicle trafficking) (Alessi & Sammler, 2018), therefore disrupting synaptic neurotransmitter release and proteostasis. Additionally, pathogenic LRRK2 interferes with actin and mitochondrial dynamics and with tau aggregate clearance, via the proteosome system. Consequently, although there is no direct link between LRRK2 risk alleles and cognition, the pathogenic mechanisms arising from mutations in this gene, synaptic transmission and tau accumulation and spread (Guerreiro et al., 2016; Islam et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2010), do cause cognitive dysfunction both in animal models, and human studies. An earlier GWAS identified genetic polymorphisms in the tripartite motifcontaining protein 11 (TRIM11) associated with variations in PSP phenotype (PSP-Richardson's syndrome versus non-Richardson's syndrome including those patients with predominant cognitive features - PSP-frontal, PSP-CBS, and PSP-language (Höglinger et al., 2017; Jabbari et al., 2018). TRIM11 is a component of the ubiquitin proteosome system and therefore central to the clearance of misfolded proteins (L. Chen et al., 2017); mutations may therefore interfere with the clearance of pathogenic tau species in primary tauopathies, consequently affecting cognitive symptoms.

1.1.5.3 Neuroinflammation

Glial cells are the immune cells of the central nervous system and are divided into microglia (macrophage cells, acting as the immune cells of the brain), and macroglia (oligodendrocytes, astrocytes, and ependymal cells). There is growing evidence for their role in PSP/CBD pathogenesis. Under normal physiological conditions, neuroinflammation within the central nervous system acts as a protective mechanism to maintain homeostatis; it is a controlled mechanism triggered by environmental factors, infection, toxic aggregates, and neuronal damage. Furthermore, a key role for glia cells, particularly astrocytes, in neural transmission has long been identified, such that many propose synaptic transmission to be dependent not only on the pre- and postsynaptic compartment but also the astrocytes. In this role, they are able to release neurotransmitters in response to neural activity, and therefore modulate synaptic function (Reid et al., 2020). PSP/CBD tau aggregates within astroglial cells, and in the extracellular space, disturb normal neuronal homeostasis, and co-localise with markers of inflammation at post mortem (Kovacs, 2020) and in vivo (Gerhard et al., 2006; Gerhard et al., 2004; Malpetti et al., 2020b). The mechanism by which inflammation causes functional impairment is again multifactorial with synaptic dysfunction as a key mechanistic player (reviewed in Vogels et al. (2019)).

1.1.5.4 Synaptic loss in primary tauopathies

Abnormal functioning of synapses and reductions of up to 50-60% in synaptic numbers have been observed in animal models of tauopathy (e.g. rTg4510) (Kaniyappan et al., 2017; Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015), in human post mortem brains (Bigio et al., 2001; Lipton et al., 2001), and proposed from measures of indirect effects of synaptic density and function via fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸F) positron emission tomography, FDG-PET (Beyer et al., 2018), in both PSP and CBD. Loss of synaptic function and number is linked to the direct and indirect consequence of toxic tau oligomers and aggregates, as well as neuroinflammation (Jadhav et al., 2015; Spires-Jones & Hyman, 2014; Vogels et al., 2019). The downstream effect is that of interference with vesicular trafficking, disturbances in neurotransmitter release and the balanced electrochemical activities of a neuron, even before neuronal death occurs. This consequential effect is seen in both the presynaptic, and postsynaptic compartments. In animal models of tauopathy, and in post mortem studies, tau aggregates, as well as in the extracellular compartment), subsequently interfering with synaptic transmission both

presynaptically and postsynaptically (Feany & Dickson, 1995; Herms & Dorostkar, 2016; Hoffmann et al., 2014; Hoover et al., 2010). The consequence of this, is disturbances in functional connectivity, and structural integrity. The effect of synaptic dysfunction and loss on cognitive function, has been investigated in animal models of tauopathy that mimic primary tauopathies (Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015), in post mortem brains of patients with the secondary tauopathy of Alzheimer's disease (Terry et al., 1991), and more recently directly using a novel PET radioligand [¹¹C]UCB-J (Finnema et al., 2016). Using the latter PET radiotracer has enabled the *in vivo* assessment of synaptic loss in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease (M. K. Chen et al., 2018; Mecca et al., 2020), and Parkinson's disease and Lewy Body Dementia (Andersen et al., 2021; Matuskey et al., 2020; Nicastro et al., 2020), with significant correlations with the severity of cognitive symptoms. However, the direct *in vivo* evaluation of synaptic density and its relationship with cognition, in primary tauopathies, is yet to be determined.

1.1.5.5 Neurotransmitter deficits, and disturbed cortical physiology

A consequence of tau and inflammation mediated synaptic dysfunction, is disturbance in neurotransmitter release and therefore abnormal cortical physiology, in turn affecting cognition. Many key neurotransmitters for normal cognition are reduced in PSP, and CBS, albeit to a variable extent in each disease. These include noradrenaline, dopamine, γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), glutamate, serotonin and acetylcholine (Holland et al., 2021; Murley & Rowe, 2018). Cortical physiology, as measured with magnetoencephalography is disturbed in PSP (Adams et al., 2021; Hughes et al., 2013; Sami et al., 2018). Impairment in baseline GABA levels in PSP has been identified as a key contributor to abnormal cortical physiology (Adams et al., 2021), and correlates with frontal executive dysfunction both directly, and indirectly (through interaction with glutamate) (Bastos et al., 2012; Murley et al., 2020b).

1.1.5.6 Structural and functional connectivity

The downstream effect of tau accumulation, inflammation, synaptic loss and abnormal cortical circuitry is neuronal loss and changes in structural and functional connectivity. Structural connectivity can be assessed using MRI. On volumetric MRI sequences, grey matter atrophy of the basal ganglia, midbrain, thalamus, and the cerebellum are common findings in PSP (J. L. Whitwell et al., 2017a). MRI assessment of midbrain atrophy is

particularly used in clinical practice, with atrophy here giving rise to the so called "hummingbird", "Mickey Mouse" and "morning glory" signs representing dorsal midbrain atrophy, rectangular midbrain peduncles, and the concavity of the midbrain tegmentum, respectively (Massey et al., 2012; C. Mueller et al., 2018). In PSP, frontal atrophy can affect the motor, premotor, orbitofrontal and medial frontal cortices. The degree to which this occurs depends on the dominant clinical phenotype – for example in patients with a more cortical presentation of PSP, as per the 2017 MDS criteria, including PSP-frontal, PSP-speech/language, or PSP-CBS overlap, frontal atrophy is more evident but it is present to some extent in most phenotypes during the course of the disease (Jabbari et al., 2019).

Frontal atrophy is also present in CBS, more prominent in the posterior frontal lobes (supplementary motor cortex, dorsal premotor, prefrontal cortex and anterior central gyrus). Atrophy in the anterior parietal lobes, central structures such as the cerebellum, caudate and thalamus are also seen, but may be initially asymmetric underlying the asymmetric clinical signs in CBS (Constantinides et al., 2019). The underlying pathology of CBS determines the distribution of atrophy, with those due to CBD and PSP pathology mimicking PSP patterns of atrophy. Frontal cortical atrophy in PSP is directly linked to cognitive function (Cordato et al., 2005; Cordato et al., 2002), however atrophy is rather a late phenomenon in the pathogenesis of PSP/CBS, and in neurodegeneration at large, as depicted schematically in Figure 1-3 (Sperling et al., 2011), and frontal executive dysfunction is present even when atrophy is minimal or absent.

A complementary way of assessing structural integrity is through Diffusion Tensor Imaging (DTI). In PSP, changes to white matter tracts seen on DTI, including the superior cerebellar peduncle, commissural and association fibres (superior longitudinal fasciculus, superior fronto-occipital fasciculus, cortico-cortical association fibres), and corticostriatal descending fibres are widely reported (Agosta et al., 2012; Crespi et al., 2020; Padovani et al., 2006; Jennifer L. Whitwell et al., 2011; Jennifer L Whitwell et al., 2021). In CBS, abnormal diffusion in anterior and posterior central gyri, middle frontal gyrus bilaterally, and superior and inferior frontal gyrus contralateral to the most clinically affected side have been reported (Boelmans et al., 2009; Bozzali et al., 2008; Jennifer L Whitwell et al., 2014). Reduced diffusion in the body of the corpus callosum, middle cingulum bundle, and the prefrontal cortices, and fronto-occipital fasciculus are common in both CBS and PSP (Jennifer L Whitwell et al., 2014). Abnormal diffusion is correlated with decline in

cognitive function, and clinical symptoms over time. For example, in PSP changes in the superior cerebellar peduncle integrity are correlated with rate of decline in the PSP rating scale (ocular sub-score), whereas decline in global cognition is correlated with changes in the post-central region and the mid-posterior cingulum. In CBS, rates of decline in the PSP rating scale (limb sub-score) are correlated with abnormal diffusion in the post-central white matter regions (Y. Zhang et al., 2016).

Functional connectivity in PSP and CBS is abnormal and can be measured using task-free functional MRI. Evidence thus far suggests increased within network connectivity, for example within the default mode network, cerebellum (Bharti et al., 2017), or within cortical areas (Cope et al., 2018). Connectivity between networks is however reduced, for example between the lateral visual and auditory resting state networks, and cortical-subcortical areas (Ballarini et al., 2020; Bharti et al., 2017; Cope et al., 2018; Gardner et al., 2013). This pattern of change in connectivity suggests a functional reorganisation in which local networks are strengthened, and long-distance connections are weakened, in response to disease. Changes in functional connectivity within the cerebellar resting state networks are correlated with measures of global cognition (Bharti et al., 2017).



Figure 1-3. Theoretical model of dynamic changes to tauopathy related biomarkers in relation to clinical symptom manifestation.

This model emphasises the preclinical phase of tauopathies (but is applicable to other neurodegenerative disorders). Here synaptic dysfunction, shown in orange (indicated by metabolic changes measured by fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography, FDG-PET, UCB-J PET or functional MRI) occurs before macro-structural change (volumetric MRI). Synaptic dysfunction may be detectable before detectable tau accumulation. Biomarkers change from normal to maximally abnormal (y-axis) as a function of disease stage (x-axis) – figure reproduced from Sperling et al 2011 with permission from Wiley.

1.2 CONCLUSION

In this chapter, I have provided an overview of the clinical syndromes associated with the primary tauopathies of PSP and CBD, and highlighted the importance of synaptic pathology as a contributor to functional changes (this topic will be covered in greater detail in Chapter 3). I therefore propose a critical role of synaptic density in cognition, and investigate this proposal in primary tauopathies, in this thesis. Throughout this thesis, I consider PSP and CBD as disease models of neurodegeneration given their high clinicopathological correlation with 4-repeat tauopathy at post mortem (where Alzheimer's pathology in the case of CBS has been eliminated, and referred to as CBD). In my experimental chapters I consider PSP and CBD together given the clinicopathological overlap but will highlight differences where relevant.

1.3 AIMS AND STRUCTURE OF THIS THESIS

This thesis aims to test the hypothesis that synaptic pathology plays a key role in primary tauopathies of PSP and CBD. In the experimental chapters, I use the novel positron emission tomography (PET) radioligand [¹¹C]UCB-J as a measure of *in vivo* synaptic density, and review the evidence for the use of this ligand in the introduction to chapter 3. In chapter 2, I summarise the clinical cohort, the research protocol, and the analysis techniques forming the basis of this thesis.

In chapter 3, I test the hypothesis that synapses are lost *in vivo* in PSP and CBD compared to healthy controls. To do this, I use [¹¹C]UCB-J PET as a measure of synaptic density, 3T MRI for structural brain volume analysis and, a neuropsychological battery for the assessment of cognition and disease severity. I predict a synaptic loss of 20-30% *in vivo*, considering there is up to 60% loss at post mortem. I further predict that this loss is beyond the degree of brain atrophy, and that it correlates with functional outcomes. Subsequently in chapter 4, I test whether *in vivo* changes in presynaptic density correlates with changes within the postsynaptic compartments. I test the degree of presynaptic loss with [¹¹C]UCB-J PET and changes within the postsynaptic compartment the postsynaptic density. I predict that presynaptic density. I predict that presynaptic loss as measured with [¹¹C]UCB-J PET, is positively correlated with changes in postsynaptic dendritic complexity.

To understand the contribution of tau pathology in PSP and CBD, in chapter 5, I test the hypothesis that synaptic density correlates with molecular pathology (using [¹⁸F]AV-1451 PET). I predict that the relationship between the two processes will be complex and moderated by disease severity. I conclude this thesis by discussing the evidence for a critical role of synapses in neurodegeneration, and how this allows an opportunity for the development of future therapeutic targets.

2 | General Methods

2 General Methods

Summary

In this chapter I outline the general methods which underpin each experimental chapter in my thesis, in particular the selection and recruitment of participants, the neuropsychological assessment and neuroimaging aspects of the protocol, and the analysis techniques used (with more detail included in respective chapters). This study of synaptic pathology in primary tauopathies is observational in nature and is conducted within the overarching Synaptic Evaluation in Neurodegeneration Research (SENDeR), and Tau Evaluation in Neurodegeneration Research (TENDeR) protocols which form two major research themes of the Cambridge Centre for Parkinson-Plus.

2.1 Recruitment

2.1.1 PARTICIPANTS

Patients with Progressive Supranuclear Palsy – Richardson's Syndrome (PSP-RS) (Höglinger et al., 2017), and possible or probable Corticobasal Syndrome (CBS) (Armstrong et al., 2013), were recruited into the study, as well as suitably matched healthy control participants defined by a Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) score greater than 26, and absence of regular memory complaints or signs/symptoms of dementia or unstable/ significant medical illness.

Patient participants were identified from clinics for cognitive and movement disorders within Cambridge University Hospitals and from neurology, and related services within other Trusts within the region including those in Cambridgeshire, Lincolnshire, Bedfordshire, Norfolk, Suffolk, Hertfordshire and Essex, and outside the region including London and Nottingham. Patient and control participants were also recruited from the National Institute for Health Research 'Join Dementia Research' (JDR) programme. JDR is an on-line self-registration service that enables volunteers with memory problems or dementia, carers of those with memory problems or dementia, and healthy volunteers to register their interest in taking part in research.

Potential participants so identified who expressed a willingness to take part in research were sent a copy of the study information sheet, together with the standard PET and MRI safety questionnaires. After a period to consider these materials (minimum 48h) they were contacted to inquire whether they were willing to take part, and to provide further information or allow further time for consideration as appropriate, as well as ensuring that they are likely to be suitable to take part in the study.

2.1.2 INCLUSION CRITERIA

Participants of both sexes, and above the age of 50 were included in the study and had sufficient proficiency in English to allow standardised cognitive testing. All patient participants had a reliable informant, who was able to complete questionnaires for informant-rated scales and provide background history. For patient participants, only those with mild to moderate dementia were included with MMSE \geq 12, since subjects scoring lower than this were highly unlikely to be able to comply with study procedures.

2.1.3 EXCLUSION CRITERIA

Potential participants with concurrent major psychiatric illness (e.g. major depression), severe physical illness or co-morbidity that would limit ability to fully participate in the study were excluded, as well as those with contraindications to MRI safety (pacemaker, certain protheses, or claustrophobia). Potential participants were also excluded if they had atypical or focal parenchymal appearances on previous MRI which were not in keeping with their diagnosis, or which would interfere with neuroimaging processing (for example, excess white matter changes, or large areas of previous stroke). Potential participants taking concurrent medications that might have affected study assessments were also excluded - for example, the anti-epileptic medication levetiracetam (Lynch et al., 2004), which binds to the molecular target of the synaptic PET radioligand used in this study.

Eligible participants suitable to take part, provided written informed consent in accordance with the Deceleration of Helsinki, with patients being supported by their relative, spouse, close friends, or advocate when necessary.

2.2 ETHICAL & RADIATION APPROVALS

All PET radioligands were subject to prior approval from the Administration of Radioactive Substances Advisory Committee (ARSAC). The study protocol was approved by the Research Ethical Committee (18/EE/0059). All participants completed an approved MRI safety questionnaire to establish safety for scanning. PET scanning was undertaken within the safety procedures operating within the Wolfson Brain Imaging Centre (WBIC).

2.3 OVERVIEW OF STUDY PROTOCOL

Upon the provision of written consent, participants underwent a clinical and neuropsychological assessment as well as neuroimaging; the study procedure is set out in Figure 2-1. Most participants consented to having blood samples taken to measure a number of neurodegenerative biomarkers. A percentage of patient participants will be followed-up longitudinally, however this phase of the study as well as biomarker analysis lie outside the scope of my PhD.

2.3.1 NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL AND CLINICAL ASSESSMENT

All participants underwent an initial clinical assessment, including the collection of basic clinical and demographic variables (e.g. symptoms pertaining to the neurodegenerative diagnosis, previous medical history, smoking/alcohol and family history). Participants completed a neuropsychological assessment using a test battery tailored according to the condition under study, which included measures of: pre-morbid ability, current activities of daily living, motor function and coordination, anxiety, depression and behavioural changes, visuospatial perception, working memory and attention, episodic memory, semantic memory, logic and reasoning, and verbal fluency. For the purposes of my thesis, the neuropsychological assessments used were the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised (ACE-R) (Mioshi et al., 2006), Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Arevalo-Rodriguez et al., 2015), Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (Nasreddine et al., 2005), Ineco (frontal lobe assessment tool) (Torralva et al., 2009), and the Schwab and England Activities of Daily Living (SEADL) (Schwab & England, 1969). Patients' relatives also provided their report of the patient's functional abilities through completion of the Cambridge Behavioural Inventory (CBI) questionnaire (Wear et al., 2008) (Table 2-1). Disease severity was assessed using the clinician-rated PSP rating scale (Golbe & Ohman-Strickland, 2007), and Cortico Basal ganglia Functional Scale (CBFS) (Lang et al., 2020), where both scales are highly correlated and appropriate for use in both cohorts (Lang et al., 2020).



Figure 2-1. Flowchart illustrating the participants' journey through the study.
2 | General Methods

| Assessment | Format | Purpose |
|---|---|---|
| Clinical | | |
| Progressive Supranuclear Palsy Rating Scale (PSPRS) | Researcher administered structured assessment | Disease severity scale |
| Cortico Basal ganglia Functional Scale (CBFS) | Researcher administered structured assessment | Disease severity scale |
| Clinical Dementia Rating Scale (CDR) | Researcher rated | Overall impression of cognition |
| Neuropsychological | | |
| Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised (ACE-R) | Researcher administered structured assessment | Multi-domain cognitive screening tool |
| Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) | Researcher administered structured assessment | Multi-domain cognitive screening tool |
| Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) | Researcher administered structured assessment | Multi-domain cognitive screening tool |
| INECO Frontal Screening Tool | Researcher administered structured assessment | Frontal lobe assessment tool |
| Schwab and England Activities of Daily Living (SEADL) | Scale of 0-100% | Clinician's impression of participant's functional independence |
| Informant Questionnaires | | · · |
| Cambridge Behavioural Inventory (CBI) | Carer-reported questionnaire | Assessment of several behavioural abnormalities in everyday life including impulsivity and apathy |

Table 2-1. Clinical and neuropsychological assessment battery, and questionnaires

2.3.2 NEUROIMAGING

Participants underwent MRI scanning at baseline, as well as two PET scans ([¹¹C]UCB-J, and [¹⁸F]-AV1451). Those participants with Corticobasal Syndrome (CBS), had an additional PET scan with [¹¹C]PiB to determine their amyloid status – those with a negative amyloid status (henceforth referred to as CBD) were carried forward for subsequent analysis in this thesis. All scanning sessions were carried out at the Wolfson Brain Imaging Centre (WBIC).

2.3.2.1 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

MRI scanning was performed on two separate occasions. One was acquired during PET data acquisition including a T1-weighted sequence specifically used for the purpose of corregistration with PET images. Here, T1-weighted images were acquired on a 3 Tesla GE

SIGNA PET/MR with the following parameters: repetition time (TR) = 3.6 msec, echo time (TE) = 9.2 msec, 192 sagittal slices, in plane resolution 0.55×0.55 mm, interpolated to 1.0×1.0 mm; slice thickness = 1.0 mm). T1 images acquired here allowed tissue classification into grey and white matter and CSF and were rigidly registered to PET images; using a version of the Hammersmith atlas (http://brain-development.org) with modified posterior fossa regions, combined regions of interest (ROIs; including aggregated regions for frontal, parietal, occipital, and temporal lobes, cingulate, and cerebellum) were spatially normalized to the T1-weighted MRI of each participant using Advanced Normalization Tools (ANTs) software (Avants et al., 2008). Further details of how PET images were subsequently processed are outlined in section 2.3.2.2.

A second MRI scan was acquired on a 3 Tesla Siemens MAGNETOM Prisma scanner, either on the same day as the PET scan or on a different day depending on patient tolerability. Sequences are outlined in Table 2-2 and were specifically used for the analysis in chapter 4 (where postsynaptic dendritic complexity was estimated using the Neurite Orientation Dispersion sequence). Other sequences were also acquired as part of this scan including diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), arterial spin labelling (ASL), resting-state functional MRI, T2-weighted sequences, as well as fluid attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR), but were not used for the analyses in this thesis.

| Modality | Key parameters |
|---|--|
| T1 - MPRAGE | Sagittal slices, TE=2.93 msec, TR=2s, flip angle 8°, slice thickness = 1.1 mm, resolution 1.1 mm ³ isotropic, 208 slices. |
| Neurite Orientation Dispersion Imaging - NODDI | TE = 75.6 msec, TR = 2.4s, slice thickness = 1.75mm, 104 slices, bvals = 300, 1000, 2000. |

 Table 2-2. Baseline High Resolution MRI protocol.

Siemens MAGNETOM Prisma scanner. TR = repetition time; TE= echo time.

2.3.2.2 Positron Emission Tomography imaging

All participants underwent synaptic imaging with [¹¹C]UCB-J PET (radiation exposure = 1.7 mSv), tau imaging with [¹⁸F]AV-1451 PET (radiation exposure = 6.3mSv), with the CBS cohort also completing amyloid imaging with [¹¹C]PiB PET (radiation exposure = 2.9 mSv). All radioligands were prepared at the WBIC, with high radiochemical purity (>95%), and specific activity of >150 MBq, at the end of synthesis.

[¹¹C]UCB-J PET

Dynamic PET data acquisition was performed on a GE SIGNA PET/MR for 90 minutes starting immediately after [¹¹C]UCB-J injection with attenuation correction including the use of a multi-subject atlas. Each PET emission image series was aligned using SPM12 (www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software/spm12/) then rigidly registered to the T1-weighted MRI acquired during PET data acquisition. Regional time-activity curves were extracted following the application of geometric transfer matrix (GTM) partial volume correction (PVC, (Rousset et al., 1998)) to each of the dynamic PET images. Regions of interest (ROIs) were multiplied by a binary grey matter mask (>50% on the SPM12 grey matter probability map smoothed to PET spatial resolution), with the exception of the pallidum, substantia nigra, pons and medulla because masking eliminated the ROI for some or all of the subjects. Multiple background grey matter, white matter and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) regions were also defined to provide whole brain coverage for GTM PVC. The mean grey matter/(grey matter + white matter) fraction in the masked ROIs was 0.97 ± 0.03 , $0.96 \pm$ 0.03 and 0.96 \pm 0.03 for the control, CBD and PSP groups, respectively, illustrating the predominance of grey matter in the masked ROIs. To assess the impact of PVC, timeactivity curves were also extracted from the same ROIs without the application of GTM PVC.

To quantify synaptic density, [¹¹C]UCB-J non-displaceable binding potential (BP_{ND}) was determined, both regionally and at the voxel level, using a basis function implementation of the simplified reference tissue model (Wu & Carson, 2002), with the reference tissue defined in the centrum semiovale (Koole et al., 2019; Rossano et al., 2019). The volume-weighted average of the GTM PVC BP_{ND} values in the masked ROIs was used as a global BP_{ND} metric.

[¹⁸F]AV-1451 PET

As for [¹¹C]UCB-J PET dynamic PET data acquisition here was also performed on a GE SIGNA PET/MR for 90 minutes starting immediately after [¹⁸F]AV-1451 injection with attenuation correction including the use of a multi-subject atlas – preprocessing followed the steps outlined in Passamonti et al. (2017). Each PET emission image series was aligned using SPM12 to correct for patient motion during data acquisition

2 | General Methods

(www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software/spm8). The mean aligned PET images were rigidly registered to the T1-weighted images acquired during PET data acquisition. This allowed extraction of values from both the Hammers atlas regions of interest (ROIs) and those in a reference tissue defined in the inferior cerebellar grey matter (GM) using a 90% GM threshold on the GM probability map produced by SPM8 smoothed to PET resolution. Regional time-activity curves were extracted following the application of geometric transfer matrix (GTM) partial volume correction (PVC, (Rousset et al., 1998)) to each of the dynamic PET images. Regions of interest (ROIs) were multiplied by a binary grey matter mask (>50% on the SPM12 grey matter probability map smoothed to PET spatial resolution), with the exception of the pallidum, substantia nigra, pons and medulla because masking eliminated the ROI for some or all of the subjects. Multiple background grev matter, white matter and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) regions were also defined to provide whole brain coverage for GTM PVC. [¹⁸F]AV-1451 non-displaceable binding potential (BP_{ND}) was determined for each ROI using a basis function implementation of the simplified reference tissue model (Gunn et al., 1997). To assess the impact of PVC, timeactivity curves were also extracted from the same ROIs without the application of GTM PVC.

[¹¹C]PiB PET

Amyloid PET imaging was carried out on a GE SIGNA PET/MR 50-70 minutes post injection of Pittsburgh Compound B ([¹¹C]PiB), in the CBS cohort only. Cortical standardised uptake value ratio (SUVR), was determined using the Centiloid Project methodology, with the whole cerebellum as the reference tissue (Klunk et al., 2015). Only those CBS participants with a negative amyloid status as characterised by a cortical [¹¹C]PiB SUVR less than 1.21 (obtained by converting the Centiloid cut-off of 19 to SUVR using the Centiloid-to-SUVR transformation) (Jack et al., 2017a), were included in the subsequent analyses, with the aim of excluding patients with CBS due to Alzheimer's disease. This amyloid-negative group is interpreted as having CBD, although I acknowledge that other pathologies are possible.

The total numbers of participants completing each arm of the study are outlined in Table 2-3 which reflects total recruitment numbers at the time of writing this thesis; the number

of participants forming the basis of the analysis in each chapter varies depending on the availability of data for each individual: for example, in chapter 4 not all participants with a NODDI sequence on the PRISMA scanner, had completed their [¹¹C]UCB-J scan. Likewise in chapter 5, not all patients with an [¹⁸F]AV-1451 PET had completed their [¹¹C]UCB-J scan at the time of thesis write-up. The sample size for each analysis is therefore clarified in each respective chapter.

| | Neuropsychological assessment | Prisma MRI | [¹⁸ F]AV-1451 | [¹¹ C]UCB-J |
|------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------|---------------------------|-------------------------|
| Control | 27 | 27 | 22 | 20 |
| PSP | 25 | 25 | 25 | 23 |
| CBS | | | | |
| -All | 25 | 25 | 24 | 22 |
| -Amyloid negative | 14 | 14 | 14 | 12 |
| on [¹¹ C]PiB PET | | | | |

Table 2-3. Total number of participants completing each arm of the study.

PSP=Progressive Supranuclear Palsy - Richardson's Syndrome; CBS = Corticobasal Syndrome.

2.4 ANALYSIS

2.4.1 POWER CALCULATION

Given the novelty of this study, power could not be calculated on available pilot data. I therefore based the power calculations on our recent experience and data of [¹⁸F]AV-1451 PET imaging in "NeuroInflaMation Research Of Dementia (NIMROD)" study in PSP and frontotemporal lobe dementia (Bevan-Jones et al., 2020; Bevan-Jones et al., 2018a; Bevan-Jones et al., 2018b; Passamonti et al., 2017), and extensive studies of other PET ligands in dementia groups. A sample size of 24 per group provides >85% power to detect medium to large effects sizes, d=0.8, for α <0.05, and >85% power to detect correlations of moderate strength $|\rho|$ >0.5. Recruiting 30 participants per group accommodates 10% technical and synthesis failure and 10% participant attrition from withdrawal or co-morbidity. Power calculations used the GPower software.

2.4.2 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Analysis primarily adopts regions of interest approach using parametric statistics from general linear models of group differences (patient versus control), and correlations within the patient group against clinical severity. Where multimodal imaging is involved, linear mixed effect models have been utilised. Where data distributions indicated the need for

2 | General Methods

non-parametric tests, non-parametric analogues, and permutations tests have been used. All statistical analysis were performed in the statistical package R (version 3.6.2). Specific details are provided in each respective experimental chapter.

3 SYNAPTIC LOSS IN PRIMARY TAUOPATHIES REVEALED BY [¹¹C]UCB-J POSITRON EMISSION TOMOGRAPHY

A manuscript related to this chapter has been published as:

Holland N, Jones PS, Savulich G, et al. Synaptic loss in the primary tauopathies, revealed by [¹¹C]UCB-J Positron Emission Tomography. *Mov Disord*. 2020;35(10):1834-1842. doi:10.1002/mds.28188.

The original data, on which the analyses in this chapter are based, were collected by myself, Dr George Savulich and Mrs Julie Wiggins. Patients were scanned and assessed as part of the Synaptic Evaluation in NeuroDegeneration Research (SENDeR) study which was conceived by Professor James Rowe and Professor John O'Brien. The PET data were pre-processed by Dr Tim Fryer and Dr Young Hong. I designed the analysis strategy, performed the analyses, constructed the figures, and wrote the text.

Summary

Synaptic loss is a prominent and early feature of many neurodegenerative diseases. In this chapter I test the hypothesis that synaptic density is reduced in the primary tauopathies of progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP-Richardson's syndrome) and amyloid-negative corticobasal syndrome (CBS). Thirty eight participants (9 CBD, 14 PSP, and 15 age-/sex-/education-matched controls) underwent positron emission tomography (PET) with the radioligand [¹¹C]UCB-J, which binds to synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2A (SV2A), a marker of synaptic density. Participants also had 3T magnetic resonance imaging and clinical and neuropsychological assessment. All nine CBD patients had negative amyloid biomarkers determined by [¹¹C]PiB PET. Patients with PSP-Richardson's syndrome and CBD were impaired in executive, memory and visuospatial tasks. [¹¹C]UCB-J binding was reduced across frontal, temporal, parietal, and occipital lobes, cingulate, hippocampus, insula, amygdala and subcortical structures in both PSP and CBD patients compared to controls (p<0.01), with median reductions of up to 50%, consistent with post mortem data. Reductions of 20-30% were widespread even in the areas of the brain with minimal atrophy. There was a negative correlation between global [¹¹C]UCB-J binding and the PSP and CBD rating scales (R= -0.61 p<0.002, R= -0.72 p<0.001, respectively), and a positive correlation with the revised Addenbrookes Cognitive Examination (R=0.52, p=0.01). I confirm severe synaptic loss in PSP and CBD in proportion to disease severity, providing critical insight into the pathophysiology of primary degenerative tauopathies.

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Both PSP and CBD are associated with cortical and subcortical atrophy on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Jabbari et al., 2019) and changes in neurophysiology and connectivity measured by magnetoencephalography (Sami et al., 2018) and functional MRI (reviewed in Filippi et al. (2019)), respectively. However, functional changes are also seen in the areas of the brain that are minimally atrophic, as reviewed in chapter 1.1.6. In this chapter I test the hypothesis that the neurophysiological and functional impairments in PSP and CBD are at least in part a consequence of synaptic loss. For example, at post mortem there is approximately 50% loss of cortical synapses in PSP and CBD (Bigio et al., 2001; Lipton et al., 2001), and *in vivo* there is limited evidence of a ~20% loss of postsynaptic GABA_A receptors as shown with $[^{11}C]$ flumazenil positron emission tomography (PET) (J. D. Andersson et al., 2019; Foster et al., 2000). Indeed abnormal physiology in pathways involved in presynaptic function have been identified from transcriptomic studies in patients with mutations in the microtubule-associated protein tau (MAPT) gene (Jiang et al., 2018). Transgenic models of tauopathies (e.g. rTg4510) confirm a synaptotoxic effect of oligomeric tau, before cell death (Kaniyappan et al., 2017; Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015). Moreover, in other neurodegenerative dementias, such as Alzheimer's disease, synaptic loss correlates better with cognitive dysfunction than atrophy (Terry et al., 1991). To date however, there have been no direct *in vivo* assessment of synaptic density in PSP and CBD.

Before outlining the methodology, I will review the normal physiological role of the synapse, the evidence suggesting a central role in cognition and the techniques used for measuring synapses *in vivo*.

3.1.1 THE SYNAPSE

3.1.1.1 The physiological role, and the structure of the synapse

Synapses are fundamental components of neurons and allow an organised flux of information in the brain (Alberts et al., 1997). The emergence, diversification, and specialisation of synapses played a critical role in the evolution of higher brain functions and cognition in vertebrates (reviewed in Ryan and Grant (2009)). There are 100 trillion interconnecting synapses (Azevedo et al., 2009), each comprising of the pre- and postsynaptic membranes (separated by ~20 nm) and the synaptic cleft (Figure 3-1) (Stewart

et al., 2014). The efficiency of synaptic transmission and therefore intact cognition is dependent on the orchestrated activity and intact components of the pre- and postsynaptic membranes. Key to the process of neurotransmission is the release of neurotransmitter molecules from synaptic vesicles (residing in the presynaptic membrane) in response to an action potential induced rise in intracellular calcium. The presynaptic compartment contains the key molecules for formation, storage and release of neurotransmittercontaining vesicles (Südhof, 2013). Once released into the synaptic cleft, neurotransmitters bind to the postsynaptic membrane (also known as dendritic spines) and transmit signals through activating either the excitatory (glutamatergic transmission) or inhibitory pathways (GABAergic transmission) (Chang-Lu Tao et al., 2018; Hering & Sheng, 2001) . Fast, point-to-point synaptic transmission is enabled by the temporal and spatial restriction of neurotransmitter release and reception, and by the precise alignment of pre- and postsynaptic structures at the synaptic junction. The presynaptic membrane almost always belongs to a neuron, however although the postsynaptic membrane is mostly neuronal, it can also be part of non-neuronal oligodendrocyte precursor cells suggesting a key role for neuroinflammatory cells in regulating synaptic transmission (Südhof, 2004).

Synapses can be excitatory or inhibitory in nature, with slightly different structural morphology of the postsynaptic compartment. Excitatory synapses have an asymmetrical synaptic junction with a prominent postsynaptic density, and synaptic vesicles of spheroid character, whereas inhibitory synapses are typically GABA-ergic, have a synaptic junction that is symmetrical in form, do not contain a prominent postsynaptic density, and possess ellipsoidal synaptic vesicles (Stewart et al., 2014).

In humans, most synapses are formed during pre- and postnatal development, with approximately 50% pruned in the first 2 decades of life, with prefrontal cortical synaptic pruning continuing well into the 3rd decade (Stewart et al., 2014). Beyond this, synaptic numbers remain stable with a balance between some pruning and new synaptic formation, with a mild decline beyond the age of 80 (Peter R., 1979).



Figure 3-1. Schematic diagram of the components of a central synapse.

Schematic drawing of a synaptic junction with a cluster of synaptic vesicles (SV) on the presynaptic side and neurotransmitter receptors on the postsynaptic side. Pre- and postsynaptic transport vesicles for receptors, active zone components, and trans-synaptic cell-adhesion molecules (CAMs) are indicated, as well as presynaptic endosomes and postsynaptic organelles (Golgi apparatus, endosomes, and endoplasmic reticulum [ER]). In the brain, the synaptic cleft is usually wider than the surrounding interstitial space. All synapses contain similar presynaptic components independent of type, although the specific isoforms of various proteins (synaptotagmins, neurotransmitter transporters, Ca²⁺ channels, etc.) vary. In contrast, postsynaptic components of excitatory and inhibitory synapses exhibit no homology, neither at the level of receptors nor in the postsynaptic scaffolding proteins. Additionally, presynaptic specialisations are formed exclusively by neurons, but postsynaptic specialisations can likely be formed by any cell in the body. Figure reproduced from Sudhof 2018 with permission from Elsevier.

3.1.1.2 Synaptic vesicle and their membrane proteins

Key to synaptic transmission are synaptic vesicles which are packed within the presynaptic terminal of a synapse. There are several hundred to thousands of vesicles, each covered with numerous synaptic vesicle proteins on their membrane, containing neurotransmitters. In response to an action potential and calcium-dependent depolarisation of a presynaptic membrane, synaptic vesicles are primed, ready to fuse with the presynaptic terminal for neurotransmitter release. Synaptic vesicle distribution therefore appears to be related to functional activity with redistribution of vesicles in the synaptic bouton toward the synaptic active zone only occurring in response to an action potential. This mechanism underlies the phenomenon of long-term potentiation involves a change in the efficacy of synaptic transmission, through changes in the morphology of synapses – this manifests as structural plasticity secondary to strengthening and growth of existing synapses and/or development of new synapses (Stewart et al., 2014).

Efficient synaptic transmission depends on three sets of synaptic vesicles that have been identified based on location within the presynaptic compartment: those that are primed and ready to be fused with the presynaptic membrane (0.5-5% of all vesicles); the recycling pool (5-20% of all vesicles) which form part of the exocytosis-endocytosis cycle under high frequency physiological conditions, and used repeatedly during sustained activity; the reserve or resting pool (80-90% of all vesicles) which are only used under intense stimulation or when the recycling pool is depleted (Südhof, 2004). The mobilisation, priming, and docking of vesicles at the active zone, and subsequent exo- and endocytosis of synaptic vesicles are dependent on key proteins within the synaptic vesicle membrane as shown in Figure 3-2.



Figure 3-2. Synaptic Vesicle Proteins are key for neurotransmission. Schematic diagram of the structure of presynaptic vesicle proteins; the specific proteins shown here are key in the synaptic vesicle cycle and trafficking. SCAMPS: secretory membrane carrier proteins; VAMPs: vesicleassociated membrane protein. CSP: cysteine string proteins. SVs: synaptic vesicle proteins. Figure reproduced from Südhof 1999, with permission from Nature publishing.

3.1.2 THE ROLE OF SYNAPSES IN COGNITION AND BEHAVIOUR

The concept of synaptic involvement in learning and memory was first postulated by Hebb stating that changes underlying learning and memory occur in three stages, the first including synaptic plasticity (Hebb, 1949):

"When an axon of cell A is near enough to excite a cell B and repeatedly or persistently takes part in firing it, some growth process or metabolic change takes place in one or both cells such that A's efficiency, as one of the cells firing B, is increased."

Since the above postulation, many different methods have been devised to study synapses in the context of memory formation. These include post mortem studies of synaptic vesicle proteins, most commonly synaptophysin, the expression of which is considered a proxy for synaptic density (Hamos et al., 1989; Masliah et al., 1990). Alternative methods include *in*

vitro synaptic assessments in transgenic or knock-out mouse models. For example, knockout mouse models lacking the presynaptic protein synaptotagmin-4 (key for neurotransmitter release), exhibit difficulties with hippocampal-dependent memory, contextual fear conditioning and the social transmission of food preference (Ferguson et al., 2000); synapsin-II knock-out mice show behavioural difficulties such as prepulse inhibition, decreased social behaviour and locomotor hyperactivity (Dyck et al., 2009) - an observation that was later replicated by downregulating the same protein within the medialfrontal cortex (Dyck et al., 2011). One caveat to these experimental models for the study of synaptic function in learning and memory however, is the widespread effect knock-out models have on reducing specific synaptic proteins across whole brain, therefore hindering association with particular behavioural deficits. Additionally, given such knock-out mouse models do not survive to maturity, studying behaviour across the age-span becomes difficult. An alternative approach is therefore to study synaptic protein downregulation in specific parts of the brain by selective blockade - for example by using tetanus toxin. Using this approach, localised reductions in hippocampal synaptobrevin-2 has been associated with deficits in spatial learning and memory recall (Südhof, 2004). Acknowledging the key role of synapses in learning and memory, synaptic dysfunction has become a key focus of research in neurodegenerative diseases with prominent cognitive dysfunction and dementia, where for example in Alzheimer's disease reductions have been reported as a better correlate with functional outcomes than neuronal loss (Scheff et al., 2006; Terry et al., 1991).

3.1.3 MEASURING SYNAPSES IN VIVO

The first method of quantifying synapses in patients with dementia utilised electron microscopy, however this technique is limited by its focus on a very small section of tissue, vulnerability to tissue processing and the need for rapid tissue fixation. Antigen-specific immunochemical detection methods have subsequently been developed. Given that synaptophysin is the most abundant synaptic vesicle protein, synaptophysin immunohistochemistry has been widely used as a marker of synaptic density, where its density as well as that of other synaptic proteins are reduced in PSP and CBD (Bigio et al., 2001; Lipton et al., 2001), as well as in Alzheimer's disease (Sze et al., 1997). Using the latter technique to assess synaptic density in humans is dependent on brain tissue from

autopsy or surgical resection, therefore greatly limiting the use of this approach for early diagnosis and therapeutic monitoring.

In vivo assessment of synaptic density is possible using positron emission tomography (PET). Previously, the most widely used PET radioligand for the study of synaptic function was fluorodeoxyglucose (F18) positron emission tomography (FDG-PET). FDG-PET is a marker of glucose metabolism, and its uptake is therefore highly affected by synaptic density and activity. Using this method glucose hypometabolism is reported in the central region, the frontal and parietal association fibres, the putamen contralateral to the clinically affected side and the thalamus in CBS, and bilateral anterior cingulate and the midbrain in PSP (Amtage et al., 2014; Hellwig et al., 2012; Hellwig et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2012). Glucose hypometabolism is however not only affected by neuronal synapses but also by the surrounding neuroinflammatory cells – synaptic loss can therefore be misrepresented given increased in FDG-PET due to neuroinflammation in PSP and CBS. An alternative in vivo assessment of synaptic density is through the use of synapse-specific PET radioligands, targeting the GABA_A receptors ($[^{11}C]$ flumazenil), dopamine receptors ($[^{18}F]$ dopa and $[^{11}C]$ raclopride), opioid receptors ($[^{11}C]$ diprenorphine), and muscarinic acetvlcholine receptors ([¹¹C]NMPB) (Niccolini & Politis, 2016). Using dopamine and GABA_A specific PET ligands in PSP and CBS, reductions in PET signal in hypometabolic cortical regions, and the basal ganglia, respectively have been observed. However, the interpretation of the signal from such receptor-specific scans is limited to the areas of the brain where these receptors are primarily located.

More recently advances in synaptic imaging has allowed direct visualisation of synapses by targeting the synaptic vesicle 2A (SV2A) protein. SV2A is ubiquitous to all synaptic vesicles within the human brain except for the trigeminal and facial nuclei (Mendoza-Torreblanca et al., 2013). This synaptic vesicle protein is an integral 12-transmembrane domain glycoprotein forming 3 isoforms within the synaptic vesicle glycoprotein family, including SV2A, B, and C, where the latter two isoforms have a more restricted distribution (Bajjalieh et al., 1994; Bajjalieh et al., 1993b). SV2A is present in both excitatory and inhibitory synapses, where it acts as a transporter and a gel matrix for the immobilisation and subsequent liberation of neurotransmitters; given its acidic N terminus, it is also postulated to be involved in calcium-dependent exocytosis (Südhof, 2004). SV2A plays a

key role in the pathogenesis of epilepsy, where knock-out mice manifest with severe seizures, making this protein a focus for anti-epileptic drug targets. One such drug is levetiracetam (Keppra) which directly binds SV2A (Lynch et al., 2004), giving the opportunity to use its chemical structure in the recent development of the synaptic vesicle 2A specific PET radioligand [¹¹C]UCB-J ((*R*)-1-((3-(methyl-¹¹C)pyridin-4-yl)methyl)-4-(3,4,5-trifluorophenyl)pyr-rolidin-2-one) (Finnema et al., 2016).

To date, [¹¹C]UCB-J has been widely used in Alzheimer's research where widespread reductions in SV2A binding have been reported in the medial temporal and neocortical brain regions in early disease, beyond the extent of grey matter volume loss. Furthermore, reductions in hippocampal SV2A binding were correlated with episodic memory loss and the clinical dementia rating scale (M. K. Chen et al., 2018; Mecca et al., 2020).

I therefore use [¹¹C]UCB-J PET to test the hypothesis that PSP and CBS reduce synaptic density, in proportion to disease severity. In this experimental chapter I include patients with the classic phenotype of PSP, PSP-Richardson's syndrome, which has a high clinicopathological correlation (Gazzina et al., 2019). I include patients with Corticobasal Syndrome (CBS) with probable underlying CBD. In order to do this, it is necessary to exclude the substantial minority of CBS caused by Alzheimer's disease pathology (Alexander et al., 2014). I therefore used amyloid imaging to distinguish those with CBS due to CBD, *versus* Alzheimer's disease; I refer to this group as the CBD cohort. I further assess correlations between regional [¹¹C]UCB-J binding potential, a metric of synaptic density, and disease severity, in terms of cognitive decline and global impairment on the PSP and CBD rating scales.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 PARTICIPANTS AND STUDY DESIGN

Fourteen patients with PSP-Richardson's syndrome and fifteen patients with CBS were recruited from a tertiary specialist clinic for PSP/CBS at the Cambridge University Centre for Parkinson-Plus. Fifteen healthy volunteers were recruited from the UK National Institute for Health Research Join Dementia Research (JDR) register. Patients had either probable PSP–Richardson Syndrome (Höglinger et al., 2017), or both probable CBS and probable CBD (Armstrong et al., 2013). Healthy controls and patient volunteers were initially screened by telephone; exclusion criteria were as per Chapter 2 (2.1.3). Eligible participants were invited for a research visit where they underwent clinical and cognitive assessment including measures of disease severity (Table 1); these included a neurological examination by a clinician including the PSP and CBD rating scales, the Schwab and England Activities of Daily Living (SEADL) and Clinical Dementia Rating Scale (CDR). Cognitive testing included the revised Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination (ACE-R), the Mini-mental State Examination (MMSE), and the INECO frontal assessment test. Patients' carers completed the revised Cambridge Behavioural Inventory (CBI).

All participants underwent simultaneous 3T MRI and [¹¹C]UCB-J PET. Patients with CBS also underwent amyloid PET imaging using Pittsburgh Compound B ([¹¹C]PiB) and cortical standardised uptake value ratio (SUVR; 50-70 minutes post injection; whole cerebellum reference tissue) was determined using the Centiloid Project methodology (Klunk et al., 2015). Only those with a negative amyloid status as characterised by a cortical [¹¹C]PiB SUVR less than 1.21 (obtained by converting the Centiloid cut-off of 19 to SUVR using the Centiloid-to-SUVR transformation) (Jack et al., 2017b), are included in the subsequent analysis, with the aim of excluding patients with CBS due to Alzheimer's disease. I interpret this amyloid-negative group as having CBD, although acknowledge that other pathologies are possible.

3.2.2 NEUROIMAGING PRE-PROCESSING

^{[11}C]UCB-J was synthesised at the Radiopharmacy Unit, Wolfson Brain Imaging Centre, Cambridge University, using the methodology previously described (Milicevic Sephton et al., 2020). Dynamic PET data acquisition was performed on a GE SIGNA PET/MR (GE Healthcare, Waukesha, USA) for 90 minutes starting immediately after [¹¹C]UCB-J injection (median injected activity: 351 ± 107 MBq, injected mass $\leq 10 \mu g$), with attenuation correction including the use of a multi-subject atlas method (Burgos et al., 2014) and also improvements to the MRI brain coil component (Manavaki et al., 2019). emission aligned Each image series was using SPM12 (www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software/spm12/) then rigidly registered to a T1-weighted MRI acquired during PET data acquisition (TR = 3.6 msec, TE = 9.2 msec, 192 sagittal slices, in plane resolution 0.55 x 0.55 mm (subsequently interpolated to 1.0 x 1.0 mm); slice thickness 1.0 mm). Using a version of the Hammersmith atlas (http://braindevelopment.org) with modified posterior fossa regions, combined regions of interest (including aggregated regions for frontal, parietal, occipital, and temporal lobes; cingulate; and cerebellum) were spatially normalized to the T1-weighted MRI of each participant using Advanced Normalisation Tools (ANTs) software(Avants et al., 2008). Regional timeactivity curves were extracted following the application of geometric transfer matrix (GTM) partial volume correction (PVC, (Rousset et al., 1998)) to each of the dynamic PET images. Regions of interest (ROIs) were multiplied by a binary grey matter mask (>50% on the SPM12 grey matter probability map smoothed to PET spatial resolution), with the exception of the pallidum, substantia nigra, pons and medulla because masking eliminated the ROI for some or all of the subjects. Multiple background grey matter, white matter and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) regions were also defined to provide whole brain coverage for GTM PVC. The mean grey matter/(grey matter + white matter) fraction in the masked ROIs was 0.97 ± 0.03 , 0.96 ± 0.03 and 0.96 ± 0.03 for the control, CBD and PSP groups, respectively, illustrating the predominance of grey matter in the masked ROIs. To assess the impact of PVC, time-activity curves were also extracted from the same ROIs without the application of GTM PVC.

To quantify SV2A density, $[^{11}C]UCB$ -J non-displaceable binding potential (BP_{ND}) was determined, both regionally and at the voxel level, using a basis function implementation

of the simplified reference tissue model (Wu & Carson, 2002), with the reference tissue defined in the centrum semiovale (Koole et al., 2019; Rossano et al., 2019). The volume-weighted average of the GTM PVC BP_{ND} values in the masked ROIs was used as a global BP_{ND} metric. Group average BP_{ND} images (illustrated in Figure **3-3**) were obtained by spatially normalising each individual T1-weighted MRI (and thereby the co-registered BP_{ND} map) to MNI space, and then to the group template using ANTs.

3.2.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistical analyses used R (version 3.6.2), with analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) to compare regional [11 C]UCB-J BP_{ND} between the three groups (Control, CBD, PSP), with age as a covariate of no interest. Regions of interest were: frontal, temporal, parietal, occipital lobes; cingulate cortex, hippocampus, insula, amygdala, caudate nucleus, nucleus accumbens, putamen, pallidum, thalamus, cerebellum, substantia nigra, midbrain, pons, and medulla.

The relationships between $[^{11}C]UCB$ -J BP_{ND}, disease severity (PSP and CBD Rating Scales) and cognition (revised Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination) were tested through linear models of the patient data, with age as a covariate of no interest.

The primary analyses used BP_{ND} determined following GTM PVC, but all analyses were repeated using BP_{ND} without PVC yielding similar results.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 CLINICAL SUMMARY AND DEMOGRAPHICS

Of the fifteen patients with CBS, six had a cortical [¹¹C]PiB SUVR more than 1.21 and were therefore excluded from further analysis in this chapter. The remaining groups (9 CBD, 14 PSP, 15 controls) were matched in age, sex and education (Table 3-1). We observed typical cognitive profiles, as summarised in Table 1: patients were impaired on memory, verbal fluency, language, and visuospatial domains of the ACE-R, and MMSE. There were high endorsements on the Cambridge Behavioural Inventory, and the Clinical Dementia Rating scale, with impairment of activities of daily living on the Schwab and England scale. Patients were not on any medications that are known to affect [¹¹C]UCB-J

| | Control | CBD | PSP | F (p) |
|---|--------------|---------------|---------------|-----------------|
| M:F | 7:8 | 7:2 | 7:7 | ns ^a |
| Age at [¹¹ C]UCB-J PET in years | 68 (7.45) | 70.56 (8.23) | 72.79 (7.74) | ns |
| Disease duration in years | NA | 3.94 (2.2) | 4.28 (2.57) | ns ^b |
| Education in years | 13.69 (2.66) | 12.78 (3.27) | 12.77 (5.43) | ns |
| ACE-R total (max. 100) | 96.47 (2.88) | 81.56 (10.83) | 80.57 (15.02) | 9.61 (<.0004) |
| Attention_Orientation (max .18) | 17.87 (0.35) | 16.89 (1.05) | 16.43 (2.06) | 4.11 (0.02) |
| Memory (max .26) | 24.53 (1.85) | 20.67 (5.66) | 21.43 (4.27) | 3.50 (0.04) |
| Fluency (max .14) | 12.80 (1.15) | 8.22 (2.86) | 6.43 (3.44) | 22.81 (<.001) |
| Language (max .26) | 25.53 (0.92) | 22.44 (5.34) | 23.43 (5.21) | ns |
| Visuospatial (max .16) | 15.73 (0.59) | 13.33 (2.55) | 12.86 (3.98) | 4.46 (0.02) |
| MMSE (max. 30) | 29.27 (1.33) | 26.44 (3.13) | 27.00 (2.88) | 4.78 (0.01) |
| PSPRS (max. 100) | 0.13 (0.52) | 26.78 (9.61) | 29.21 (10.27) | ns ^b |
| CBDRS (max. 124) | 0.20 (0.77) | 29.12 (13.52) | 36.80 (20.41) | ns ^b |
| INECO (max. 30) | 26.00 (1.85) | 14.6 0(8.47) | 17.70 (4.74) | 17.22 (<.001) |
| CDR sum of boxes (max. 32) | 0.07 (0.26) | 6.78 (4.71) | 7.54 (6.55) | 11.28 (<.001) |
| CBI (max. 180) | 2.47 (4.81) | 27.44 (13.5) | 42.43 (38.13) | 9.97 (<.001) |
| SEADL (max. 1) | 0.99 (0.03) | 0.56 (0.28) | 0.60 (0.22) | 10.54 (<.001) |

binding. Four of our patients (1 PSP, 3 CBD) were on dopaminergic medication, and 9 on amantadine (3 PSP, 6 CBD).

Table 3-1. Demographics and neuropsychological profile for each participant cohort

The results are given as mean (standard deviation). CBD here refers to corticobasal syndrome with a negative amyloid biomarker from [¹¹C]PiB PET, and PSP refers to patients with PSP-Richardson's syndrome. The F-statistic and p-values are derived from ANOVA. ACE-R: revised Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination, MMSE: Mini-mental State Examination, PSPRS: Progressive Supranuclear Palsy Rating Scale, CBDRS: CBD functional rating scale, INECO: frontal assessment tool, CDR: Clinical Dementia Rating Scale, CBI: revised Cambridge Behavioural Inventory, SEADL: Schwab and England Activities of Daily Living Scale. ^a chi-squared test. ^b ANOVA with PSP and CBD patients only. ns = non-significant at p<0.05; NA = non-applicable.

3 | Synaptic loss in primary tauopathies revealed by $[^{11}C]UCB$ -J Positron Emission Tomography.

3.3.2 WIDESPREAD REDUCTION IN CORTICAL AND SUBCORTICAL SYNAPTIC DENSITY

Compared to controls, in patients there was a significant global reduction in [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} (Figure **3-3**) across all major cortical and subcortical areas (p<0.05 FDR corrected for all regions of interest shown in Figure 3-3); regional BP_{ND} values for the three groups are reported in Table 3-2. BP_{ND} in PSP and CBD was 20-50% lower than controls (p<0.01),

with the most severe median reduction seen in the medulla, substantia nigra, pallidum, midbrain, pons and caudate nucleus in patients with PSP, and in the medulla, hippocampus, amygdala, caudate nucleus, insula and thalamus in patients with CBD. Post-hoc analysis revealed that the significant differences in BP_{ND} between patients and controls in the pallidum and substantia nigra were mainly driven by the PSP cohort. Using data without GTM PVC, the pattern of statistically significant differences in BP_{ND} for the reported regions in Table 2 remains, p<0.001.

3.3.3 Synaptic loss occurs beyond the extent of atrophy

The reduction in synaptic density was seen even in the areas of the brain that did not show significant grey matter atrophy. Figure 3-4A shows group differences in grey matter volume normalized against the mean of the control group. The significant areas of grey matter volume loss were in the caudate nucleus (p=0.01), and thalamus (p=0.04) in the CBD cohort, and in the frontal (p<0.01), temporal (p=0.04), parietal (p<0.01), occipital lobes (p<0.01), caudate nucleus (p<0.001), and the thalamus (p<0.01) in the PSP cohort. The reduction in [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} however, is more extensive and consistently significantly different across all major cortical and subcortical areas as shown in the normalised plot in Figure 3-4B (binding potentials were normalised against the mean binding potential of the control cohort for each region of interest).



Figure 3-3. Widespread reductions in cortical and subcortical synaptic density in PSP and CBD.

(A) Mean [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} maps for control participants (top row), CBD (middle row), and PSP (bottom row); high and low BP_{ND} values are shown by red and blue areas, respectively. (B) Reduction in global [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} across patients compared to controls (P<0.05). (C) Individual regional GTM PVC [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} values for control, CBD and PSP participants, across major regions of interests. Binding potential values for patients differed significantly from controls in all the regions depicted (P<0.05, FDR corrected).

| Region | Control | CBD | PSP | F (p) |
|-------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|------------------------------|
| Frontal Lobe | 2.96 (0.17) | 2.60 (0.29) | 2.48 (0.28) | 15.05 (<0.0001) |
| Temporal Lobe | 2.68 (0.16) | 2.30 (0.23) | 2.17 (0.27) | 19.34 (<0.0001) |
| Parietal Lobe | 3.11 (0.19) | 2.75 (0.32) | 2.63 (0.36) | 10.10 (<0.0003) |
| Occipital Lobe | 2.98 (0.23) | 2.66 (0.29) | 2.48 (0.41) | 8.80 (0.0008) |
| Cingulate | 3.02 (0.21) | 2.56 (0.26) | 2.46 (0.28) | 20.41 (<0.0001) |
| Insula | 2.76 (0.15) | 2.24 (0.26) | 2.17 (0.27) | 28.55 (<0.0001) |
| Amygdala | 2.71 (0.20) | 2.18 (0.34) | 2.20 (0.33) | 14.67 (<0.0001) |
| Nucleus Accumbens | 4.18 (0.31) | 3.85 (0.46) | 3.54 (0.33) | 11.28 (0.0002) |
| Hippocampus | 2.00 (0.20) | 1.57 (0.29) | 1.57 (0.30) | 12.37 (<0.0001) |
| Caudate Nucleus | 3.12 (0.22) | 2.59 (0.41) | 2.48 (0.36) | 15.59 (<0.0001) |
| Pallidum | 1.90 (0.22) | 1.65 (0.24) | 1.27 (0.31) | 20.69 (<0.0001) ^a |
| Putamen | 3.99 (0.24) | 3.43 (0.32) | 3.28 (0.37) | 19.94 (<0.0001) |
| Thalamus | 2.86 (0.25) | 2.29 (0.45) | 2.25 (0.44) | 11.23 (<0.0002) |
| Cerebellum | 2.13 (0.22) | 1.75 (0.30) | 1.69 (0.28) | 11.50 (0.0001) |
| Midbrain | 2.61 (0.29) | 2.16 (0.38) | 1.83 (0.42) | 16.61 (<0.0001) |
| Substantia Nigra | 2.13 (0.28) | 1.72 (0.34) | 1.32 (0.59) | 12.79 (<0.0001) ^a |
| Pons | 0.93 (0.13) | 0.75 (0.18) | 0.71 (0.18) | 7.69 (0.002) |

Table 3-2. Mean (standard deviation) GTM PVC [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} values per group.

0.62 (0.16)

Medulla

Values are shown for cortical and subcortical regions of interest (surviving false discovery rate correction over 18 regions). CBD here refers to corticobasal syndrome with a negative amyloid biomarker from [¹¹C]PiB PET, and PSP refers to patients with PSP-Richardson's syndrome. F-statistic and p-values derived from an ANCOVA across the three groups, with age as a covariate of no interest. ^athe significant difference here is driven by the PSP group only.

0.37 (0.17)

0.28 (0.24)

12.04 (<0.001)



Figure 3-4. Normalised grey matter volume and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} in regions of interest. (A) Cortical and subcortical grey matter volumes, normalised against the corresponding volumes in controls, were significantly reduced in the caudate nucleus and thalamus in CBD; and in frontal, temporal, parietal and occipital lobes, as well as in the caudate nucleus, and thalamus in PSP, P<0.05. (B) Mean-centred [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} across cortical and subcortical regions of interest normalised against the corresponding BP_{ND} values in controls, demonstrating a median reduction of 20-50%.

3.3.4 Synaptic loss correlates with disease severity and global cognition

Correlations between [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} and both global cognition and disease severity are given in Figure 3-5. A significant positive correlation was seen between global [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} and the revised Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination total score (R=0.52, p=0.01) (Figure 3-5A). There was a significant negative correlation between global [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} and the PSP (R= -0.61, p<0.01), and CBD (R= -0.72, p<0.001) rating scales (Figure 3-5B&C).



Figure 3-5. Synaptic loss correlates with disease severity and global cognition. Correlations between global [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} and total ACE-R score (A), total PSP rating scale (B), and total CBD rating scale (C) for the two patient groups.

3.4 DISCUSSION

The principal result of this experimental chapter is a widespread reduction in synaptic density in PSP-Richardson's syndrome and amyloid-negative Corticobasal Syndrome (CBS) (which I define as Corticobasal Degeneration (CBD)). This accords with post mortem estimates of synaptic loss in PSP and CBD, using synaptophysin immunohistochemistry (Bigio et al., 2001; Lipton et al., 2001), imaging of neurite density in PSP (Mitchell et al., 2019) and morphological studies of cortical dendrites in the closely related condition of frontotemporal lobe dementia (I Ferrer et al., 1991). Indirect evidence of synaptic loss, from consequential reduction in metabolism, comes from [¹⁸F]FDG PET changes in frontal, temporal and parietal lobes (Blin et al., 1992; Eidelberg et al., 1991; Foster et al., 1988; Juh et al., 2004). However, PET imaging with the ligand [¹¹C]UCB-J provides direct evidence *in vivo* of severe and extensive loss of cortical and subcortical synapses, including areas of the brain that are minimally atrophic (Josephs et al., 2008).

Progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal degeneration are progressive, with an average disease duration of five to eight years from symptom onset (Coyle-Gilchrist et al., 2016). In our clinically diagnosed CBD and PSP groups, the mean symptom duration at the time of PET was three and a half years, and our patients were likely to be approximately mid-way through their symptomatic disease course (not including a potentially long pre-symptomatic period). The median reduction of 20% (and maximal 50%) in [¹¹C]UCB-J binding observed *in vivo* compared to controls, is therefore in keeping with the predictions from post mortem data.

The synaptic loss observed in our study is widespread, extending beyond the regions that are arguably most associated with the diseases. In PSP, from post mortem studies, these include basal ganglia, thalamus, substantia nigra, premotor cortex, as well as the dentate nucleus. In CBD, areas associated with the disease include cortex, thalamus, basal ganglia and brainstem, without significant cerebellar involvement (Dickson et al., 2011; Kovacs et al., 2020). However, in our study the loss of synapses in PSP is global across the cortex, and not confined to the premotor and motor areas, and extends beyond the substantia nigra in the brainstem with pontine and medullary involvement. The loss of synapses in the cerebellum in PSP echoes pathological studies of tau distribution in this disease.

Interestingly, the cerebellum was also markedly abnormal in CBD; although cerebellar atrophy and tau accumulation are not typical associations of CBD. Cerebellar synaptic loss in CBD may therefore represent cerebellar diaschisis in response to widespread cortical pathology and loss of cortico-cerebellar projections; an alternative explanation is that a small minority of individuals in an amyloid-negative CBS cohort may have PSP as the underlying cause for their corticobasal syndrome, although this is unlikely to be sufficient to drive the group-wise effect.

Preclinical models of tauopathy suggest early synaptotoxicity with reduced plasticity and density (Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015), in response to soluble oligomeric tau aggregates (Kaniyappan et al., 2017) and inflammation (Rajendran & Paolicelli, 2018; Vogels et al., 2019). Recently in patients with Alzheimer's disease, using [¹¹C]UCB-J, [¹⁸F]flortaucipir (PET radioligand targeting tau), and magenotoencephalography (used to assess cortical function *in vivo*), Coomans *et al* have demonstrated synaptic reductions with increasing tau load, both associated with reduced synaptic function on electrophysiology (Coomans et al., 2021). The toxicity associated with tau pathology leading to synapse loss is complex and involves direct and indirect pathways (reviewed in Spires-Jones and Hyman (2014)). Naturally occurring tau plays a role in synaptic function through modulating microtubule and axonal stability; disruptions to this machinery leads to prevention of the trafficking of essential components to synapses such as synaptic receptors and mitochondria (Hoover et al., 2010; Kopeikina et al., 2011). Indeed, over-expression of tau interferes with mitochondria transport (Stoothoff et al., 2009), and contributes to hyperexcitability of neurons and impaired calcium influx in transgenic mouse models (rTg4510) (Rocher et al., 2010).

The global nature of synaptic reduction suggests a more widespread pathology in the primary tauopathies of PSP and CBD beyond the areas that are histologically reported as harbouring a high tau burden such as the basal ganglia, thalamus, and brain stem (Dickson et al., 2011; Kovacs et al., 2020). This may in part be explained by the global damage caused by oligomers of tau which are not easily visible on tau PET imaging or histology. In support of this are biochemical studies that report tau accumulation in both grey and white matter by western blot in PSP but not necessarily by immunohistochemistry (Zhukareva et al., 2006). The pathological role of tau fibril is under debate, however toxic

tau oligomers in PSP (Gerson et al., 2014) are thought to play a crucial role in the pathogenesis of tauopathies through their gain of toxic function; this includes causing loss of membrane integrity (Flach et al., 2012), mitochondrial and synaptic dysfunction (Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2011b), and impairment of axonal transport, long-term potentiation, memory and cognition (Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2012); Morfini et al., 2009; Ward et al., 2012).

In this experiment I observed a significant correlation between synaptic loss and disease severity in PSP and CBD. Synaptic loss correlates with cognitive impairment in another clinical tauopathy, Alzheimer's disease (Scheff et al., 2006; Terry et al., 1991), and preclinical models of this (Kandimalla et al., 2018; Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2011b; Walsh et al., 2002). The *in vivo* PET results in this chapter support the potential use of synaptic PET as a marker of disease and progression, but longitudinal data are required. Synaptic PET may support early stage clinical trials in PSP and CBS/CBD; it is encouraging in this latter respect that, in another neurodegenerative disease, [¹¹C]UCB-J PET is sensitive to progressive changes in synaptic density, for example in response to treatment with the synaptic modulator Saracatinib (Toyonaga et al., 2019).

This experimental chapter has a few limitations. The sample size is small, however it is adequately powered in view of the large effect sizes predicted. Nevertheless, subtler relationships with mild disease, progression or individual clinical features, or phenotypic variants of PSP and CBS, require larger studies. I acknowledge the potential for off-target binding, but preclinical data indicate very high correlations between UCB-J and synaptophysin, a marker of presynaptic vesicular density (Finnema et al., 2016; Finnema et al., 2018). The diagnoses used were clinical, without neuropathology, although the clinicopathological correlations of PSP-Richardson syndrome are very high, and in the absence of Alzheimer's disease, the clinicopathological correlation of CBS with a 4R-tauopathy (CBD or PSP) is also high. Binding potentials for SV2A radioligands such as [¹¹C]UCB-J can be confounded by the use of concurrent medication that may bind to SV2A. I did not enrol any individuals taking levetiracetam or any member of this family of drugs that are SV2A-specific ligands (Löscher et al., 2016). Previously reported studies using [¹¹C]UCB-J in disease have usually not commented on medications used by participants, however one study using this ligand in major depressive disorders reports exclusion of

participants on psychotropic medications in the 2 months preceding PET scanning (S. E. Holmes et al., 2019); whilst many of my PSP and CBD patients are on medications falling under the psychotropic umbrella, to my knowledge, none of these bind to SV2A.

Arterial blood sampling was not carried out in this study; I used reference tissue modelling to reduce the demand on the patient cohort. Reference tissue modelling of [¹¹C]UCB-J with the centrum semiovale as the reference tissue has been verified against arterial input function compartmental modelling in healthy controls (Koole et al., 2019; Rossano et al., 2019) and in Alzheimer's disease (M. K. Chen et al., 2018; Mecca et al., 2020). To assess the validity of the centrum semiovale in our cohort, we determined the mean total distribution volume (V_T) for each of our subject groups using standard arterial input function data from the literature (Finnema et al., 2018; Mansur et al., 2020); this approach assumed that the standard input function was equally valid for all groups. This analysis indicated a small positive bias in centrum semiovale V_T for CBD (5%) and less so PSP (2%) relative to that in controls, which would lead to a commensurate reduction in BP_{ND} under the assumption that the non-displaceable distribution volume (V_{ND}) in the target ROIs remains invariant. These biases cannot, however, explain the much greater BP_{ND} reductions seen for CBD and PSP, which is especially true for PSP. Indeed, scaling BP_{ND} in the CBD and PSP cohorts to account for the above biases in centrum semiovale V_T, produced a similar pattern of significant global reduction in BP_{ND} for patients compared to controls, except that the significant differences in the midbrain, pons, substantia nigra, pallidum, and occipital lobe were primarily driven by the PSP cohort in the post-hoc analysis.

The therapeutic challenge in tauopathies is partly due to the complex nature of the underlying pathology. Early stage trials will require early accurate diagnosis, although diagnosis is typically made 3 years after symptom onset (Coyle-Gilchrist et al., 2016; Mamarabadi et al., 2018). It is unlikely that synaptic PET could provide pre-symptomatic diagnosis in rare conditions, but it is a promising tool to characterise pathogenetic mechanisms, monitor progression and assess response to experimental medicines (Cai et al., 2019).

4 IN VIVO COUPLING OF DENDRITIC

COMPLEXITY WITH PRESYNAPTIC DENSITY IN PRIMARY TAUOPATHIES

A manuscript related to this chapter has been published as:

Mak, E*, **Holland**, N*, Jones, S, et al. In vivo coupling of dendritic complexity with presynaptic density in primary tauopathies. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2021.01.016. *Joint first author

The original data, on which the analyses in this chapter are based, were collected by myself, Dr George Savulich and Mrs Julie Wiggins. Patients were scanned and assessed as part of the Synaptic Evaluation in NeuroDegeneration Research (SENDeR) study which was conceived by Professor James Rowe and Professor John O'Brien. The PET data were pre-processed by Dr Tim Fryer and Dr Young Hong, and the MRI Neurite Orientation and Dispersion Imaging by Dr Elijah Mak. Together with Dr Mak, I designed the analysis strategy, performed the analyses, constructed the figures, and wrote the text.

Summary

Understanding the cellular underpinnings of neurodegeneration remains a challenge. Loss of presynaptic density and postsynaptic dendritic complexity are characteristic and can be quantified in vivo, with [11C]UCB-J PET and Orientation Dispersion Imaging (ODI, an MRI-based method), respectively. In this chapter I assess how the pre- and postsynaptic compartments are correlated *in vivo* in the 4-repeat tauopathies of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy and amyloid-negative Corticobasal Syndrome (CBS) as disease models of neurodegeneration. Patients with PSP (n= 24), and CBD (n= 15; amyloid negative as determined by [¹¹C]PiB PET) were recruited from a tertiary PSP/CBS clinic; 27 age- and gender-matched controls were recruited from the Join Dementia Research Platform. All participants underwent a 3T MRI with Neurite Orientation Dispersion Imaging (NODDI), ¹¹C]UCB-J PET, as well as neuropsychological testing. Patients with PSP and CBD had widespread reductions in cortical ODI, and [¹¹C]UCB-J non-displaceable binding potential (BP_{ND}) even when corrected for level of cortical atrophy, compared to healthy controls. Furthermore, presynaptic density as indexed by [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}, is tightly positively correlated with postsynaptic dendritic complexity, as indexed by ODI, across a wide range of cortical regions including the frontal and temporal cortices, as well as subcortical areas including the basal ganglia and brainstem (FDR corrected p < 0.05). This correlation was seen in the patient cohort only. Both measures, and the correlations between them, provide new insights into the pathophysiology of neurodegenerative diseases, and allow for a safe and widely available MRI platform to be used in future studies of synaptic health in neurodegeneration.

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Abnormal dendritic morphology, and synaptic pathology are increasingly recognised as hallmarks of neurodegeneration, prior to cell death and atrophy, and correlate closely with cognitive dysfunction (Clare et al., 2010; DeKosky & Scheff, 1990; Dorostkar et al., 2015; Terry et al., 1991). However, quantification of synaptic pathology *in vivo* has until recently posed a challenge. In the previous chapter, using the novel PET radioligand [¹¹C]UCB-J, I confirmed widespread loss of presynaptic density. Whether this pathogenic mechanism is associated with changes within the postsynaptic compartment, in primary tauopathies, has not been assessed *in vivo*.

4.1.1 POSTSYNAPTIC COMPARTMENT AND ITS PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE

The postsynaptic compartment comprises of the dendritic spines of the postsynaptic neuron. Dendritic spines are numerous in numbers; for example, the frontal cortex layer-3 pyramidal neurons typically possess approximately 6,000 dendritic spines (Rocher et al., 2008). Dendritic spines are categorised based on their morphology into thin, stubby, mushroom, and cup-shaped (Harris et al., 1992). There is a however a dynamic change in spine morphology with presynaptic stimulation and in response to the surrounding environment. The morphology, structure and function of dendritic spines is modulated by a group of postsynaptic density (PDS) proteins which can be divided into four subgroups: scaffold proteins, receptor transmembrane proteins, cytoskeletal proteins and signalling proteins (Hering & Sheng, 2001; Verpelli et al., 2013). These proteins act in consort to ensure efficient signal transmission from the presynaptic membrane to the postsynaptic compartment, through the phenomenon of long-term potentiation - a functional correlate of dendritic spine plasticity which is dependent on the change in size and number of dendritic spines (Fu & Zuo, 2011).

The most abundant, and one of the widely studied, postsynaptic scaffolding proteins is PSD-95. It is localised very close to the postsynaptic membrane and thus can easily interact with receptors, ion channels and adhesion molecules, as well as with cytoplasmic proteins (Verpelli et al., 2013). It plays a key role in organising the signalling complexes at the postsynaptic membrane and is therefore critical to the function of the dendrite and long-term plasticity. Indeed, dysfunction of scaffolding proteins are key events in the pathophysiology of autism, schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease. For example,

alterations in the expression of PSD-95 has been found in patients with Alzheimer's disease (Leuba et al., 2008) and in mouse models of Fragile-X syndrome with prominent cognitive and behavioural features (Zalfa et al., 2007). Similarly, deletion of the ProSAP2/Shank3 gene leading to absence of other scaffolding proteins, leads to Phelan-McDermid Syndrome presenting with significant dysfunction in multiple cognitive domains (Phelan & McDermid, 2012).

There are two key cytoskeletal components within the postsynaptic density, critical for dendritic structure and function: filamentous actin (F-actin), and microtubules (Fischer & Fowler, 2015). It is therefore not surprising that in neurodegenerative diseases with aggregation of the hyperphosphorylated microtubule-associated protein tau, microtubule dynamics is changed, causing changes in dendritic structure and function (Zempel & Mandelkow, 2014; Zempel et al., 2010). Moreover, mutations in the LRRK2 gene, that have recently been associated with predicting survival in PSP (Chen-Plotkin, 2021; Guerreiro et al., 2016), amongst many other pathological sequelae, are thought to be involved in microtubule fragmentation, and therefore dendritic dysfunction (Lin et al., 2010).

Loss of dendritic spine, and abnormal dendritic function in tauopathies, can therefore occur as a result of loss of afferent input secondary to presynaptic loss (as reviewed in Chapter 3), loss of the neuron- and axon-autonomous function, and also as a result of direct toxicity from hyperphosphorylated tau and tau oligomers in the extracellular space, and inflammation (Hoffmann et al., 2014; Kweon et al., 2017). Given that presynaptic density, and dendritic spine morphology are directly linked to synaptic function (Jähne et al., 2021; Yuste & Bonhoeffer, 2001), I propose that with the loss of synapses, presynaptic vesicle density as measured with [¹¹C]UCB-J, would correlate with changes in postsynaptic dendritic complexity, in PSP and CBD.

4.1.2 MEASURING DENDRITIC SPINES AND COMPLEXITY

The gold standard technique for studying dendritic spines *in vitro* is electron microscopy allowing the analysis of dendritic spine ultrastructure. Other techniques include immunohistochemistry using antibodies against various postsynaptic density proteins. The use of such techniques on, and interpretation of results from, donated human brain tissue is however limited given the rapid hypoxic-induced changes in dendritic spines soon after

death (Stewart et al., 2014). Furthermore *in vitro* methods do not allow correlations with disease severity in life, and the potential for therapeutic monitoring.

Microstructural integrity can be assessed in vivo using Diffusion Tensor Imaging (DTI). However, while diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) has proved to be a valuable non-invasive technique to probe microstructural white matter integrity, it has limited utility to characterise such changes in the cortex due to the isotropic water diffusion of the grey matter. To address the limitations of DTI, Neurite Orientation Dispersion Imaging (NODDI) has been developed. NODDI is a multi-compartment biophysical diffusion imaging model that is capable of disentangling the diffusion signal arising from distinct tissue compartments, such as extracellular, intracellular water and cerebrospinal fluid (H. Zhang et al., 2012). This multi-compartmentalisation of the diffusion signal enables metrics such as Neurite Density Index and Orientation Dispersion Index (ODI) to characterise the number of neurites as well as the variability of neurite orientations, respectively. Both the clinical feasibility and relevance of NODDI alterations have been successfully demonstrated in normal ageing and dementia (Cox et al., 2016; Parker et al., 2018; H. Zhang et al., 2012). However, the biological substrates of NODDI are still unclear due to limited evidence of cross-validation among NODDI metrics and alternative proxies of grey matter microstructure. Recent studies have shown that NODDI Orientation Dispersion Index (ODI) is correlated with histologically-derived indices of neurite dispersion (Grussu et al., 2017; Schilling et al., 2018), highlighting its potential viability as a proxy of underlying biological changes in grey matter microstructure. Of particular relevance to this chapter, reductions in cortical ODI has been found in a tau-transgenic mouse model, entirely consistent with the severe extent of dendritic degeneration (Colgan et al., 2016). There has not yet been an attempt to characterise the coupling of cortical ODI with measurements of synaptic pathology (with [¹¹C]UCB-J PET imaging). Compared to PET imaging, the ODI from NODDI would have the advantage of wide scalability in multicentre studies, repeatable assays without ionising radiation, and lower cost within a clinically feasible acquisition time (~ 15 minutes).

In this proof-of-concept study, I focus on progressive supranuclear palsy – Richardson's Syndrome (PSP) and Corticobasal Degeneration (CBD) as disease models. In PSP and CBD grey matter atrophy although present, is not extensive unlike in Alzheimer's disease where we would expect generalised atrophy; this allows us to examine cortical

microstructure without the influence of atrophy. I test the hypothesis that functionally relevant loss of presynaptic density caused by PSP and CBD is correlated to the changes in postsynaptic dendritic complexity, independent of changes in grey matter atrophy.

4.2 METHODS AND STUDY DESIGN

The current experiment and the experiment reported in Chapter 3 were both part of the same protocol. Thus, the participants, inclusion and exclusion criteria, and study procedure overlap with those reported in Chapters 2 & 3. Compared to the cohort in Chapter 3, the current experiment featured twelve more control participants, five more patients with CBD, and eight more patients with PSP. Thus, the full sample available for the analysis of changes in Orientation Dispersion Imaging consisted of 27 controls, 14 patients with CBD, and 22 with PSP. Demographic details for this extended cohort are provided in Table 4-1.

4.2.1 NEUROIMAGING PRE-PROCESSING

4.2.1.1 T1-weighted MRI

T1-MPRAGE was acquired on high resolution Siemens Magnetom 3T PRISMA scanner (TE = 2.93 ms, TR = 2s, slice thickness = 1.1 mm, resolution = 1.1 mm³ isotropic, 208 slices) (Table 2-2). The data were processed using Computational Anatomy Toolbox in SPM12. The T1-MPRAGE images were then segmented into grey matter, white matter, and CSF images by using a unified tissue segmentation technique after image intensity non-uniformity correction was performed. Regional cortical thickness was derived in CAT12 based on the projection-based thickness method (Dahnke et al., 2013) which uses topology correction (Yotter et al., 2011a) and spherical mapping (Yotter et al., 2011b). Previous studies have shown that CAT12 produces reliable estimates of cortical thickness, yielding larger effect sizes in case-control comparisons (Seiger et al., 2018). All segmentations were visually inspected by three colleagues. Three PSP-RS subjects were excluded due to suboptimal contrast between grey and white matter tissue, resulting in unsatisfactory segmentations.

4.2.1.2 Diffusion-weighted MRI

Diffusion scans were acquired on Siemens Magnetom Prisma scanner (TE = 75.6ms, TR = 2.4s, slice thickness = 1.75mm, 98 directions, 104 slices, bvals = 300, 1000, 2000).

Diffusion datasets were pre-processed with FSL-FDT (FMRIB's Diffusion Toolbox). Firstly, the diffusion weighted-imaging data were stripped of nonbrain tissue using the Brain Extraction Tool. The resulting brain masks were visually inspected for anatomic fidelity. Eddy currents and head movements were corrected with "eddy" in FSL (Version 6.0.1). TOPUP was applied to correct for estimating and correcting susceptibility induced distortions. The b0 volume from the reversed phase-encode blip was used in TOPUP for the estimation and correction of susceptibility induced distortion. Quantitative identification of slices with signal loss was performed in "eddy" and these volumes were replaced by non-parametric predictions using the Gaussian process (J. L. R. Andersson et al., 2016). The b-matrix was subsequently reoriented by applying the rotational part of the affine transformation used during eddy correction (Leemans & Jones, 2009). Next, ODI maps were derived from the eddy-corrected datasets using the Microstructural Diffusion Toolbox (MDT) (Harms et al., 2017). There has been recent debate over the validity of NODDI's assumption of a fixed intrinsic diffusivity across the brain, especially in the grey matter. Therefore, to optimise analyses of ODI, the intrinsic diffusivity was set to 1.1 x 10⁻ 3 mm²/s as previously proposed (Fukutomi et al., 2018).

4.2.1.3 [¹¹C]UCB-J Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

A subset of patients underwent dynamic PET imaging as well as NODDI (Controls = 19, PSP-RS = 20, CBD = 12 including those already included in Chapter 3) on a GE SIGNA PET/MR – the [11 C]UCB-J data acquisition is as described in 3.2.2.

4.2.1.4 Extraction of regional measurements from T1, ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}

ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J maps were co-registered to the skull-stripped T1 brain image using rigid registrations in Advance Normalisation Tools (ANTS; <u>http://stnava.github.io/ANTs/</u>). The accuracy of all co-registrations was visually inspected. The co-registered ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J volumes were projected to the surface for cortical analyses. To that end, a weighted-mean method was applied that uses a Gaussian kernel for mapping along the normal, based on the recommended settings in CAT12. Finally, region of interest (ROI) extraction was performed within the surface space using the Desikan Killiany atlas (Desikan et al., 2006). We used a modified Hammers atlas (Hammers et al., 2003) to extract measurements from the subcortical regions and midbrain. The atlas was subsequently transposed into the native spaces of ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J respectively using the inverse of
transformations from the co-registrations between ODI or [¹¹C]UCB-J and T1 MPRAGE. Mean regional ODI, [¹¹C]UCB-J and grey matter volumes were extracted using *fslstats* in FSL. Finally, each subject has the following imaging measurements: regional cortical thickness, cortical ODI, cortical [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}, as well as subcortical and midbrain grey matter volumes, ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}.

4.2.2 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The software R was used to compare demographic variables between the diagnostic groups using ANOVA, Kruskal Wallis and chi-square tests where appropriate. To investigate regional group differences of grey matter, ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}, a non-parametric permutation-based inference was used, implementing Permutation Analysis of Linear Models (PALM; <u>https://fsl.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl/fslwiki/PALM</u>) in MATLAB, adjusted for age (5000 permutations) (Winkler et al., 2014). A key advantage of permutation-based approach is the robustness of statistics to heteroscedasticity and its minimal assumptions on data distributions. Next, non-parametric permutation tests for Biological Parametric Mapping (BPM) (Casanova et al., 2007) were used to assess whole-brain inter-regional associations between ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} across the patient sample, as well as within CBD and PSP groups separately. Correlational analyses were adjusted for age and local grey matter thickness / volume. Statistical results were adjusted using the False Discovery Rate (FDR) correction across the cortical, subcortical regions and the midbrain (81 regions). Mean values, standard deviations, p values and Cohen's D were overlaid on 2D brain templates using the *ggseg* package in R (Mowinckel & Vidal-Piñeiro, 2020).

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 DEMOGRAPHICS

Clinical and demographic information are summarised in Table 4-1. Patients and controls were matched in age and gender although in this larger group of patients compared to those in chapter 3, education years was significantly lower in PSP relative to controls (Post-hoc Dunn's Test after Kruskal-Wallis test; p < 0.001). Patients with PSP and CBD had lower total ACE-R scores compared to controls as in the smaller cohort in Chapter 3 (p < 0.001).

| | Control | CBD | PSP | P values |
|---|---------------|---------------|---------------|-----------------|
| M:F | 16:11 | 9:5 | 10:12 | ns ^a |
| Age | 69.0 (7.34) | 70.0 (7.91) | 70.9 (8.69) | ns |
| Education in years | 14.9 (3.65) | 12.4 (3.03) | 12.1 (4.33) | 0.005 |
| ACE-R total (max. 100) | 95.9 (3.81) | 78.2 (18.9) | 80.4 (12.7) | < 0.001 |
| PSPRS (max. 100) | 0.148 (0.534) | 26.9 (7.88) | 33.3 (9.86) | < 0.001 |
| NODDI MRI - [¹¹ C]UCB-J PET scan interval (days) | 255.5 (168.9) | 119.1 (109.8) | 167.0 (134.7) | 0.04 |

Table 4-1. Demographics and neuropsychological profile for each participant cohort. Abbreviations: CBD = Corticobasal Degeneration defined as amyloid negative corticobasal syndrome; PSP-RS = Progressive Supranuclear Palsy - Richardson's syndrome; PSPRS = Progressive Supranuclear Palsy Rating Scale; ACER = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised. Parameters are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. P values are shown for analysis of variance across groups or chi-squared^a test as appropriate.

4.3.2 GROUP COMPARISONS OF GREY MATTER ATROPHY, ODI AND [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}

For all groups, mean \pm standard deviation (SD) distributions of regional cortical thickness, subcortical grey matter volumes, ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} are overlaid on brain templates in

Figure 4-1 (cortical) and Figure 4-2 (subcortical). Permutation-based statistical comparisons across all imaging measurements are reported for PSP and CBD relative to controls, adjusted for age and FDR corrected, in Figure 4-3 and Figure 4-4.

4.3.2.1 Progressive supranuclear palsy

Statistical results and corresponding effect sizes from the comparisons between PSP and controls are illustrated in Figure 4-3A-C. Non-parametric permutation-based tests showed that, relative to controls, the PSP group exhibited significant cortical thinning particularly in the motor cortex and frontal cortices; subcortical atrophy was found in the thalamus,

putamen and pallidum and midbrain. In PSP, significant reductions in cortical ODI were more widespread than areas affected by atrophy, including multiple areas within the cortical mantle and also subcortically including the basal ganglia. Post-hoc paired t-tests of the regional Fisher's transformed Cohen's D indicated that the regional effect sizes were significantly larger for ODI compared to grey matter atrophy (Figure 4-3C). As expected, the PSP group showed extensive and severe reductions of [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} across the cortex and subcortical regions compared to controls, replicating findings in Chapter 3, here in a larger sample size. Across the whole brain, reductions in [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} yielded the largest effect size relative to both ODI and grey matter atrophy.

4.3.2.2 Corticobasal Degeneration

Statistical results and corresponding effect sizes from the comparisons between CBD and controls are illustrated in Figure 4-4A-C. Relative to controls, the CBD group showed focal cortical thinning in motor cortex, superior frontal cortex and the occipital lobe, as well as atrophy in the left putamen and bilateral pallidum. In contrast, widespread ODI reductions were found extending beyond the atrophy-affected motor cortices to other regions that were relatively preserved from atrophy, notably the temporo-parietal and cingulate cortices. In addition, there was bilateral significant ODI reductions in the caudate and putamen, both of which showed no significant grey matter atrophy. Accordingly, regional Cohen's D of ODI was significantly larger than that of grey matter atrophy (Figure 4-4C). Finally, [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} comparisons revealed a generalised and widespread extent of significantly reduced [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} across the cortex and subcortical regions compared to controls, replicating results in Chapter 3; similar to the PSP cohort, reductions in [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} yielded the largest effect size relative to both ODI and grey matter atrophy (Figure 4-4C).



Figure 4-1. Regional distributions of mean (sd) cortical thickness, cortical ODI and cortical [¹¹C]-UCB-J BP_{ND} across controls, CBD, and PSP.

Abbreviations: ODI = Orientation Dispersion Index, CBD = amyloid negative Corticobasal Syndrome; PSP = Progressive Supranuclear Palsy-Richardson's Syndrome; sd = Standard deviation.



Figure 4-2. Subcortical (basal ganglia and brainstem) distributions of mean (sd) grey matter volumes, ODI and [¹¹C]-UCB-J BP_{ND} across controls, CBD, and PSP.

Abbreviations: ODI = Orientation Dispersion Index, CBD = amyloid negative Corticobasal Syndrome; PSP = Progressive Supranuclear Palsy-Richardson's Syndrome; sd = standard deviation; GM = grey matter.



Figure 4-3. GM atrophy, reduced ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} in PSP vs Controls. A: p-values of regions surviving FDR correction are visualised on cortical and subcortical brain templates showing reduced ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J binding beyond atrophic areas. B: The regional effect sizes (Cohen's D) for the regional reductions in GM, ODI, [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} compared to controls. C: Density plots of distributions of effect sizes and boxplots of effect sizes of grey matter atrophy, ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} from the group comparisons showing significantly larger effect sizes for presynaptic loss compared to ODI and atrophy. Abbreviations: ODI = Orientation Dispersion Index; PSP = Progressive Supranuclear Palsy-Richardson's Syndrome; FDR = False Discovery Rate; GM = grey matter.



Figure 4-4. GM atrophy, reduced ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} in CBD vs Controls. A: P-values of regions surviving FDR correction are visualised on cortical and subcortical brain templates B: The effect sizes (Cohen's D) for the regional reductions in GM, ODI, [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} compared to controls. C: Density plots of distributions of effect sizes and boxplots of effect sizes of grey matter atrophy, ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} from the group comparisons showing significantly larger effect sizes for presynaptic loss compared to ODI and atrophy. Abbreviations: ODI = Orientation Dispersion Index; FDR = False Discovery Rate; GM = grey matter; CBD = amyloid negative Corticobasal Syndrome.

4.3.3 REGIONAL ASSOCIATION OF ODI WITH [¹¹C]UCB-J BPND

Non-parametric permutation models were used to assess the inter-regional associations between ODI and [11 C]UCB-J BP_{ND} across the full patient sample, while sensitivity analyses were conducted for PSP and CBD groups separately. To visualise the spatial patterns of these regional correlations, accounting for age, regional grey matter atrophy and NODDI/UCB-J PET scan interval, the p values are projected on brain templates (

Figure 4-5). Within the total sample of CBD and PSP patients, multiple cortical and subcortical regions demonstrated local positive associations where $[^{11}C]UCB$ -J BP_{ND} locally predicted ODI, i.e. across subjects, both presynaptic density and dendritic complexity showed reciprocal associations within the same region (

Figure 4-5A). Scatter plots for each significant local association are shown in supplementary Figure B1. The regions showing the strongest correlations between ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} were primarily in bilateral pre- and postcentral gyri and the prefrontal cortex, but also extended to subcortical areas including the basal ganglia, thalamus and the midbrain. When the analyses were restricted to the CBD sample, the spatial extent of local associations was markedly attenuated, although significant associations were still present within the bilateral pre- and postcentral gyri, and isolated regions in the frontal and occipital lobe

Figure 4-5B. Within the PSP group, $[^{11}C]UCB$ -J BP_{ND} was significantly correlated with ODI in a widespread spatial pattern similar to that of the total sample. Peak correlations were identified within the motor cortex and cingulate regions (

Figure 4-5C), but also included the thalami, midbrain and parts of the basal ganglia. These analyses did not include the control group and are thus not indicative of a group effect. Nevertheless, to determine the specificity of the coupling between ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}, the same non-parametric permutation model was performed on the controls. This analysis did not yield any significant local associations that retained statistical significance after FDR correction.



Figure 4-5. Local associations between ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}.

(A) total sample of patients, (B) CBD and (C) PSP, separately. I: Statistical p values for the regional association of [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} and ODI, for regions surviving FDR correction, are overlaid on cortical and subcortical brain templates. II: Scatter plots showing the relationships between ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} for all regions surviving FDR correction, coloured by lobes and subcortex. Abbreviations: ODI = Orientation Dispersion Index. PSP = Progressive Supranuclear Palsy-Richardson's Syndrome; CBD = amyloid negative Corticobasal Syndrome.

4.4 **DISCUSSION**

In this chapter I tested the hypothesis that changes in presynaptic density are closely linked to MRI measures of cortical microstructure, in the neurodegenerative tauopathies of CBD and PSP. The main insights are that (i) in the neurodegenerative tauopathies of CBD and PSP, widespread changes in grey matter dendritic complexity are observed even in areas without significant atrophy; and (ii) NODDI ODI, an MRI-based measure of postsynaptic dendritic structure and complexity, correlates with the loss of presynaptic density estimated by the PET radioligand [¹¹C]UCB-J; this effect is not a result of changes in grey matter atrophy. The findings extend previous investigations of ODI microstructural changes in PSP and CBS/CBD (Mitchell et al., 2019), demonstrating the *in vivo* coupling of dendritic complexity to presynaptic density, in line with preclinical models of tauopathies (Hoffmann et al., 2014; Rocher et al., 2010).

Grey matter atrophy within the motor cortex, as well as the basal ganglia and brainstem are common MRI findings in PSP and CBD; the pattern of atrophy shown in Figure 4-1 and Figure 4-2 concords with previous studies (Jabbari et al., 2019). In this chapter however, I show that both within areas of the brain where there is atrophy, and in areas with absent atrophy, there is significant and more severe loss of dendritic complexity and, as previously shown in Chapter 3 and replicated here, presynaptic density in the patient cohort. The widespread pattern of cortical ODI and presynaptic deficits in PSP and CBD matches the expected pattern of tau pathology, both in the subcortical and cortical areas (Dickson et al., 2011; Kovacs et al., 2020), and concords with preclinical models of tauopathy. For example, in a P301S mouse model of tauopathy, using confocal microscopy of hippocampal and medial frontal cortical dendrites, Walker *et al.* have shown age-related vulnerability to dendritic spine remodelling and reductions in the hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex, respectively, in response to tau pathology (C. K. Walker et al., 2021).

Loss of dendritic complexity and presynaptic loss, in non-atrophied areas of the brain, for example the occipital lobes, potentially reflects early changes in synaptic function, in response to tau pathology or toxic oligomers of tau, that later in the disease process progress to atrophy. Indeed, in preclinical models, pathological tau oligomers (Kaniyappan et al., 2017; Polydoro et al., 2014; Usenovic et al., 2015; Yasumasa Yoshiyama et al., 2007)

induce synaptic degeneration rather than neurofibrillary tangles (Kuchibhotla et al., 2014), and interfere with synaptic function and density, in the absence of neuronal loss.

The effect size for the comparison between ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} in patients relative to controls, was stronger than for atrophy. Together, the larger extent of ODI reductions relative to grey matter atrophy indicate that NODDI can reveal new aspects of cellular pathology in tauopathies, in keeping with the recent demonstration that changes in ODI parameters closely reflect complex histological changes (Grussu et al., 2017). Notwithstanding the cross-sectional design of this experiment, this observation highlights the early structural changes in disease pathogenesis that may underlie the emergence of cognitive and motor symptoms not attributable to atrophy. Indeed, human studies of cortical physiology in PSP, and animal models of tauopathy have illustrated abnormal electrophysiology in the absence of atrophy (Hughes et al., 2013; Sami et al., 2018) or neuronal loss (Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015). The findings of reduced ODI beyond atrophy are in agreement with the literature in the related tauopathy of Alzheimer's disease (Parker et al., 2018) where there is a stronger relationship between cognitive function and synaptic density than with atrophy (Masliah et al., 1992; Scheff et al., 2006; Terry et al., 1991).

The observation of a tight coupling between dendritic complexity, as measured with ODI, and presynaptic density, as measured with $[^{11}C]UCB-J$, in the patient cohort, echoes preclinical findings in animal models of tauopathy (Dorostkar et al., 2015; Harris & Kater, 1994; Herms & Dorostkar, 2016; Kweon et al., 2017), and post mortem studies (Bigio et al., 2001; Lipton et al., 2001). There are two potential explanations for this tight coupling: first, tau protein is enriched in axons and associated with axonal growth and transport; the synaptic toxicity associated with pathological tau is observed both in pre- and postsynaptic structures (Kweon et al., 2017; Y. Wang & Mandelkow, 2012), leading to both a reduction in dendritic complexity and presynaptic density. Second, while a cross-sectional design precludes inferences of causality, alterations in presynaptic function in CBD and PSP are expected to induce dendritic morphological alterations with early loss of dendritic spines and reduced dendritic branching. This has been illustrated in animal studies, where postsynaptic dendritic morphology correlates with the numbers of presynaptic vesicles and synaptic strength (Schikorski & Stevens, 1999). It is possible that primary dendritic degeneration in CBD and PSP causes a reduction in the density of the presynaptic contacts on the distal dendrites. These alternative accounts are not mutually exclusive and could act

in parallel to impair effective transneuronal connectivity, and subsequently motor and cognitive function.

The downstream effect of the above is a loss of functional connectivity. Indeed in PSP there is reduced resting state connectivity between cortical and subcortical areas (reviewed in Filippi et al. (2019)). In CBD, the evidence is more heterogenous given the mixed underlying pathology, and the lack of categorising amyloid status in previous functional studies (also reviewed in Filippi et al. (2019)).

Synaptic pathology is a common feature in many neurodegenerative diseases (Clare et al., 2010; Herms & Dorostkar, 2016; Kweon et al., 2017). In the related tauopathy of Alzheimer's disease, widespread reduction in synapses have been shown using [¹¹C]UCB-J PET in patients (M. K. Chen et al., 2018; Mecca et al., 2020), as well as changes to dendritic complexity seen both in vivo as reduced ODI (Parker et al., 2018) and in animal models of Alzheimer's disease (Dorostkar et al., 2015). Similar pre- and postsynaptic losses are seen in the substantia nigra of patients with Parkinson's disease (Bellucci et al., 2016; Reeve et al., 2018), and within the hippocampi of patients with Lewy Body Dementia (Revuelta et al., 2008). The tight coupling of the presynaptic and postsynaptic compartments shown in here, may therefore extend to pathologies other than primary 4repeat tauopathies, where synaptic dysfunction is one of the earliest stages of disease, regardless of the culprit protein aggregate in question. If so, the opportunity to utilise both MRI and PET to understand disease pathogenesis would greatly facilitate cohort studies of individual phenotypic differences or repeat testing in clinical trials monitoring. Furthermore, the *in vivo* observation of the tight coupling between the pre- and postsynaptic compartments, offers a new angle of interpretation for future studies utilising either of these methods in isolation. For example if cost, scalability and resources are limited for larger cohort studies, MRI measures of dendritic complexity can offer a close surrogate of presynaptic density, although I appreciate it is not a substitute given the significantly larger effect sizes seen with [¹¹C]UCB-J (Figure 4-3C and Figure 4-4C). This latter observation may indicate a more severe toxic effect at the pre-synapse compared to dendritic pathology, although longitudinal studies are required to confirm this. However, it is important to note that ODI should not be taken as a direct representation of the postsynaptic density seen in histological studies. Rather, it provides complementary information to the PET data, with

4 | In vivo coupling of dendritic complexity with presynaptic density in primary tauopathies support from histological studies that have shown ODI to be a close surrogate (Grussu et al., 2017).

There are several strengths to the experimental procedures in this chapter. First, the NODDI resolution of 1.75mm was specifically optimised for the investigation of cortical microstructure, and is higher than previous NODDI studies in early onset AD (2.5 mm) (Parker et al., 2018), Parkinson's disease (5 mm) (Kamagata et al., 2016) and PSP (2.0 mm) (Mitchell et al., 2019). Second, I use amyloid imaging to exclude patients with CBS likely due to Alzheimer's disease. This helps in reducing the potential underlying pathologies at play in the CBS cohort to predominantly 4-repeat tauopathies, although I acknowledge other pathologies are possible but less likely (Alexander et al., 2014) – in this regard it is reassuring that the spatial patterns of reductions in ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J binding are not substantially different between the PSP and CBD cohorts. Thirdly, the use of non-parametric permutation analyses also confers additional robustness to the statistical results, since this approach is not reliant on data distributions (Winkler et al., 2014).

I acknowledge the limitations of this experimental chapter including the relatively small sample size in the CBD cohort. However, given the large effect sizes seen of ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J binding reduction in both patient groups, the study was sufficiently powered to examine the relationships between both imaging markers. Secondly, I acknowledge that the MRI measure of ODI is not a direct measure of postsynaptic density but rather dendritic complexity; PET radioligands targeting the postsynaptic density may therefore provide further useful insights into postsynaptic pathology. Furthermore, although a tight correlation between our two measures of synaptic health is illustrated, I do not show causality in this cross-sectional study design.

Understanding the pathological processes that precede atrophy in neurodegeneration is key not only in expanding our knowledge of the pathophysiology of disease but also in informing the design of clinical trials both in terms of the imaging options for measuring disease-related changes, and the optimal timing of intervention in the disease process. The data presented in this chapter implicate correlated changes in dendritic microstructure and synaptic density in patients with primary degenerative tauopathies including PSP and CBD. Further cross-validation of ODI with [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} may help further our understanding

of the pathophysiology of neurodegeneration, applicable to future studies of early neurodegeneration with a safe and widely available MRI platform.

5 The relationship between *in vivo* molecular pathology and synaptic loss in primary tauopathies: a combined [¹⁸F]AV-1451 and [¹¹C]UCB-J PET study.

A manuscript related to this chapter is currently under revision as:

Holland N, Malpetti M, Rittman T, Mak E, et al. The relationship between molecular pahtology and synaptic loss in the primary tauopathies: a combined [¹⁸F]AV-1451 and [¹¹C]UCB-J PET study.

The original data, on which the analyses in this chapter are based, were collected by myself, Dr George Savulich and Mrs Julie Wiggins. Patients were scanned and assessed as part of the Synaptic and Tau Evaluation in NeuroDegeneration Research (SENDeR and TENDeR) studies which were conceived by Professor James Rowe and Professor John O'Brien. The PET data were pre-processed by Dr Tim Fryer and Dr Young Hong. I designed the analysis strategy, performed the analyses, constructed the figures, and wrote the manuscript.

Summary

The relationship between *in vivo* synaptic density and tau burden in primary tauopathies is key to understanding the impact of tauopathy on functional decline and in informing new early therapeutic strategies. In this chapter, I determine the *in vivo* relationship between synaptic density and molecular pathology, in the primary tauopathies of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy (PSP) and Corticobasal Degeneration (CBD), as a function of disease severity.

Twenty-three patients with PSP, and twelve patients with amyloid-negative Corticobasal Syndrome (CBS) were recruited from a tertiary referral centre. Nineteen education, sexand gender-matched control participants were recruited from the National Institute for Health Research 'Join Dementia Research' platform. Cerebral synaptic density and molecular pathology, in all participants, were estimated using PET imaging with the radioligands [¹¹C]UCB-J and [¹⁸F]AV-1451, respectively. Patients with CBS also underwent amyloid PET imaging with [¹¹C]PiB to exclude those with likely Alzheimer's pathology – I refer to the amyloid negative cohort as having CBD. Disease severity was assessed with the PSP rating scale; regional non-displaceable binding potentials (BP_{ND}) of [¹¹C]UCB-J and [¹⁸F]AV-1451 were estimated in regions of interest from the Hammersmith Atlas, excluding those with known off-target binding for [¹⁸F]AV-1451. As an exploratory analysis, I also investigated the relationship between molecular pathology in cortical brain regions, and synaptic density in subcortical areas. The patient data were normalised against the controls, in all regions of interests.

Across brain regions, there was a *positive* correlation between [¹¹C]UCB-J and [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND}(β =0.3, t=4.7, p<0.0001). However, the direction of this correlation became less positive as a function of disease severity in patients (β = -0.01, T = -2.2, p = 0.03). Between brain regions, cortical [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding was *negatively* correlated with synaptic density in subcortical areas (nucleus accumbens, caudate nucleus, and putamen).

Brain regions with higher synaptic density are associated with a higher [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding in PSP/CBD, but this association diminishes with disease severity. Moreover, higher cortical [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding correlates with lower subcortical synaptic density. Longitudinal imaging is required to confirm the mediation of synaptic loss by molecular

pathology. However, the effect of disease severity suggests a biphasic relationship between synaptic density and tauopathy, with synapse rich regions vulnerable to accrual of pathology, followed by a loss of synapses in response to pathology. Given the importance of synaptic function for cognition, the findings here elucidate the pathophysiology of primary tauopathies and may inform the design of future clinical trials.

5.1 INTRODUCTION

Synaptic loss is a feature of many neurodegenerative disorders. In chapters 3 and 4, I reviewed the critical role of synaptic dysfunction in the pathogenesis and cognitive impairment in PSP and CBD, which can begin long before, and is more extensive than neuronal loss (DeKosky & Scheff, 1990; Jacobsen et al., 2006; Terry et al., 1991). However, the *in vivo* relationship between synaptic loss and the underlying proteinopathy in primary tauopathies, tau, remains to be determined.

5.2 TAU-INDUCED TOXICITY IN TAUOPATHIES

The neurofibrillary tangles associated with PSP are postulated to begin within the pallidonigrolusyian system, spreading to the basal ganglia, pontine nuclei, and cerebellar dentate nucleus early in the disease process, before spreading into other cortical areas (Figure 5-1) (Kovacs et al., 2020). However as shown in chapter 3, significant synaptic loss is seen even in areas of the brain that are affected later in the disease stage, for example the occipital lobes. Whilst loss of cortico-cortical connections can account for this, an alternative explanation is that tau oligomeric spread to these areas precede tau tangles and lead to synaptic toxicity (DeVos et al., 2018). This is in accordance with preclinical models where synaptotoxicity of oligomeric tau leads to reduced synaptic plasticity and density (DeVos et al., 2018; Niewiadomska et al., 2021; Pickett et al., 2017; Ward et al., 2012). In tauopathies, mutant tau is present not only in the axons, but also the cell body and dendrites. As such, the mechanisms by which synaptic loss occurs following tau pathology are both direct and indirect (reviewed in Jadhav et al. (2015) and (Spires-Jones & Hyman, 2014)), but can also occur in response to the underlying genetic risk factors. For example, in patients with mutations of microtubule-associated protein tau (MAPT), there are deficiencies in many synaptic pathways including GABA-mediated signalling and synaptic plasticity (Jiang et al., 2018).

| Steps | Neuronal | |
|-------|-------------------------------|---|
| | Giobus pallidus | |
| | Subthelamic nucleus | |
| 1 | Substation right | |
| | Locus-coeruleus | |
| 2 | Midbrain tegmentum | |
| | Medulla oblongata | |
| | Pons base | |
| 3 | Striatum | |
| Ŭ. | Dentate nucleus | |
| 4 | Frontal lobe | |
| | Parietal lobe | |
| 5 | Temporal lobe | |
| 6 | Occipital lobe | |
| Steps | Astroglial | 1 |
| 1 | Striatum | |
| 2 | Striatum | |
| | | |
| 3 | Tholomus | L |
| _ | Thaternus . | |
| 4 | Parietal lobe | |
| | i emporal tobe | |
| | Anygueia | |
| 5 | Occipital lobe | |
| | widurain tegmentum | |
| | Subtantia nigra | |
| 1.1 | Pons | |
| 6 | Medulla obiongata | |
| | Dentate nucleus | |
| | Hippocampus | |
| Steps | Oligodendroglial | |
| 1 | Globus pallidus | |
| 2 | Globus pallidus | |
| 3 | Thalamus | |
| | Striatum | |
| 4 | Cerebellum | |
| | English | |
| 5 | Prontal lobe Pariotal lobe | |
| | Midbrain | |
| | Pons | |
| | Medulla oblongata | |
| | Amygdala | |
| | Hippocampus | - |
| | Temporal lobe | |
| 6 | | |



Figure 5-1. The neuropathological distribution of neurofibrillary tangles in different stages of PSP. Sequences of PSP related tau pathology based on the distribution of neuronal, astroglial, and oligodendroglial tau pathology. In Stage one disease, although the predominant findings are that of subcortical neuronal tau accumulation, pathological astroglial tau is present within the frontal lobes and can therefore alter synaptic physiology indirectly. Figure reproduced from Kovacs *et al.* 2020. with permission from Springer.

5.2.1 DIRECT TAU SYNAPTO-TOXICITY

Under normal physiological conditions, neuronal tau is involved in maintaining synaptic integrity and maintaining dendritic spine and axonal structure (as reviewed in 1.1.5.1). Under pathological conditions, it directly interferes with the function of many synaptic vesicle proteins including synaptophysin, synaptotagmin and synaptogyrin-3, leading to reduced synaptic vesicle mobility and therefore neurotransmitter release (Hanger et al., 2019). At the postsynaptic membrane, overexpression of tau in the P301L transgenic mouse model of tauopathy significantly interferes with the functioning of the postsynaptic density proteins, and thus the structure and integrity of dendritic spines (Regan & Cho, 2019).

5.2.2 INDIRECT TAU SYNAPTO-TOXICITY

Given the key role of tau as a microtubule-associated protein, under pathological conditions, hyperphosphorylated tau interferes with axonal cytoskeletal structure and thus the transport of key cargoes (for example synaptic vesicle proteins, mitochondria, and ion channels) to the cell body and axon terminal. This disruption to the normal transport machinery leads to a lack of vital molecules for the normal functioning of synapses (Kneynsberg et al., 2017). Pathological tau also interferes with normal functioning of mitochondria (particularly of complex I), in doing so it has a deleterious effect on calcium homeostasis (and therefore neurotransmitter release), and postsynaptic dendritic integrity (Eckert et al., 2014; Kopeikina et al., 2011; Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2011a; Yu et al., 2017).

Despite the physiological function of tau as an intracellular microtubule-associated protein, various species of tau have been observed in the extracellular environment, the so-called extracellular tau, albeit in smaller concentrations. Under normal physiological conditions, extracellular tau is found in the interstitial fluid and the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of mice (Yamada et al., 2011), and in human brains (Magnoni et al., 2012). Extracellular tau is also found in the hyperphosphorylated form in the CSF of patients with PSP and CBD, where reductions in the CSF are directly correlated with the severity and rate of disease progression in PSP (Rojas et al., 2018). In its hyperphosphorylated form, extracellular tau can cause synaptic toxicity in three ways: first, by directly interfering with calcium homeostasis, and therefore synaptic function (Gómez-Ramos et al., 2011b). Indeed clearance

of extracellular tau oligomers can reverse the deleterious effect on memory and locomotor deficits in mouse models of 4-repeat tauopathy with the P301L-MAPT mutation (Castillo-Carranza et al., 2014). Secondly, extracellular tau pathology can indirectly affect synaptic function through inflammation-induced synaptic toxicity (Reid et al., 2020). Mouse models of tauopathies support the idea that both extracellular tau pathology as well as astrocytic tau pathology contribute to glial degeneration, as a consequence leading to synaptic degeneration and loss (Amro et al., 2021; Blutstein & Haydon, 2014; Haydon, 2001; Kovacs, 2020; Vogels et al., 2019). Thirdly, ongoing synaptic toxicity can result from the intercellular propagation of pathology, which I review next.

5.3 TRANS-SYNAPTIC SPREAD OF TAU

Increasing evidence suggests that tau pathology can be transmitted from one cell to another through intercellular transmission in both in vitro and in vivo animal models (Clavaguera et al., 2009), following a prion-like hypothesis of spread (Goedert et al., 2017b; B. B. Holmes & Diamond, 2014). This process is dependent on intracellular tau released from the presynaptic membrane, the uptake of extracellular tau, and ongoing aggregate formation within the recipient cell through recruitment of endogenous tau ('seeding'). It has been suggested that under normal physiological conditions, tau is actively secreted predominantly by ectosomes, and a shift towards exosomal secretion occurs upon increasing cellular accumulation (Dujardin al., 2014). However, tau et hyperphosphorylated tau can also directly translocate through the plasma membrane into the extracellular space (Katsinelos et al., 2018). This process is accelerated in response to lysosomal dysfunction, nutrient deprivations, and changes in Golgi dynamics and membrane trafficking properties (Mohamed et al., 2017; Mohamed et al., 2014). Once in the extracellular space, tau is taken up by recipient cells either via bulk endocytosis (Evans et al., 2018; B. B. Holmes et al., 2013), receptor-mediated endocytosis (Gómez-Ramos et al., 2009; Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2012), through tunnelling nanotubes (Tardivel et al., 2016) or extracellular vesicle shuttles (Guix et al., 2018). Once in the recipient cell, pathologic tau has the ability to induce seeding (Guo & Lee, 2011; Mirbaha et al., 2015).

Although tau is toxic to synapses, the spread of tau pathology is dependent on synaptic connections. This concept has been confirmed both in animal models of Alzheimer's

disease (DeVos et al., 2018; Seemiller et al., 2021) and in the P301L mouse model of primary tauopathy (Ahmed et al., 2014; Polanco et al., 2018). In this respect seemingly distant neurons can affect each other's synaptic transmission if they are synaptically connected (for example cortical-subcortical connections, or cortico-cortical connections).

In clinical disorders, tau burden can be characterised by PET imaging, using a variety of radiotracers (Y. T. Wang & Edison, 2019). In patients with amyloid positive mild cognitive impairment for example, increased temporal lobe binding of the tau radioligand [¹⁸F]MK-6240 is associated with decreased synaptic density measured by the radioligand [¹¹C]UCB-J (Vanhaute et al., 2020). Similarly, in patients with Alzheimer's disease, Coomans et al, report reduced [¹¹C]UCB-J uptake, with increased uptake in the tau tracer [¹⁸F]AV-1451, but within subjects this relationship is modulated by the individual's neocortical tau load (Coomans et al., 2021). However, the pathology of Alzheimer's disease is multifaceted with amyloid and tau aggregation, vascular changes and neuroinflammation (Malpetti et al., 2020a; Spires-Jones & Hyman, 2014). In this chapter, I assess the *in vivo* relationship between tau burden and synaptic density in the primary tauopathies of PSP and amyloid negative CBS cohorts. As reviewed in previous chapters and above, animal models of tauopathy have illustrated the colocalisation of misfolded tau protein and synaptic loss at the synaptic bouton (Hanger et al., 2019; Pooler et al., 2014) but the tau-synapse association is yet to be determined *in vivo*.

Figure 5-2 illustrates my hypotheses. Previous studies suggest that the strength of connectivity within a region and between brain regions can promote the spread of tau pathology, in humans (Cope et al., 2018) as in preclinical models (Ahmed et al., 2014). Therefore, I hypothesise that brain areas with higher synaptic density would develop more tau pathology. I predict that the spatial distribution of pathology, as measured with the PET radioligand [¹⁸F]AV-1451, would be correlated with synaptic density, as measured with the PET radioligand [¹¹C]UCB-J. Since tauopathy in a region may impair efferent projections, a corollary hypothesis is that tau accumulation in one region (source region) leads to diaschisis characterised by reduced synaptic density in the areas to which it connects (target regions). I acknowledge the relatively low affinity of [¹⁸F]AV-1451 for 4-repeat tauopathy compared to Alzheimer's disease, and the off-target binding of this ligand within the basal ganglia. I therefore refer to its binding target as 'molecular pathology', covering tau and

non-tau targets. A second part of the model describes the consequence of pathology, which is to reduce synaptic density. The predicted result is a positive relationship between [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding and synaptic loss, negatively moderated by disease progression.



Figure 5-2. Schematic diagram illustrating the predicted toxic effect of tau on synaptic density. At a regional level (A) synaptic density promotes the spread of tau from one region to another (for example from Region 1 to Region 2). Tau is however toxic to synapses, such that at a regional level it leads to a loss of synapses as the disease progresses. (B) Tau burden within a given region therefore, depends on a region's baseline synaptic density: for example, Region 3 with a high baseline synaptic density, would accumulate more tau in the mild stages of disease. But as the disease progresses over time, to moderate and advanced stages (yellow and red in B, respectively), with increasing tau accumulation, tau induced synapto-toxicity occurs with a decline in the number of synapses within any given region. The prediction would therefore be that, whilst in mild disease the degree of tau accumulation is dependent on baseline synaptic density, as the disease progresses this relationship breaks down, moving towards a negative direction between tau accumulation and synaptic density.

5.4 Methods

5.4.1 PARTICIPANTS AND STUDY DESIGN

The current experiment and the experiments reported in Chapters 3 and 4 are part of the same study protocol. Thus, the participants, inclusion and exclusion criteria, and study procedure are as described in Chapter 2. In this chapter however, there are a few additional participants compared to Chapters 3-4; thus, the full sample available for assessment of the relationship between synaptic density and molecular pathology consisted of 19 controls, 12 patients with CBD, and 23 with PSP-Richardson's syndrome. Demographic details for this extended cohort are provided in Table 4-1. All participants underwent 3T MRI, [¹⁸F]AV-1451 PET, and [¹¹C]UCB-J PET.

5.4.2 NEUROIMAGING PRE-PROCESSING

The procedure for [¹¹C]UCB-J synthesis, PET data acquisition, image reconstruction and kinetic analysis is as described in Chapter 2, and published in Holland et al. (2020). [¹⁸F]AV-1451 synthesis and data acquisition followed the protocol described in Chapter 2.

5.4.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Differences in demographic and clinical variables between the diagnostic groups were tested using ANCOVA, and chi-square tests where appropriate. A linear mixed effects model was used to assess the overall relationship between [¹⁸F]AV-1451 and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}, and the effect of group (patients vs controls) and brain region on this relationship. Subsequently, the patient data were normalised against controls by subtracting the mean regional control values (for both PET ligands) from each individual patient to remove any off-target binding beyond that seen in the basal ganglia. For this analysis, regions of interest with previously reported off-target binding of [¹⁸F]AV-1451 (basal ganglia, and substantia nigra (Leuzy et al., 2019)) were excluded. To investigate the effect of individual variability on the relationship between [¹¹C]UCB-J and [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND}, a linear mixed effects model was used, allowing for an uncorrelated random slope and intercept per individual, with the interval between the two PET scans (in days) as a covariate of no interest. I subsequently extracted the slope of [¹¹C]UCB-J on [¹⁸F]AV-1451 for each individual and used this in a linear model with the PSP rating scale (a measure of disease severity) as the

independent variable, and age as a covariate of no interest. To explore the correlation between [11 C]UCB-J and [18 F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} between regions, I calculated a correlation matrix between cortical [18 F]AV-1451 binding, and synaptic density in cortical and subcortical regions. Analyses were performed with and without partial volume correction, yielding similar results. I focus on partial volume corrected BP_{ND} to limit the potential effect of atrophy on our ligand cross-correlation but present data without partial volume correction in the supplementary material (Appendix C). Statistical analyses were implemented in R (version 3.6.2).

5.5 Results

5.5.1 **Demographics**

The patients (PSP and CBD) and control groups were similar in age, sex, education and injected activity of [¹¹C]UCB-J and [¹⁸F]AV-1451 (Table 5-1). A typical cognitive profile for people with PSP and CBD was observed with impairment in verbal fluency, memory, and visuospatial domains of the ACE-R and MMSE.

| | Control | PSP | CBD | F (p) |
|---|---------------|---------------|---------------|-----------------|
| Gender (M:F) | 11:8 | 10:13 | 7:5 | ns ^a |
| Age at [¹¹ C]UCB-J PET in years | 68.9 (7.1) | 71.3 (8.6) | 70.9 (7.9) | ns |
| Symptom duration (years) | - | 3.9 (2.2) | 3.9 (2.1) | ns |
| Education (years) | 13.6 (2.8) | 12 (4.4) | 12.5 (3) | ns |
| ACE-R total (max. 100) | 96.7 (2.7) | 81.5 (12.7) | 81.2 (10.3) | 8.8 (<0.001) |
| Attention_Orientation (max .18) | 17.9 (0.3) | 15.8 (4) | 15.4 (5.2) | ns |
| Memory (max .26) | 24.6 (1.7) | 21 (6) | 18.5 (8) | 4.4 (0.02) |
| Fluency (max .14) | 12.8 (1.0) | 6.5 (3.3) | 7.3 (3.6) | 25.6 (<0.001) |
| Language (max .26) | 25.6 (0.8) | 22.2 (6.6) | 20.5 (8.3) | 3.3 (0.04) |
| Visuospatial (max .16) | 15.7 (0.6) | 12.3 (4.3) | 12.2 (4.6) | 5.7 (0.01) |
| MMSE (max. 30) | 29.4 (1.2) | 27.1 (2.6) | 26.6 (3.0) | 5.2 (0.01) |
| PSPRS (max. 100) | - | 34 (9.4) | 25.9 (12.4) | 4.6 (0.04) |
| Injected activity (MBq) | | | | |
| [¹¹ C]UCB-J | 370.7 (114.3) | 322.2 (86.0) | 320.4 (113.8) | ns |
| [¹⁸ F]AV-1451 | 182.3 (10.8) | 182.1 (11.4) | 186.1 (11.1) | ns |
| [¹¹ C]UCB-J and [¹⁸ F]AV-1451 PET scan interval (in days) | 157.2 (125.6) | 155.9 (129.2) | 45.5 (65.7) | 4.6 (0.02) |

Table 5-1. Demographics and neuropsychological profile for each participant cohort. Results are given as mean (and standard deviation) unless otherwise stated. PSP refers to patients with PSP-Richardson's syndrome. CBD refers to amyloid negative corticobasal syndrome. The F-statistic and p-values are derived from ANOVA. ACE-R: revised Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination, MMSE: Mini-mental State Examination, PSPRS: Progressive Supranuclear Palsy Rating Scale. ^a chi-squared test. ns = nonsignificant at p<0.05.

5.5.2 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} AND [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND}

In patients, there was a positive relationship between regional [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} (β =0.3, t=4, p<0.0003). There was a significant region-by-[¹⁸F]AV-1451 interaction (p<0.0001) driven by subregions of the frontal, parietal, temporal and occipital lobes, as well as the thalamus. There was no effect of PET scan interval on the overall significance of the model (p=0.7). There was individual variability in the slope of the relationship between [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} (individual grey lines in Figure 5-3A). The direction of this relationship in each individual (i.e. the slope of each grey line in Figure 5-3A) negatively correlated with disease severity (β = -0.01, t= -2.2, R= -0.34, p=0.03), independent of age (p=0.4) (Figure 5-3B). In other words, those patients with more severe disease displayed a less positive relationship between [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} derived from data without partial volume correction (Figure C1).



Figure 5-3. The association between synaptic density ([¹¹C]UCB-J) and molecular pathology ([¹⁸F]AV-1451) is a function of disease severity.

A) Scatter plot of [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} and [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} in 35 patients with PSP-Richardson's syndrome and amyloidnegative CBD (each grey line represents a patient) normalised against controls, across 73 regions of interest (excluding those with previously reported off-target binding, i.e. basal ganglia and substantia nigra); the dark black line in A depicts the overall fit of the linear mixed model, whilst grey lines represent individual patient participants. B) The slope for each individual (i.e. each grey line in A) is negatively correlated with disease severity (as measured with the PSP rating scale); R = -0.34, p < 0.03.

5.5.3 CROSS-REGIONAL CORRELATION BETWEEN [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} AND [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}

Synaptic density in a region is proposed to be affected by both local tau pathology and tau burden in connected regions from which it receives afferent projections. As a result, despite a positive correlation at a regional level, the synaptic density in any given region may be negatively affected by remote insult, with diaschisis between anatomically connected regions (illustrated schematically in Figure 5-2). As an exploratory analysis, the asymmetric Pearson's correlation matrix shown in Figure 5-4 was computed, between cortical $[^{18}F]AV-1451$ BP_{ND} (horizontal axis of matrix) and $[^{11}C]UCB-J$ BP_{ND} (vertical axis of matrix) in cortical and subcortical regions in patients. Here I show that overall, there are significant negative correlations between cortical (frontal, temporal, parietal, and occipital) ¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} and subcortical ¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} within the basal ganglia (nucleus accumbens, caudate nucleus and putamen). There were strong positive correlations between [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} within the thalamus where strong local connections exist (Figure 5-4). Subcortical [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} in the matrix in Figure 5-4 were not included, given the off-target binding in these regions which undermines the interpretability of the signal. However, I include these regions as well as other subregions in the larger correlation matrix in Supplementary Figure D3 for completeness. Similar findings are seen using BP_{ND} from data without partial volume correction (Supplementary Figure C2).



Figure 5-4. Cortical pathology is negatively correlated with subcortical synaptic density. Correlation between [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} in cortical regions (horizontal axis) and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} in a target region (vertical axis) both cortically and subcortically in patients. Only significant correlations (at p<0.05 uncorrected for multiple comparisons) are shown in this figure. The colour and width/shade of the ellipse depict the direction (i.e. blue = negative, red = positive correlations), and strength (i.e. narrow darker ellipses show stronger correlations), respectively.

5.6 **DISCUSSION**

In this chapter I have identified a complex relationship between molecular pathology (estimated with [¹⁸F]AV-1451 PET) and synaptic density (estimated with [¹¹C]UCB-J PET), in patients with the primary tauopathies of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy and Corticobasal Degeneration (inferred *in vivo* from amyloid-negative corticobasal syndrome). There are three principal results: (i) regions with higher synaptic density have higher pathology, (ii) within regions, synaptic density becomes less dependent on [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding as disease severity increases, and (iii) between regions, increased cortical [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding is associated with reduced subcortical synaptic density. I interpret these three findings in the context of connectivity-based susceptibility to tauopathy, synaptotoxic effects of tauopathy, and cortico-subcortical diaschisis, respectively.

The effect of 4-repeat hyperphosphorylated tau pathology such as PSP and CBD, on synaptic function and density is complex. It involves both direct and indirect pathways of injury with changes in cellular physiology preceding the loss of neurons. Through direct pathways, pathological tau interferes with dendritic morphology, synaptic protein expression, the number of NMDA (N-methyl-D-Aspartate) and AMPA (α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid) receptors on the presynaptic membrane, mitochondrial function, synaptic vesicle numbers, and ultimately synaptic loss (reviewed in Chapter 1 and in Jadhav et al. (2015)). Tau also directly affects the axon cytoskeleton and trafficking, as well as the soma (Kneynsberg et al., 2017). Indirectly, hyperphosphorylated tau adversely affects the functioning of the neuronal support network, including glia cells and astrocytes (Kovacs, 2020; Reid et al., 2020). These events are affected by the stage and severity of the disease process, and in relation to regional differences in connectivity which I discuss next (concepts schematically illustrated in Figure 5-2).

There was a positive relationship between the binding of [¹¹C]UCB-J and [¹⁸F]AV-1451 such that areas of the brain with higher synaptic density develop higher pathology. This accords with preclinical and clinical models of tauopathy in which the strength of local network connectivity facilitates the transneuronal spread of tau pathology (Ahmed et al.,

2014; Clavaguera et al., 2013; Clavaguera et al., 2009; Cope et al., 2018; Polanco et al., 2018).

However, the relationship between tau accumulation and synaptic density changes with disease progression, at least as inferred from the cross-sectional moderation by disease severity. With increasing scores on the PSP rating scale, synaptic density becomes less dependent on local tau accumulation. In other words, in areas with relatively low tau accumulation synaptic density is minimally affected, whereas in areas with higher tau accumulation there is reduction of synaptic density as the disease progresses and this preferentially occurs in synapse rich areas. As the disease progresses, other pathological processes may contribute to synaptic loss, such as inflammation, another predictor of prognosis and mediator of synaptic loss (Malpetti et al., 2021). There is therefore not a simple linear relationship between tau accumulation and synaptic density in moderate and advanced disease. This observation accords with human post mortem and animal studies. In post mortem studies of the related tauopathy of Alzheimer's disease, there is a biphasic synaptic protein response during disease progression, with increases in synaptophysin/syntaxin/SNAP-25 in early Braak stages and synaptic loss observed only when the disease has progressed to the neocortex (Mukaetova-Ladinska et al., 2000). In the P301L transgenic mouse model of PSP-like tauopathy, there is a differential loss of synapses, as well as synaptic proteins, depending on disease stage (Kopeikina et al., 2013).

To understand the biphasic relationship between tau accumulation and synaptic density, one must consider other key players in synaptotoxicity in tauopathies, such as neuroinflammation (Palleis et al., 2020). Recent *in vivo* studies have confirmed the regional co-localisation of inflammation and [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding in PSP (Malpetti et al., 2020b), in line with previous *in vivo* (Gerhard et al., 2006; Gerhard et al., 2004), and post mortem reports of the tight interplay between neuroinflammation and tau accumulation in tauopathies (Kovacs, 2020). There is growing evidence that these two pathological processes affect synaptic function both independently and synergistically (Vogels et al., 2019).

The relationship between tauopathy and synaptic density is even more intriguing when considering the change in synaptic density in one region as a function of pathology in

another. There are strong correlations between $[^{11}C]UCB$ -J binding within the basal ganglia and [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding in most cortical areas. The reverse association, between subcortical [¹⁸F]AV-1451 and cortical [¹¹C]UCB-J binding is also observed (Supplementary Figure C3) but is dismissed here as uninterpretable in view of subcortical off-target binding of [¹⁸F]AV-1451. The significant negative correlation between cortical [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding and synaptic density in the basal ganglia could be a reflection of severe disease in the basal ganglia and accumulating pathology in the neocortex. In other words, synapses are severely affected in the basal ganglia as one of the earliest sites of pathology, with pathology spreading and accumulating in synapse-rich areas of the brain, for example the neocortex. A second explanation is that loss of descending cortico-striatal axons due to cortical pathology, may cause diaschisis, affecting subcortical synaptic density even further. Previous reports of diffusion tensor imaging in patients with PSP/CBD have revealed extensive white matter abnormalities (within the main association fibres) beyond the degree of cortical atrophy (Borroni et al., 2008; Padovani et al., 2006) resulting in loss of cortical afferents onto subcortical structures. A third, though not mutually exclusive, explanation is the weakening of cortical-subcortical functional connectivity resulting from dysfunctional synapses rather than synaptic loss as suggested from previous functional connectivity studies in PSP (Cope et al., 2018; Gardner et al., 2013).

Although at a regional level there is a positive correlation between [¹¹C]UCB-J and [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND}, synaptic function or synaptotoxic tau oligomers are not being directly measured here. This caveat must be borne in mind when interpreting PET data. It is the preclinical models that have shown that oligomers of tau are toxic to synaptic function, even in the absence of tau polymers/fibrils (Acquarone et al., 2019; Fá et al., 2016; Kaniyappan et al., 2017; Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015; Niewiadomska et al., 2021). By the time tau aggregates are established, oligomers of tau are expected cortically, and perhaps interfering with cortical function and the integrity of descending axons.

There are a few limitations of this experimental chapter. First, the low affinity of [¹⁸F]AV-1451 for PSP and CBD 4-repeat tau. Even where this radioligand recapitulates the distribution of post mortem neuropathology in PSP and CBD, and binds PSP 4-repeat tau, the affinity is very much lower than for 3-repeat tau in Alzheimer's disease (Soleimani-Meigooni et al., 2020; Y. T. Wang & Edison, 2019). Second, there is well-established off-

target binding of [¹⁸F]AV-1451, particularly within subcortical structures where monoamine oxidase is present. Off-target binding is most prominent in the basal ganglia which I excluded before running the statistical analysis in this chapter, in addition to normalising the patient data against controls. I included these regions in the detailed descriptive correlation matrices in Supplementary Figure C2 and 3 for completeness sake, noting the strong negative correlations between cortical [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} and subcortical [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}. Third, I note that in PET studies of neurodegeneration with atrophy, grey matter volume loss can affect the interpretation of PET signals. However, synaptic loss in PSP and CBD occurs even in areas of the brain without discernible atrophy on MRI as shown in Figure 3-4 and Figure 4-3. Nevertheless, a stringent partial volume correction method (GTM) has been used, to minimise the effect of atrophy on the ligand cross-correlations. Of note, the data without partial volume correction yield similar results in all the main analyses (Supplementary Figure C1 and 2). Lastly, the cross-sectional design of this study limits the interpretation of the dynamic relationship between tau accumulation and synaptic loss. Although I include patients at various stages of their illness, a longitudinal design is necessary to test the proposed dynamic relationship, and the mediation of synaptic loss by progressive tauopathy.

In conclusion, I have demonstrate a widespread positive association between [¹⁸F]AV-1451 and [¹¹C]UCB-J binding in patients with symptomatic PSP and amyloid-negative corticobasal syndromes. Individual variability in this association correlates with disease severity. The complex relationship between tau accumulation and synaptic density *in vivo* may explain changes in cognitive and motor physiology. I hope that these insights will inform the design of new clinical trials to arrest PSP and CBD.

6 GENERAL DISCUSSION

Summary

The final chapter of this thesis brings together the hypotheses and evidence presented in Chapters 3 to 5, summarising the key findings, and emphasising how they advance our understanding of synaptic pathology in neurodegeneration. I then integrate this work with the prior literature, discuss significant limitations, and provide directions for future research. Specifically, I discuss (i) the key role of synaptic pathology as an early pathological mechanism in primary tauopathies and other neurodegenerative disorders, and (ii) therapeutic options for the maintenance and recovery of synapses in neurodegeneration.

6.1 **REVIEW OF THE PRINCIPAL FINDINGS**

In the introduction to this thesis, I proposed that synaptic loss is critical to the pathogenesis of primary tauopathies. In chapter 3, I tested the specific hypothesis that synaptic density is reduced by the primary tauopathies of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy (including Richardson's syndrome, PSP-RS) and amyloid-negative corticobasal syndrome (interpreted as due to CBD), and that this reduction correlates with disease severity. A new cohort of patients with PSP and CBD, as well as healthy controls underwent synaptic PET imaging with [¹¹C]UCB-J, structural MRI imaging, as well as neuropsychological assessment. A general linear model assessed group differences in synaptic density (patients versus controls), and relationship between synaptic density and disease severity. I confirmed a significant loss of synapses in the patient cohort, even in areas of the brain without significant volume loss. I illustrated that synaptic loss was highly correlated with functionally relevant measures of cognition, and with disease severity. The results are the first to demonstrate in vivo synaptic loss in primary tauopathies; they enable better understanding of the early pathophysiology of these neurodegenerative diseases, with outcomes directly relevant to the design of clinical trials aiming to restore or maintain synapses.

Having observed presynaptic synaptic loss, in chapter 4, I tested whether loss of the presynaptic compartment relates to changes to the postsynaptic compartment, in terms of loss of dendritic complexity as measured with the Orientation Dispersion Imaging (ODI) with MRI. I confirmed that in both PSP and CBD, there is widespread reduction in ODI, which is tightly linked to the loss of presynaptic SV2A (in presynaptic vesicles). The ODI results offer the possibility of utilising less invasive methods as complementary and a surrogate marker of synaptic density in future clinical studies.

A third question addressed in this thesis, was how changes in synaptic density relate to pathology in PSP and CBD. In chapter 5, I show a complex correlation between synaptic loss and pathology, mediated by disease severity. Furthermore, I report a negative correlation between molecular pathology in one region and synaptic densities in areas of the brain that are structurally and functionally connected with it.
The findings here are in accord with other neurodegenerative disorders, and suggest synaptic toxicity is a common pathogenic feature, offering a potential target for new therapeutic strategies.

6.2 SYNAPTIC LOSS IN PRIMARY TAUOPATHIES

The in vivo loss of synapses in corticobasal degeneration (CBD) and Progressive Supranuclear Palsy-Richardson's syndrome (PSP) is significant and widespread (chapter 3). It is seen in the brain areas identified as those affected early in the disease (for example basal ganglia (Kovacs et al., 2020)), and areas associated with minimal volume loss (for example frontal cortical regions). This latter finding suggests synaptic pathology in some areas begins before the large scale cell death, and may be as result of toxic oligomeric tau, as evident from animal models of tauopathy (Fá et al., 2016; Kaniyappan et al., 2017; Niewiadomska et al., 2021). The synaptic loss is potentially identifiable in both the preand postsynaptic compartments (chapter 4). This is suggested in vivo in PSP and CBD, through the tight coupling between [¹¹C]UCB-J binding (presynaptic density), and the Orientation Dispersion Index (ODI; measuring postsynaptic dendritic complexity). However, the presynaptic change in both patient groups had a higher effect size than changes in ODI (Cohen's d, Figure 4-3C and Figure 4-4C). This observation may in part, be due to $[^{11}C]UCB$ -J being a more specific and accurate surrogate for presynaptic density as it directly binds a presynaptic vesicle protein (Finnema et al., 2016), than ODI is for postsynaptic complexity, where it measures structural integrity and complexity rather than specific postsynaptic proteins (H. Zhang et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the significant reduction in presynaptic density, and dendritic complexity is in accordance with animal models of tauopathy (Clare et al., 2010; Herms & Dorostkar, 2016; Tyebji & Hannan, 2017) and in vivo studies of other neurodegenerative disorders where synaptic and dendritic pathologies are interlinked and key pathogenic mechanisms (M. K. Chen et al., 2018; Matuskey et al., 2020; Mecca et al., 2020; Nicastro et al., 2020).

Synapses play a central role in memory formation and cognition (Stewart et al., 2014; Südhof, 2004). I recapitulate this in PSP and CBD (chapter 3), where a strong correlation between *in vivo* global synaptic density, and global cognition and disease severity is observed (Figure 3-5). This close correlation between *in vivo* synaptic density and cognition has been replicated in the closely related tauopathy of Alzheimer's disease, where reduced

hippocampal binding of the synaptic PET ligand [¹¹C]UCB-J is associated with lower episodic memory and higher scores on the clinical dementia rating scale (Mecca et al., 2020).

Tau-induced synaptic toxicity is well documented in animal models, acting through direct and indirect pathogenic mechanisms (chapter 5). In chapter 5, I illustrate that the binding of [¹¹C]UCB-J colocalises, and is strongly positively correlated, with that of [¹⁸F]AV-1451, suggesting that areas of the brain with a higher synaptic density, harbour more pathology. Although the interpretation of the signal from [¹⁸F]AV-1451 PET in 4-repeat tauopathies is currently under debate (chapter 5), the *in vivo* colocalisation of the two measures is in line with animal and post mortem studies (Spires-Jones & Hyman, 2014; Vogels et al., 2019). This positive correlation between synaptic density and the underlying pathology has also been observed in Alzheimer's disease where, amyloid PET ligand binding is positively associated with *in vivo* hippocampal synaptic density (O'Dell et al., 2021). In PSP and CBD, the positive correlation between synaptic density and molecular pathology is moderated by disease severity (Figure 5-3B), similar to findings in a recent [¹¹C]UCB-J PET study in Alzheimer's disease; Coomans *et* al. report that the *in vivo* relationship between cortical tau PET binding and synaptic density is moderated by each individual's cortical tau burden, such that with higher tau load, the relationship becomes negative (Coomans et al., 2021).

Although connectivity is not directly measured in Chapter 5, it is central to the interpretation of the results. For example, despite synaptic loss in PSP and CBD, it is possible that the functional connectivity of the remaining synapses is strengthened as a compensatory mechanism, therefore promoting accrual of pathology locally (at least in the early stages of disease). Indeed, increased cortical-cortical functional connectivity, as measured with resting-state function MRI, in PSP and CBD has been previously reported (Cope et al., 2018; Filippi et al., 2019). Long-distance functional connections (for example cortical-subcortical connections) are however weakened in primary tauopathies (Filippi et al., 2019; Gardner et al., 2013) providing a potential explanation for the negative correlations observed between cortical pathology and subcortical synaptic density Figure 5-4.

Synaptic pathology is not unique to the primary tauopathies of PSP and CBD. Indeed, it is a central pathogenic mechanism underlying the cognitive deficits, and clinical phenotypes

of many neurodegenerative diseases, as well as a feature of the neuropsychiatric disorders depression and schizophrenia. Together these disorders place a considerable social, emotional, and financial burden on sufferers, care providers, and health services. There is therefore an urgent need to develop therapeutic strategies to delay or halt progression of this group of conditions. Given the critical role synapses play in the pathogenesis, they provide the perfect platform for the development of synapse-specific therapeutics with a much broader application alongside disease-specific treatment advances. In the following section, I will review the central aspects of synaptic dysfunction in prevalent neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and Lewy body dementia, frontotemporal lobe dementia, and prion disease.

6.3 Synaptic Loss in other neurodegenerative disorders

Synapses are susceptible to a range of neurodegenerative stimuli, from trauma to infectious agents to underlying genetic risk factors. Given their key role in learning and memory (reviewed in Kandel et al. (2014)), any persistent perturbations in their normal physiology, as seen in neurodegeneration or chronic psychiatric disorders, result in malfunction and degeneration contributing to clinical symptoms. The increasingly used term 'synaptopathy' refers to the group of disorders where the above process occurs early and is a central pathogenic mechanism – I review these below:

6.3.1 ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the commonest cause of neurodegenerative dementia (accounting for 60% of cases (Ferri et al., 2005)) and a leading cause of global disease burden. It is characterised pathologically by abnormal tau accumulation in neurofibrillary tangles (mixed 3 and 4 repeat) and the presence of extracellular amyloid-beta deposition (Selkoe & Hardy, 2016); clinically it presents with progressive memory loss and behavioural changes (Montine et al., 2012). The pathological hallmarks of AD however, do not correlate well with the severity of dementia or neuronal loss (Kril et al., 2002), unlike synaptic loss which occurs early in the pathogenesis (Scheff et al., 2007), is closely associated with cognitive impairment (Scheff et al., 2006; Terry et al., 1991), and directly related to the duration of dementia (Blennow et al., 1996; Ingelsson et al., 2004)

There is a wealth of evidence for synaptic loss in AD from animal models, post mortem data (reviewed in Honer (2003) and De Wilde et al. (2016)), and recent in vivo studies using the presynaptic ligand [¹¹C]UCB-J or closely related analogues of this (M. K. Chen et al., 2018; Coomans et al., 2021; Mecca et al., 2020; O'Dell et al., 2021). Significant reductions in synaptic density are seen in the hippocampus, fronto-temporal cortices, the cingulum and the entorhinal cortex, with the earliest and the most significant alterations in presynaptic proteins, seen within the hippocampus. The ubiquitous presynaptic protein synaptophysin is widely studied in neurodegeneration, but the extent of synaptic damage is more widespread and involves many other key proteins, albeit to varying degrees. Some key affected proteins in AD are those involved in the SNARE (soluble NSF attachment protein receptor) machinery including: SNAP-25, VAMP and syntaxin, key to the fusion of synaptic vesicles with the presynaptic membrane and neurotransmitter release. Other affected presynaptic proteins include the Rab family, calcium sensory proteins, and those key to the neuronal cytoskeleton. Likewise at the postsynaptic membrane, reductions in synaptic proteins responsible for the postsynaptic scaffolding and dendritic structure, as well as glutamate receptors and mitochondrial proteins, are seen. Additionally, amyloid beta oligomers engage synaptic receptors (Fyn, CDK5, and GSKβ) that trigger neurotoxic signalling pathways, leading to neuronal autophagy (reviewed in Honer (2003) and De Wilde et al. (2016)).

Whilst both tau tangles and amyloid plaques are known to cause neuronal loss, the degree to which the latter occurs exceeds that of tau tangles suggesting that tangles are not necessary for neuronal death in AD (Gómez-Isla et al., 1997). The toxic pathways leading to synaptic dysfunction and loss are in part due to the direct and indirect deleterious effects posed by both pathological tau and beta amyloid at the synapse (Spires-Jones & Hyman, 2014). However, whilst the loss of some synaptic proteins is directly linked to neurofibrillary tangles, for example synaptophysin (Callahan & Coleman, 1995), the loss of others such as Rab3A is not (Blennow et al., 1996). Indeed, it is tau oligomers that are responsible for the majority of the toxic damage caused at the synapse both directly (Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015), and also indirectly by interfering with microtubule assembly, neuronal cytoskeleton, axonal transport and the integrity of the nucleus membrane, thereby jeopardising the DNA transcription and translation machinery (reviewed in (Niewiadomska et al., 2021)). Similarly, synaptophysin immunoreactivity in mouse models of AD, show

an intact signal in response to amyloid beta fibrils and monomers (Ishibashi et al., 2006), but with a significant reduction in response to amyloid beta oligomers, where the latter is found to be a predictor of synaptic change in the entorhinal cortex and super frontal gyrus (Lue et al., 1999). These studies suggest that, as well as in their fibrillar and monomeric forms, amyloid beta and pathogenic tau in their soluble and oligomeric forms are especially toxic to synapses similar to observations seen in the P301L mouse model of primary tauopathy (Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015). Recent *in vivo* PET studies in AD, confirm AD region specific synaptic loss colocalising with PET radioligands targeting amyloid plaques (O'Dell et al., 2021) and neurofibrillary tangles (Coomans et al., 2021); these observations are in line with preclinical data, however we are as yet unable to image oligomers *in vivo* where the association with synaptic loss may be greater, echoing *in vitro* findings.

6.3.2 FRONTOTEMPORAL DEMENTIA

Frontotemporal dementia (FTD) is a clinical syndrome characterised by changes in personality, behaviour, and language (Gorno-Tempini et al., 2011; Rascovsky et al., 2007). It was formerly known clinically as Pick's disease, although this term is now generally reserved for the particular pathological entity with 3-repeat tau aggregation linked to mutations in the microtubule-assisted tau protein (MAPT) gene (Irwin et al., 2016). Other causes of frontotemporal dementia include TDP-43 inclusions or fused-in-sarcoma (FUS) pathology starting in but not limited to the frontal and temporal lobes and extending to include the rest of the brain with disease progression (Rohrer et al., 2011). FTD falls within the spectrum of frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndromes (Figure 1-2), sharing phenotypic and pathological features with PSP and CBD (Chapter 1).

Genetically, hexanucleotide repeat expansions of the chromosome 9 open reading frame 72 (C9orf72), and mutations in the granulin, TAR DNA-binding protein (TDP43), fused-in sarcoma (FUS), and MAPT gene may cause either a behavioural variant FTD syndrome, motor neuron disease (MND), mixture of FTD-MND, or FTD and parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17 (Mackenzie et al., 2011; Rohrer et al., 2015). Reductions in synaptophysin immunochemistry in FTD was first reported in 1995, in a regionally specific manner including the superficial layers of the prefrontal cortex but not in parietal, inferior temporal or posterior regions (Brun et al., 1995; Liu & Brun, 1996). Since then, reductions in other synaptic vesicle proteins Rab3A, synaptotagmin, synapsin-1, and presynaptic plasma

membrane proteins SNAP-25 and syntaxin-1, within the upper but not deeper layers of the frontal cortex have been reported, as well as reduced CSF synaptic marker neuronal pentraxin-2 (van der Ende et al., 2020). The postsynaptic compartment in FTD is also affected where marked reductions in dendritic spine numbers in the apical dendrites of pyramidal neurons are seen (I. Ferrer, 1999). Using a more sensitive protein staining and quantification method such as ELISA (enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay), Lipton *et* al. have reported a more widespread loss of synaptic proteins extending beyond the frontal lobes, into the tempro-parietal lobes, albeit in a small sample of post mortem brains of patients with FTD (Lipton et al., 2001).

Animal models of primary tauopathies, such as the P301S (Hoffmann et al., 2014) or rTG4510 models (Rocher et al., 2010), harbour human MAPT gene mutations responsible for some phenotypes of frontotemporal lobe dementia and PSP-like disorders. Both these models, feature mutated tau oligomers and tangles, present with synaptic dysfunction and dendritic pathology in the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus, and show difficulties in learning and memory (Kaniyappan et al., 2017; Liu & Brun, 1996; Menkes-Caspi et al., 2015; Schindowski et al., 2006).

Other protein aggregates associated with FTD, TDP-43, FUS, ubiquitin and p62 positive inclusions, have all been observed within dendritic spines (Brettschneider et al., 2012). In the transgenic mouse model harbouring the ubiquilin-2 mutation seen in some patients with FTD (UBQLN2P^{497H}), ubiquitin and p62 positive inclusions within dendrites are associated with dendritic spine pathology, synaptic dysfunction, and cognitive deficits (Gorrie et al., 2014).

6.3.3 PARKINSON'S DISEASE AND LEWY BODY DEMENTIA

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disease, characterised pathologically by the presence of intraneuronal alpha-synuclein containing Lewy bodies (Spillantini et al., 1997). Clinically it presents with a characteristic movement disorder typically manifesting as bradykinesia, rigidity, tremor and postural instability (Postuma et al., 2015), and later in the disease course cognitive decline (Williams-Gray et al., 2009). Lewy body pathology, the hallmark of PD, occurs predominantly in the substantia nigra *pars compacta* but it is also found in the locus coeruleus and is associated with cell loss (Halliday et al., 1990). As with other neurodegenerative disorders, synaptic

protein reductions in PD are observed in post mortem brains of patients, in particular reductions in the synaptosomal-associated protein 25 (SNAP25) which provides the driving force for synaptic vesicle fusion, and docking (Bereczki et al., 2016). Synaptic protein dysfunction and reductions in PD are as a result of direct pathological aggregates of alpha-synuclein but also the downstream effect of dysfunctional proteins from PD-linked genetic mutations.

Synaptic dysfunction is a key pathogenic mechanism in PD in two respects (reviewed in Picconi et al. (2012), Pienaar et al. (2012), Nguyen et al. (2019), and Koziorowski et al. (2021)). First, alpha-synuclein (encoded by the SNCA gene) normally resides in the presynaptic compartment, promoting SNARE-complex assembly (Burré et al., 2010), and thus central to the regulation of synaptic activity, plasticity, synaptic vesicle pool maintenance and trafficking. Mutations in the synuclein protein and the subsequent aggregation in the presynaptic compartment, redistributes proteins of the presynaptic SNAR complex, and therefore interferes with synaptic vesicle fusion, and exo- and endocytosis (Bridi & Hirth, 2018; Garcia-Reitböck et al., 2010; Yavich et al., 2004), manifesting as cognitive dysfunction (Howlett et al., 2015).

Second, PD-related genetic mutations in LRRK2, DJ1, PINK1, and PRKN genes, are deleterious to the harmonious interaction between synaptic vesicle proteins (including SV2A) involved in synaptic vesicle transport (Abeliovich & Gitler, 2016; Belluzzi et al., 2012; Plowey & Chu, 2011). Mutations in the above genes therefore reduce synaptic vesicle trafficking and neurotransmitter release (Esposito et al., 2012). Other recently identified PD-linked genes involved in synaptic endocytosis are also thought to contribute to PD pathogenesis. Such genes include DNAJC6 (encoding auxilin (Olgiati et al., 2016)), SYNJ1 (encoding synaptojanin-1 (Quadri et al., 2013)), and SH3GL2 (encoding endophilin A1 (Chang et al., 2017)). Similar to PSP pathogenesis, LRRK2 mutations play a particular role in PD pathogenesis by interfering with the functioning of other PD-linked gene products. For example, in a drosophila model of PD, LRRK2 mutations lead to abnormal phosphorylation of endophilin A1, and therefore interferes with its interaction with synaptotagmin-1 (Islam et al., 2016), and in mouse models lead to reductions in synaptic vesicle density (Xiong et al., 2018).

Observations from animal models and post mortem studies have recently been confirmed *in vivo* with UCB-J PET, where reduced binding are reported in subcortical areas (substantia nigra, caudate, locus coeruleus), as well as in the cingulate and the prefrontal cortex (Andersen et al., 2021; Matuskey et al., 2020). Of note, no differences in volumetric measures were observed between patients and controls despite the significant loss of synapses; this is in line with preclinical data where synaptic dysfunction is seen before overt neuronal loss (Janezic et al., 2013). Although Matuskey *et* al. did not observe a correlation with clinical measures (possibly due to a small sample size and absence of participants with a clinical diagnosis of PD dementia), Andersen *et* al report a positive correlation between synaptic density and executive cognitive domains in patients with Parkinson's dementia (Andersen et al., 2021).

Similar to Parkinson's disease, Lewy Body Dementia (LBD) is a neurodegenerative disorder associated with an underlying alpha-synucleinopathy. Clinically it is characterised by parkinsonism, early cognitive dysfunction, recurrent visual hallucinations, and rapid eye movement sleep behaviour disorder (McKeith et al., 2017). Despite a more aggressive form of cognitive dysfunction (Oesterhus et al., 2014; Williams et al., 2006), brain atrophy is less pronounced in LBD compared to AD (Mak et al., 2015). Synaptic pathology has therefore been proposed as a central pathogenic mechanism. Indeed, animal models of LBD (Kramer & Schulz-Schaeffer, 2007), and post mortem data (Bereczki et al., 2016) confirm presynaptic protein and dendritic spine loss, contributing to cognitive dysfunction. Bereczki et al. report a significant reduction in the concentration of neurogranin (a postsynaptic protein involved in the regulation of synaptic transmission through binding to calmodulin), the presynaptic vesicle protein Rab3A (reflective of the recycling pool of synaptic vesicles), and SNAP-25, with the latter two correlating with cognitive decline (Bereczki et al., 2016). Recent in vivo [¹¹C]UCB-J PET studies have reported reduced synaptic density within the substantia nigra and cortical regions (Andersen et al., 2021; Nicastro et al., 2020), correlating with clinical measures (Andersen et al., 2021) in the absence of overt atrophy.

6.3.4 HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE

Huntington's disease (HD) is a neurodegenerative disorder caused by a mutation in the huntingtin gene causing a trinucleotide repeat expansion, presenting with a movement

disorder and cognitive dysfunction (F. O. Walker, 2007). HD provides an opportunity to study the early preclinical phase of neurodegeneration in presymptomatic individuals carrying the culprit mutation, and also in mouse models where copy numbers of the trinucleotide expansion can be controlled giving rise to a spectrum of clinical severity. The key pathological hallmark of HD is the degeneration of the striatum with selective vulnerability of medium-spiny neurons which receive significant cortical projections (de la Monte et al., 1988); under normal physiology these cortico-striatal projections are rich in the protein huntingtin (Fusco et al., 1999). Abnormal functioning of these projections are evident even in the preclinical phase where neuronal loss is absent (reviewed in Cepeda et al. (2007) and in Levine et al. (2004)), suggesting that synaptic pathology plays a key role in the early pathogenesis of HD. In transgenic HD mouse models (e.g. R6/2), and in patients with HD, the concentration of complexin II (a protein that regulates fusion between synaptic vesicles and the presynaptic membrane) is reduced in neurons expressing mutant huntingtin (Morton & Edwardson, 2001). Similarly, the phosphorylation of synapsin 1 (a presynaptic protein that attaches to the cytoskeleton and involved in vesicle exocytosis), is also significantly reduced in neurons expressing mutant huntingtin (Xu et al., 2013). Postsynaptically, mutant huntingtin expressed in the R6/1 transgenic mouse model, results in reductions in PSD-95 (a membrane associated kinase, acting as the major scaffolding protein involved in dendritic spine changes and synaptic plasticity) (Nithianantharajah & Hannan, 2013).

At the synapse, under normal physiology, huntingtin interacts with vesicular structures such as clathrin-coated vesicles, endosomal compartments, and microtubules (Velier et al., 1998), and in its mutant form therefore, disrupts neurotransmitter synthesis, transport and release (reviewed in Tyebji and Hannan (2017)). At the postsynaptic membrane, clathrin, via its adaptor protein 2 (AP2), mediates neurotransmitter receptor surface expression. AP-2, along with huntingtin and huntingtin-interacting protein-1, bind to AMPA and NMDA receptor for internalisation (Metzler et al., 2007); mutant huntingtin disturbs this physiological interaction and thus interferes with signal transduction between the pre- and postsynaptic compartments (Milnerwood et al., 2010).

Transgenic mouse models of HD harbouring mutant huntingtin, exhibit changes in membrane potential leading to changes in synaptic input (Stern, 2011). The latter leads to an imbalance in inhibitory and excitatory inputs (Spampanato et al., 2008) thus causing

alterations in long-term depression and long-term potentiation and short-term plasticity in the frontotemporal cortices (Cummings et al., 2007; Dallérac et al., 2011), reflective of the cognitive impairment seen clinically.

An additional deleterious effect of mutant huntingtin is in inducing alterations in the activity of the brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), and its transport along the axon. BDNF has a central role in synaptic plasticity and synaptic health (reviewed in Tyebji and Hannan (2017)) by interacting with other key proteins and regulating intracellular calcium stores, but also through inducing change in neurite morphology and spine density (Herms & Dorostkar, 2016). This pathogenic mechanism has been of interest therapeutically. For example, in mouse models, treatment with long-term BDNF increases spine density in the hippocampal CA1 region (Tyler & Pozzo-Miller, 2001), and enlarges dendritic spines at glutamatergic synapses (Tanaka et al., 2008), offering a potential therapeutic avenue for synaptic restoration.

6.3.5 **PRION DISEASE**

Prion disease is caused by the misfolding of the prion protein, clinically manifesting as a rapidly progressive and fatal dementia with motor and psychiatric symptoms (Aguzzi et al., 2007). Post mortem brains of patients with prion disease, and mice transfected with the mutant prion protein show reduced synaptic density (reviewed in Senatore et al. (2013)); specifically, reduced synaptophysin, synapsin-1, syntaxin-1, SNAP-25, and PSD-95 (I. Ferrer, 1999, 2002). Mice transfected with the mutated prion protein show abnormal endoplasmic-reticulum dependent phosphorylation of key synaptic proteins, leading to degeneration of the presynaptic compartment and loss of dendritic spines in the postsynaptic compartment, preceding cell death (Jeffrey et al., 2000). This toxic effect of misfolded prion protein is thought to occur in response to large aggregates but also in response to monomers and soluble oligomers similar to observations in primary tauopathies (Simoneau et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2012).

6.3.6 NEUROPSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

Synaptic dysfunction forms a key part of neuropsychiatric disorders including autism spectrum disorders, schizophrenia and depression. Given the heterogeneity of neuropsychiatric disorders, it is suggested that mapping transdiagnostic symptoms to their underlying neurobiology and brain circuitry may have a greater translational impact than

identifying targets for categorical disorders (Cuthbert, 2014). One such common neurobiological pathway is synaptic pathology. For example, persistent high levels of stress is thought to result in synaptic loss in circuits underlying affective and cognitive disorders (Duman et al., 2016), potentially contributing to the symptoms of depression. Post mortem studies in patients with major depressive disorders show reduced synaptic density in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (Kang et al., 2012), consistent with *in vivo* evidence of network disruption in the prefrontal cortex and connected limbic regions (Kaiser et al., 2015; Murrough et al., 2016). Using [¹¹C]UCB-J PET imaging, Holmes *et* al. have recently shown reduced synaptic density in the anterior cingulate, hippocampus, and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, in patients with severe depression in accordance with post mortem data. They further show a negative correlation between prefrontal synaptic density and performance on working memory in line with previous reports in this condition (S. E. Holmes et al., 2019; Johnsen & Asbjørnsen, 2008). Chronic neuroinflammation has been identified as a major pathological mechanism underlying depression. Given the key role astrocytes play in synaptic maintenance, it is perhaps not surprising to see synaptic loss in response to a chronic state of neuroinflammation, and synaptotoxic chemical release (reviewed in Troubat et al. (2021)), similar to the synapto-toxic effects of neuroinflammation in PSP/CBD (Kovacs, 2020; Malpetti et al., 2020b).

Synaptic dysfunction and loss has been identified as a central pathogenic mechanism in schizophrenia – a neurodevelopmental psychiatric illness (much like autism spectrum and bipolar disorders). Schizophrenia presents with positive (delusions, hallucinations, and personality change) and negative symptoms (apathy, and withdrawal) (McCutcheon et al., 2020), and is associated with abnormal synaptic pruning and connections (Germann et al., 2021). Post mortem data illustrates reduced synaptic proteins (synaptic vesicle proteins, synaptophysin , synaptobrevin, PSD-95) and dendritic spine density (Osimo et al., 2019) in the frontal cortex and the anterior cingulate, in line with reduced *in vivo* [¹¹C]UCB-J PET signal in patients (Onwordi et al., 2020), and *in vivo* altered functional connectivity (Mwansisya et al., 2017).

In summary, the pathways leading to synaptic toxicity as a result of toxic species of diseasespecific protein aggregates, can affect the synapse either by interfering with the surrounding environment (e.g. mitochondrial dysfunction, and neuroinflammation) or by disturbing synaptic protein homeostasis (as discussed above). The two pathways are not mutually exclusive and occur in parallel with the end result of overwhelming neuronal stress, abnormal signal transmission, and weakening of functional connectivity. Common to the pathogenesis of the neurodegenerative disorders explored above, is the disturbance in synaptic function, stability and integrity, before structural breakdown. Therefore, subtle changes in functional processes within the synaptic compartments (for example, imbalances in synaptic proteostasis) have wide ranging and profound implications on synaptic plasticity, and connectivity. Synaptic manipulation, restoration and maintenance therefore provides a therapeutic platform early in neurodegeneration, before the onset of overt function impairment, as depicted schematically in Figure 1-3.

6.4 TARGETING THE SYNAPSE THERAPEUTICALLY

The maintenance, compensation and recovery of synapses in neurodegenerative processes may provide potential therapeutic avenues early in neurodegeneration (reviewed in J. Jackson et al. (2019)).

Early therapeutic approaches towards synaptic function have focused on synaptic maintenance by attempting to improve the efficiency of remaining synapses and boosting the levels of deficient neurotransmitters; for example by using the following pharmacological agents: anti-cholinesterase inhibitors (donepezil, rivastigmine) (Anand & Singh, 2013) and NMDA receptor antagonist memantine in mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease (Prentice et al., 2015); dopaminergic therapy for Parkinson's disease and Lewy Body dementia (Mao et al., 2020), PSP and CBD (albeit with a milder benefit compared to PD) (Stamelou & Höglinger, 2016); and selective reuptake inhibitors of serotonin (citalopram), and noradrenaline (atomoxetine) for the treatment of behavioural symptoms in frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndrome, Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease (reviewed in Rittman et al. (2016), Holland et al. (2021), and Shannon and Fraint (2015). The efficacy of the above agents are however limited by the number of intact synapses, and therefore their utility is restricted to use in mild to moderate disease.

Another approach is to promote synaptic compensation by encouraging the brain's natural ability to compensate for synapse loss in response to neurological diseases or insult. This may include increasing the size of remaining synapses (Scheff, 2003), upregulating synaptic proteins in mild disease (Mukaetova-Ladinska et al., 2000), changes in synapse

dynamics (J. S. Jackson et al., 2017), or changes in synaptic connectivity (Abuhassan et al., 2014). Key to these processes are the growth factors BDNF (brain derived growth factor), NGF (nerve growth factor), and VGF (non-acronymic; nerve growth factor regulated molecule), which are decreased or dysregulated in patients with AD (Cocco et al., 2010; I. Ferrer et al., 1999; Mufson et al., 1995), and HD (reviewed in Tyebji and Hannan (2017)). Intracerebroventricular infusion of NGF, in a phase 1 clinical trial of three AD patients, resulted in some cognitive improvement, albeit outweighed by the side effects relating to the method of delivery (Mandel, 2010). Further evidence on the efficacy of targeting the above neurotrophic factors therapeutically comes from animal studies. For example, in an amyloid precursor protein mouse model of AD, BDNF administration resulted in significant recovery of synaptic loss (Nagahara et al., 2009). Similar evidence is present in mouse models of HD (reviewed in Alberch et al. (2004)), however a recent randomised phase 2 clinical trial of cysteamine (which upregulates BDNF, and also acts through antioxidant mechanisms) failed to show a statistically significant improvement in motor scores in HD patients (Verny et al., 2017)- albeit synaptic density was not measured as an end-point in this trial.

Additional to modulating neurotrophic mechanisms, pathways promoting synaptic recovery have also proven promising. One such pathway includes the wnt pathway – a key modulator of synaptic integrity. Targeting this pathway for example, by blocking the effects of ROCK (Rho-associated kinase – a major cytoskeleton regulator) (Sellers et al., 2018) or DKK-1 (Dickkopt wnt signalling pathway inhibitor 1 – a negative regulator of the wnt signalling pathway) (Marzo et al., 2016) has illustrated positive results in restoring synapses in animal models.

There are currently two clinical trials with synaptic density (or surrogates thereof) as a trial endpoint. The LUCIDITY trial (NCT03446001) is a phase III trial in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease, employing FDG-PET and cognitive endpoints to assess the effects of a methylene blue derivative (known to disrupt tau-tau binding and therefore stop tau aggregation) on synaptic function, with results expected in mid-2022. UCB-J PET is being used in a second trial to measure the effects of the sigma2 receptor antagonist CT1812 on synaptic density in mild to moderate AD patients (NCT03493282) – results are expected later this year.

A third trial (NCT02167256) also used FDG-PET and cognitive endpoints, to assess the effects of the Src/Abl tyrosine kinase inhibitor saracatinib on synaptic function. Saracatinib (AZ0530) blocks the toxic effects of the fyn kinase pathway which affects tau hyperphosphorylation, as well as promotes beta amyloid toxicity (Kaufman et al., 2015; Nygaard et al., 2014). This drug had offered therapeutic promise in mouse models of AD (APP/PS1), where it led to increased synaptic density in the hippocampus (as measured with UCB-J PET (Toyonaga et al., 2019)) and rescued spatial memory deficits (Kaufman et al., 2015). The trial was however ended in 2019 due to lack of clinical benefit in human participants with AD (van Dyck et al., 2019). In the same year however, a phase 1 study of saracatinib in patients with Parkinson's disease commenced using functional MRI, as well as FDG-PET and electrophysiological measures of brain activity through EEG monitoring - the trial is still ongoing with results expected soon. Clinical trials targeting the neuroinflammatory system in neurodegeneration (for example by using non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs, minocycline, or CHF5074 - a microglial modulator, in AD) have illustrated mixed clinical benefit, albeit none directly measure synaptic density as an endpoint (reviewed in Kwon and Koh (2020)). Anti-inflammatory drugs used for the treatment of multiple sclerosis are currently being trialled in patients with motor neuron disease (NCT02469896), with results expected soon.

Therapeutic approaches targeting synapses in human, have been limited thus far, due to the limitations posed by translating animal research into human clinical trials. For example, we have yet to discover a sensitive enough biomarker to measure changes in synapses either over time or in response to therapy. However, advances in the development of UCB-J PET are promising, as well as the developments in detecting fluid biomarkers of synaptic function (for example, CSF neurogranin (Kester et al., 2015), and SNAP25 levels (Brinkmalm et al., 2014)). Moreover, the discovery, and in-human validation of PET ligands measuring mitochondrial complex I ([¹⁸F]BCPP-EF PET), and sigma-1R ([¹¹C]SA-4503), as markers of neuronal stress are also promising (Mansur et al., 2020). A second limitation is the difficulty in mimicking human disease in animal models. A possible way of overcoming this limitation is the use of inducible pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) from patients with neurodegenerative disorders, enabling the study of human disease but also neurodevelopment and neurophysiology in early disease (Taoufik et al., 2018).

Although clinical trials in primary tauopathies have not directly targeted synapses thus far, the lessons learnt from those in other neurodegenerative disorders will be directly applicable given common pathogenic pathways of synaptic toxicity. Current trials in PSP are mainly focused on the removal of, or reductions in, the toxic tau species, in turn reducing tau-induced-synaptotoxity. Potential therapeutic approaches to achieve this aim include: (1) reducing MAPT gene expression through the use of anti-sense oligonucleotide (similar to approaches used in spinal muscular atrophy (Finkel et al., 2017) and Huntington's disease (Pharmaceuticals, 2018)); (2) targeting the post-translational modification pathways - for example, reducing tau hyperphosphorylation, and acetylation which may allow increased clearance through the ubiquitin pathway; (3) preventing tau aggregation; (4) immune neutralisation or clearance of different tau species via either active or passive strategies, thereby preventing cell-to-cell transmission and synaptotoxicity; (5) microtubule stabilisation. Thus far there are 24 tau-targeting therapeutics agents that have gone through, at least, a phase I clinical trial in tauopathies, with a further 15 in development.

Cell-to-cell transmission of pathological tau has been proposed as a key pathogenic method of spread in tauopathies. One therapeutic approach is therefore to prevent this process and the ensuing tau seeding and synapto-toxicity, by using immune-mediated mechanisms (reviewed in VandeVrede et al. (2020) and Giunta et al. (2021)). Monoclonal antibodies against certain pathogenic epitopes of extracellular tau have been trialled in AD, and a few in PSP/CBS with the most recent, using the agent BIIB092 (PASSPORT (NCT03068468), TauBasket study (NCT03658135)), and C2N (NCT02985879), terminating early due to a lack of efficacy on primary or secondary endpoints.

Lastly, given dendritic and synaptic function also occur as a result of loss of cytoskeletal integrity, stabilising the microtubule has been proposed as a potential therapeutic mechanism. However, microtubule stabilising agents davunetide (trialled in PSP) (Boxer et al., 2014) and abeotaxane (a taxane derivative; trialled in PSP and CBS) (Tsai et al., 2020), ended early due to lack of clinical efficacy, and worsening of cognitive symptoms, respectively.

The success of any of the clinical trials summarised above are dependent on a few factors: first the ability of the proposed agents crossing the blood-brain barrier; second, is the

pathological diversity of tauopathies imposing a challenge in finding a common treatment that can be applied to all diseases in which tau plays a toxic role; and third is the limited knowledge about the exact pathogenic region of extracellular tau to target with immunemediated therapies. An added limitation is the lack of a sensitive enough trial endpoint able to detect clinical efficacy. The PSP rating scale has been used in almost all PSP/CBS trials as the gold standard endpoint and in all has failed to show any change in response to treatment. Whether the latter observation is as a result of lack of clinical efficacy of the agents under investigation, or whether the PSP-rating scale is not a sensitive endpoint is not clear as yet, and warrants further attention (M. K. Chen et al., 2021; Grötsch et al., 2021).

The pathogenic mechanisms leading to cognitive decline in PSP and CBD are complex with synaptic density point of convergence of multiple processes. However, although targeting pathways that lead to synaptic maintenance is promising, we must consider the role environmental, genetic, and epigenetic factors play in the pathogenesis of tauopathies (Litvan et al., 2021). Likewise, we must consider the consequences of clinical benefit in any of the trials above – the success of any agent able to slow down or reverse the pathology in PSP/CBD must be complementary to effective symptomatic management of what will become a chronic condition.

6.5 OVERALL STUDY LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

There are limitations to my work. In each of the experimental chapters I discuss key limitations, however, here I reprise the discussion of principal limitations.

Firstly, I used the *clinical diagnostic criteria* for PSP-Richardson's syndrome and amyloid negative CBS (here called CBD) to select a clinical cohort with likely a 4-repeat tauopathy as the underlying pathological diagnosis. Whilst both PSP-Richardson's syndrome and amyloid negative corticobosal syndrome are highly correlated with a 4-repeat tauopathy at post mortem both from our local data and internationally (Alexander et al., 2014; Gazzina et al., 2019; Respondek et al., 2017), other pathologies are possible, and indeed so are coexistent pathologies that may synergistically contribute to neurodegeneration (Robinson et al., 2018). The results in all experimental chapters would be strengthened by neuropathological correlates, to test the correlations between phenotype and pathology, and

between *in vivo* to post mortem measures of synaptic density, as well as tau-to-synapse correlations. Post mortem validation will be available in the next 3-4 years for many pf my participants through the ongoing SENDeR research study. However, given the demanding nature of the protocol, the initial cohort was biased towards patients in earlier stages of disease with a longer interval expected to pathology.

Second, there are limitations posed by potential non-specific binding of particular PET ligands, and by the interpretability of PET signals in relation to their molecular target. For example, in the case of [¹¹C]UCB-J PET the signal has been attributed to presynaptic density. The ligand specifically binds the presynaptic protein SV2A; in this regard the PET signal is a marker of SV2A or synaptic vesicle density which may not necessarily reflect synaptic density at large. However, the number of vesicles per nerve terminal is a stable feature of neurons, as well as the number of SV2A molecules per vesicle – the synaptic pool size is rapidly replenished during neuronal activity to sustain capacity for ongoing neurotransmitter release (Bajjalieh et al., 1993a; Südhof, 2004). Therefore, radioligand binding to SV2A provides an estimate of the density of nerve terminals and serves as a proxy for the quantification of synaptic density (Finnema et al., 2016). No direct measure of postsynaptic density exists currently but specific postsynaptic receptor ligands (for example glutamate or AMPA receptors) are in development.

There are however, increasing debates about the interpretability of the signal from [¹⁸F]AV-1451 PET. This ligand was originally developed to bind paired helical filaments (3repeat/4-repeat tau) of Alzheimer's disease, with very strong *in vivo* and post mortem correlation. Although this radioligand has also been successfully used in non-Alzheimer's pathology, it has a lower affinity for the 4-repeat tauopathy of PSP and CBD, with reports of off-target binding to other non-tau targets (for example monoamine oxidase in the striatum, and neuromelanin in the brainstem) therefore bringing the interpretability of its signal under question (Marquié et al., 2017; Soleimani-Meigooni et al., 2020). Despite the caveats to using this ligand in PSP and CBD, [¹⁸F]AV-1451 binding is highest in diseaserelated subcortical regions of PSP compared to healthy controls (Passamonti et al., 2017; Jennifer L Whitwell et al., 2017b) suggesting that, despite off-target binding, it is able to capture pathological changes compared to controls. In chapter 5, I illustrated that in brain regions beyond those identified as potential sites of off-target binding, there is a strong correlation with synaptic density moderated by disease severity. The [¹⁸F]AV-1451 signal

from cortical areas is unlikely to be affected by currently identified off-target binding sites, but further research in this field is required as to the driving pathological factor underlying the PET signal if not tau. The field of *in vivo* tau imaging is still relying on [¹⁸F]AV-1451 but next generation radioligands are soon to be utilised as research tools with a higher affinity for 4-repeat tauopathy (on post mortem tissue) and less off-target binding (for example [¹⁸F]PI-2620) (Brendel et al., 2020; Kroth et al., 2019; Mormino et al., 2020; A. Mueller et al., 2020). It would therefore be important to replicate the findings in chapter 5 using a next generation tau ligands (e.g. [¹⁸F]PI-2620) to further assess the tau/synapse interaction *in vivo*.

The cross-sectional design of my experiments is another limitation. One is unable to draw any conclusion about the progressive change in synaptic density over time, or causation of synaptic loss secondary to tauopathy. There are plans in the SNEDeR study to follow-up patients longitudinally, but this this has been stalled by the Covid-19 pandemic. It is however, reassuring to know that [¹¹C]UCB-J is sensitive to changes in synaptic density over time in another disease context (Glorie et al., 2020), allowing the study of causality, and mediation.

Lastly, I use a relatively small sample size; despite the large effect sizes depicted in chapters 3-5, my cohort may not be representative of the entire PSP population, in that it only included patients with PSP-Richardson's syndrome; and my study was not inclusive of a broad ethnic background. Caution must therefore be taken in generalising the interpretation of the results. Related to this, the study aims to extend PSP recruitment to non-Richardson's syndrome subtypes, and also to early stage disease through the recruitment of asymptomatic MAPT carriers.

6.6 CONCLUSION

In this thesis, I illustrate the importance of synaptic density, and the consequences of synaptic dysfunction in progressive supranuclear palsy and amyloid negative corticobasal degeneration, as disease models for neurodegeneration. I provide the first *in vivo* evidence for pre- and postsynaptic synaptic change in patients with PSP and CBD and their correlations with disease severity, using a novel PET radioligand [¹¹C]UCB-J. I show that synaptic loss colocalises with other markers of pathology in PSP and CBD. Together, my

results inform the understanding of primary tauopathies, based on *in vivo* assessment in human patients, with direct implications for design of future trials targeting synaptic maintenance and recovery in neurodegeneration.

7 | Appendices

7 APPENDICES

A. Supplementary materials for Chapter 1

All of A-C must be present for all diagnoses

A. Sporadic occurrence

B. Age greater than 40 at first symptom

C. Gradual progression of symptoms

Possible PSP-RS

Both A+B must be present

A. Slow velocity of vertical saccades

B. More than two steps backwards on the pull test within 3 years of symptom onset

Probable PSP-RS

One of A-B must be present

A. Vertical supranuclear gaze palsy

B. Slow velocity of vertical saccades

One of C-D must be present

C. Frequent unprovoked falls within 3 years

D. Tendency to fall on pull test within 3 years

Probable PSP-F

One of A-B must be present

A. Vertical supranuclear gaze palsy

B. Slow velocity of vertical saccades

Three of C-G must be present

C. Apathy

D. Bradyphrenia

E. Dysexecutive syndrome

F. Reduced verbal fluency

G. Impulsivity, disinhibition or perseveration

Possible PSP-CBS

One of A-B must be present

A. Vertical supranuclear gaze palsy

B. Slow velocity of vertical saccades

One of C-E must be present (asymmetric or symmetric)

C. Orobuccal or limb apraxia

D. Cortical sensory loss

E. Alien limb phenomena

One of F-H must be present (asymmetric or symmetric)

F. Limb rigidity

G. Limb akinesia

H. Limb myoclonus

Possible PSP-SL

One of A-B must be present

A. Vertical supranuclear gaze palsy

B. Slow velocity of vertical saccades

One of C-D must be present

C. Meets criteria for non-fluent variant primary progressive aphasia

D. Progressive apraxia of speech

Definite PSP

Neuropathological diagnosis with any clinical presentation

Exclusion criteria

There are 10 absolute and 25 relative exclusion criteria. See Höglinger et al. 2017 for details

Important exclusion criteria include:

A. Prominent episodic memory impairment suggestive of Alzheimer's Disease

B. Prominent autonomic failure suggestive of multiple system atrophy of Lewy body disease

C. Prominent, unexplained visual hallucinations or fluctuations in alertness

D. Sudden onset or stepwise progression of symptoms suggestive of vascular aetiology

Figure A1. Progressive Supranuclear Palsy Diagnostic Criteria.

A selection of the 8 subtypes of PSP are outlined in this figure; please refer to Hoglinger 2017 for full details of all subtypes. It is not unusual for patients to meet criteria for several PSP subtypes, in which case the Multiple Allocations eXtintion (MAX) rules criteria (Grimm et al. 2019) suggest that a diagnosis of PSP-Richardson's Syndrome and/or higher levels of diagnostic certainty are prioritised.

Probable CBS

Both A+B must be present

- A. Asymmetric presentation of two or more of A1-A3
 - A1. Limb rigidity or akinesia
 - A2. Limb dystonia
 - A3. Limb myoclonus
- B. Two or more of B1-3
 - B1. Limb or orobuccal apraxia
 - B2. Cortical sensory deficit
 - B3. Alien limb phenomena (more than simple levitation)

Possible CBS

Both A+B must be present

A. Asymmetric or symmetric presentation of one or more of A1-A3

- A1. Limb rigidity or akinesia
- A2. Limb dystonia
- A3. Limb myoclonus

Definite Corticobasal degeneration (CBD)

Neuropathological diagnosis

Figure A2. Corticobsal Syndrome Diagnostic Criteria (Armstrong et al. 2013a).

B. Supplementary materials for Chapter 4



Lobe Cingulate
Occipital
Subcortical
Frontal
Parietal
Temporal

Figure B1. Regional association between cortical ODI and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} in PSP-RS and CBD. Significant regional associations are observed within the patient group (FDR p < 0.05, after adjusting for age and local GM atrophy). Abbreviation: ODI = Orientation Dispersion Index; FDR = False Discovery Rate; GM = Grey Matter.



C. Supplementary materials for Chapter 5

Figure C1. The association between synaptic density ($[^{11}C]UCB-J$) and molecular pathology ($[^{18}F]AV-1451$) is a function of disease severity.

A) Scatter plot [¹¹C]UCB-J and [¹⁸F]AV-145 partial volume uncorrected BP_{ND} from 23 patients with PSP and 12 patients with amyloid-negative corticobasal syndrome. Each grey line in A represents a patient's data across 73 regions of interest (excluding those with previously reported off-target binding, i.e. basal ganglia and substantia nigra); the black line illustrates the overall model fit from equation 2. B) The slope for each individual (i.e. each grey line in A) is negatively correlated with disease severity (as measured with the PSP rating scale); R = -0.38, p = 0.03.



Figure C2. Cortical molecular pathology is negatively correlated with subcortical synaptic density (Partial Volume Uncorrected). Correlation between [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} in a source region (horizontal axis) and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} in a target region (vertical axis), across 79 regions of interest in patients, using partial volume uncorrected binding potentials. The black box in the lower left quadrant focuses on cortical [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} and subcortical [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}. Abbreviation: 1: left, r:right, FL: Frontal Lobe, OFC: Orbitofrontal Cortex, AOG: Anterior Orbital Gyrus, MOG: Middle Orbital Gyrus, LOG: Lateral Orbital Gyrus, POG: Posterior Orbital Gyrus, mid_fr_G: Middle Frontal Gyrus, strai_G: Straight Gyrus, precen_G: Precentral Gyrus, inf_fr_G: Inferior Frontal Gyrus; sup_fr_G: Superior Frontal Gyrus; PL: Parietal Lobe, postce_G: Postcentral Gyrus, sup_pa_G: Superior Parietal Gyrus – superior part, G_sup_temp_ant: Superior Temporal Gyrus- Anterior part, G_tem_midin_r: Middle and Inferior Temporal Gyrus, G_paraH_amb: Parahippocampal and ambient gyri, G_occtem_la: Occipitotemporal Gyrus – Lateral Part (Fusiform Gyrus), OL_ling_G_l: Lingual Gyrus, Subcall_area: Subcallosal Area, OL_rest_lat: Latera Remainder of Occipital Lobe, G_cing_ant_sup: Cingulate Gyrus Anterior Part, Subgen_antCing: Subgenual Frontal Lobe, Presubgen_antCing: Presubgenual Frontal Lobe; BG: Basal Ganglia; BS: Brainstem. Uncorrected for multiple comparison.



Figure C3. Cortical molecular pathology is negatively correlated with subcortical synaptic density (Partial Volume corrected).

Correlation between [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} in a source region (horizontal axis) and [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND} in a target region (vertical axis), across 79 regions of interest in patients, using GTM partial volume corrected binding potentials. The black box in the lower left quadrant focuses on cortical [¹⁸F]AV-1451 BP_{ND} and subcortical [¹¹C]UCB-J BP_{ND}. Abbreviation: I: left, r:right, FL: Frontal Lobe, OFC: Orbitofrontal Cortex, AOG: Anterior Orbital Gyrus, MOG: Middle Orbital Gyrus, LOG: Lateral Orbital Gyrus, POG: Posterior Orbital Gyrus, sup_fr_G: Middle Frontal Gyrus, strai_G: Straight Gyrus, precen_G: Precentral Gyrus, sup_fr_G: Inferior Frontal Gyrus, sup_fr_G: Superior Frontal Gyrus, PL: Parietal Lobe, postce_G: Postcentral Gyrus, sup_a_G: Superior Parietal Gyrus: TL: Temporal Lobe, Ant_med: Anterior Medial, Ant_inf_lat: Anterior Inferiolateral, "G_sup_temp_cent: Superior Temporal Gyrus – superior part, G_sup_temp_ant: Superior Temporal Gyrus, Subcall_area: Subcallosal Area, OL_rest_lat: Latera Remainder of Occipital Lobe, G_cing_ant_sup: Cingulate Gyrus Anterior Part, Subgen_antCing: Subgenual Frontal Lobe, Presubgen_antCing: Presubgenual Frontal Lobe, G_cing_post: Cingulate Gyrus – posterior part; Fl: Frontal Lobe; TL: Temporal Lobe; PL: Parietal Lobe; OL: Occipital Lobe; BG: Basal Ganglia; BS: Brainstem. Uncorrected for multiple comparison.

- Abeliovich, A., & Gitler, A. D. (2016). Defects in trafficking bridge Parkinson's disease pathology and genetics. *Nature*, *539*(7628), 207-216. doi:10.1038/nature20414
- Abuhassan, K., Coyle, D., Belatreche, A., & Maguire, L. (2014). Compensating for synaptic loss in Alzheimer's disease. J Comput Neurosci, 36(1), 19-37. doi:10.1007/s10827-013-0462-8
- Acquarone, E., Argyrousi, E. K., Van Den Berg, M., Gulisano, W., Fà, M., Staniszewski, A., . . . Fiorito, J. (2019). Synaptic and memory dysfunction induced by tau oligomers is rescued by up-regulation of the nitric oxide cascade. In *Molecular Neurodegeneration* (Vol. 14): BioMed Central Ltd.
- Adams, N. E., Hughes, L. E., Rouse, M. A., Phillips, H. N., Shaw, A. D., Murley, A. G., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2021). GABAergic cortical network physiology in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Brain*. doi:10.1093/brain/awab097
- Agosta, F., Pievani, M., Svetel, M., Ječmenica Lukić, M., Copetti, M., Tomić, A., . . . Filippi, M. (2012). Diffusion tensor MRI contributes to differentiate Richardson's syndrome from PSP-parkinsonism. In *Neurobiology of Aging* (Vol. 33, pp. 2817-2826).
- Aguzzi, A., Heikenwalder, M., & Polymenidou, M. (2007). Insights into prion strains and neurotoxicity. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 8(7), 552-561. doi:10.1038/nrm2204
- Ahmed, Z., Cooper, J., Murray, T. K., Garn, K., McNaughton, E., Clarke, H., . . . O'Neill, M. J. (2014). A novel in vivo model of tau propagation with rapid and progressive neurofibrillary tangle pathology: The pattern of spread is determined by connectivity, not proximity. In *Acta Neuropathologica* (Vol. 127, pp. 667-683): Springer.
- Alberch, J., Pérez-Navarro, E., & Canals, J. M. (2004). Neurotrophic factors in Huntington's disease. In *Progress in Brain Research* (Vol. 146, pp. 197-229): Elsevier.
- Alberts, B., Johnson, A., & Lewis, J. (1997). Cell Communication. In *Molecular Biology* of the Cell. (4th ed.): New York: Garland Science.
- Alessi, D. R., & Sammler, E. (2018). LRRK2 kinase in Parkinson's disease. *Science*, 360(6384), 36-37. doi:10.1126/science.aar5683
- Alexander, S. K., Rittman, T., Xuereb, J. H., Bak, T. H., Hodges, J. R., & Rowe, J. B. (2014). Validation of the new consensus criteria for the diagnosis of corticobasal degeneration. In *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* (Vol. 85, pp. 923-927).
- Amro, Z., Yool, A. J., & Collins-Praino, L. E. (2021). The potential role of glial cells in driving the prion-like transcellular propagation of tau in tauopathies. In *Brain, Behavior, & Immunity - Health* (pp. 100242).
- Amtage, F., Maurer, C., Hellwig, S., Tüscher, O., Kreft, A., Weiller, C., ... Meyer, P. T. (2014). Functional correlates of vertical gaze palsy and other ocular motor deficits in PSP: An FDG-PET study. In *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders* (Vol. 20, pp. 898-906): Elsevier Ltd.
- Anand, P., & Singh, B. (2013). A review on cholinesterase inhibitors for Alzheimer's disease. Arch Pharm Res, 36(4), 375-399. doi:10.1007/s12272-013-0036-3
- Andersen, K. B., Hansen, A. K., Damholdt, M. F., Horsager, J., Skjaerbaek, C., Gottrup, H., . . . Borghammer, P. (2021). Reduced Synaptic Density in Patients with Lewy Body Dementia: An [(11) C]UCB-J PET Imaging Study. *Mov Disord*. doi:10.1002/mds.28617

- Anderson, T. (2015). How Do I Examine for a Supranuclear Gaze Palsy? In *Movement Disorders Clinical Practice* (Vol. 2, pp. 106-106): Wiley-Blackwell.
- Andersson, J. D., Matuskey, D., & Finnema, S. J. (2019). Positron emission tomography imaging of the γ-aminobutyric acid system. In *Neuroscience Letters* (Vol. 691, pp. 35-43): Elsevier.
- Andersson, J. L. R., Graham, M. S., Zsoldos, E., & Sotiropoulos, S. N. (2016). Incorporating outlier detection and replacement into a non-parametric framework for movement and distortion correction of diffusion MR images. In *Neuroimage* (Vol. 141, pp. 556-572): Academic Press Inc.
- Arevalo-Rodriguez, I., Smailagic, N., Roqué I Figuls, M., Ciapponi, A., Sanchez-Perez, E., Giannakou, A., . . . Cullum, S. (2015). Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) for the detection of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias in people with mild cognitive impairment (MCI). *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 2015(3), CD010783-CD010783. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010783.pub2
- Armstrong, M. J., Litvan, I., Lang, A. E., Bak, T. H., Bhatia, K. P., Borroni, B., . . . Weiner, W. J. (2013). Criteria for the diagnosis of corticobasal degeneration. In *Neurology* (Vol. 80, pp. 496-503): American Academy of Neurology.
- Avants, B. B., Epstein, C. L., Grossman, M., & Gee, J. C. (2008). Symmetric diffeomorphic image registration with cross-correlation: Evaluating automated labeling of elderly and neurodegenerative brain. In *Medical Image Analysis* (Vol. 12, pp. 26-41).
- Azevedo, F. A. C., Carvalho, L. R. B., Grinberg, L. T., Farfel, J. M., Ferretti, R. E. L., Leite, R. E. P., . . . Herculano-Houzel, S. (2009). Equal numbers of neuronal and nonneuronal cells make the human brain an isometrically scaled-up primate brain. In *The Journal of Comparative Neurology* (Vol. 513, pp. 532-541): John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Bajjalieh, S. M., Frantz, G. D., Weimann, J. M., McConnell, S. K., & Scheller, R. H. (1994). Differential expression of synaptic vesicle protein 2 (SV2) isoforms. In *Journal of Neuroscience* (Vol. 14, pp. 5223-5235): Society for Neuroscience.
- Bajjalieh, S. M., Peterson, K., Linial, M., & Scheller, R. H. (1993a). Brain contains two forms of synaptic vesicle protein 2. In *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* (Vol. 90, pp. 2150-2154): National Academy of Sciences.
- Bajjalieh, S. M., Peterson, K., Linial, M., & Scheller, R. H. (1993b). Brain contains two forms of synaptic vesicle protein 2. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.
- Bak, T. H., Crawford, L. M., Berrios, G., & Hodges, J. R. (2010). Behavioural symptoms in progressive supranuclear palsy and frontotemporal dementia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 81(9), 1057-1059. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2008.157974
- Ballarini, T., Albrecht, F., Mueller, K., Jech, R., Diehl-Schmid, J., Fliessbach, K., . . . Schroeter, M. L. (2020). Disentangling brain functional network remodeling in corticobasal syndrome – A multimodal MRI study. In *NeuroImage: Clinical* (Vol. 25, pp. 102112): Elsevier Inc.
- Bastos, A. M., Usrey, W. M., Adams, R. A., Mangun, G. R., Fries, P., & Friston, K. J. (2012). Canonical microcircuits for predictive coding. *Neuron*, 76(4), 695-711. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.038
- Bellucci, A., Mercuri, N. B., Venneri, A., Faustini, G., Longhena, F., Pizzi, M., . . . Spano,P. (2016). Review: Parkinson's disease: from synaptic loss to connectome

dysfunction. In Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology (Vol. 42, pp. 77-94): Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

- Belluzzi, E., Greggio, E., & Piccoli, G. (2012). Presynaptic dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: a focus on LRRK2. Biochemical Society Transactions, 40(5), 1111-1116. doi:10.1042/bst20120124
- Bereczki, E., Francis, P. T., Howlett, D., Pereira, J. B., Höglund, K., Bogstedt, A., . . . Aarsland, D. (2016). Synaptic proteins predict cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease and Lewy body dementia. Alzheimers Dement, 12(11), 1149-1158. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2016.04.005
- Bevan-Jones, W. R., Cope, T. E., Jones, P. S., Kaalund, S. S., Passamonti, L., Allinson, K., ... Rowe, J. B. (2020). Neuroinflammation and protein aggregation co-localize across the frontotemporal dementia spectrum. In Brain (Vol. 143, pp. 1010-1026).
- Bevan-Jones, W. R., Cope, T. E., Jones, S. P., Passamonti, L., Hong, Y. T., Fryer, T., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2018a). [18 F]AV-1451 binding is increased in frontotemporal dementia due to C9orf72 expansion. In Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology (Vol. 5, pp. 1292-1296).
- Bevan-Jones, W. R., Cope, T. E., Simon Jones, P., Passamonti, L., Hong, Y. T., Fryer, T. D., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2018b). AV-1451 binding in vivo mirrors the expected distribution of TDP-43 pathology in the semantic variant of primary progressive aphasia. In Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry (Vol. 89, pp. 1032-1037).
- Beyer, L., Meyer-Wilmes, J., Schönecker, S., Schnabel, J., Brendel, E., Prix, C., . . . Brendel, M. (2018). Clinical routine FDG-PET imaging of suspected progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal degeneration: A gatekeeper for subsequent tau-PET imaging? In Frontiers in Neurology (Vol. 9): Frontiers Media S.A.
- Bharti, K., Bologna, M., Upadhyay, N., Piattella, M. C., Suppa, A., Petsas, N., ... Pantano, P. (2017). Abnormal resting-state functional connectivity in progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal syndrome. In Frontiers in Neurology (Vol. 8): Frontiers Media S.A.
- Bigio, E. H., Vono, M. B., Satumtira, S., Adamson, J., Sontag, E., Hynan, L. S., ... Hutton, M. (2001). Cortical synapse loss in progressive supranuclear palsy. In Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology (Vol. 60, pp. 403-410).
- Blennow, K., Bogdanovic, N., Alafuzoff, I., Ekman, R., & Davidsson, P. (1996). Synaptic pathology in Alzheimer's disease: Relation to severity of dementia, but not to senile plaques, neurofibrillary tangles, or the ApoE4 allele. Journal of Neural Transmission, 103(5), 603-618. doi:10.1007/BF01273157
- Blin, J., Vidailhet, M.-J., Pillon, B., Dubois, B., Feve, J.-R., & Agid, Y. (1992). Corticobasal degeneration: Decreased and asymmetrical glucose consumption as studied with PET. In Movement Disorders (Vol. 7, pp. 348-354).
- Blutstein, T., & Haydon, P. G. (2014). Chapter Five The Tripartite Synapse: A Role for Glial Cells in Modulating Synaptic Transmission. In V. Pickel & M. Segal (Eds.), The Synapse (pp. 155-172). Boston: Academic Press.
- Boelmans, K., Kaufmann, J., Bodammer, N., Ebersbach, G., Behlau, G., Heinze, H. J., & Niehaus, L. (2009). Involvement of motor pathways in corticobasal syndrome detected by diffusion tensor tractography. Mov Disord, 24(2), 168-175. doi:10.1002/mds.22193
- Bologna, M., Agostino, R., Gregori, B., Belvisi, D., Ottaviani, D., Colosimo, C., . . . Berardelli, A. (2009). Voluntary, spontaneous and reflex blinking in patients with

clinically probable progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Brain* (Vol. 132, pp. 502-510): Brain.

- Borroni, B., Garibotto, V., Agosti, C., Brambati, S. M., Bellelli, G., Gasparotti, R., . . .
 Perani, D. (2008). White matter changes in corticobasal degeneration syndrome and correlation with limb apraxia. In *Archives of Neurology* (Vol. 65, pp. 796-801): American Medical Association.
- Boxer, A. L., Lang, A. E., Grossman, M., Knopman, D. S., Miller, B. L., Schneider, L. S., ... Morimoto, B. H. (2014). Davunetide in patients with progressive supranuclear palsy: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2/3 trial. *Lancet Neurol*, 13(7), 676-685. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(14)70088-2
- Boxer, A. L., Qureshi, I., Ahlijanian, M., Grundman, M., Golbe, L. I., Litvan, I., . . . Dam, T. (2019). Safety of the tau-directed monoclonal antibody BIIB092 in progressive supranuclear palsy: a randomised, placebo-controlled, multiple ascending dose phase 1b trial. In *The Lancet Neurology* (Vol. 18, pp. 549-558): Lancet Publishing Group.
- Bozzali, M., Cercignani, M., Baglio, F., Scotti, G., Farina, E., Pugnetti, L., . . . Falini, A. (2008). Voxel-wise analysis of diffusion tensor MRI improves the confidence of diagnosis of corticobasal degeneration non-invasively. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 14(5), 436-439. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2007.09.011</u>
- Brendel, M., Barthel, H., van Eimeren, T., Marek, K., Beyer, L., Song, M., . . . Sabri, O. (2020). Assessment of 18F-PI-2620 as a Biomarker in Progressive Supranuclear Palsy. JAMA Neurol, 77(11), 1408-1419. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.2526
- Brettschneider, J., Van Deerlin, V. M., Robinson, J. L., Kwong, L., Lee, E. B., Ali, Y. O., . . . Trojanowski, J. Q. (2012). Pattern of ubiquilin pathology in ALS and FTLD indicates presence of C9ORF72 hexanucleotide expansion. *Acta Neuropathol*, 123(6), 825-839. doi:10.1007/s00401-012-0970-z
- Bridi, J. C., & Hirth, F. (2018). Mechanisms of α-Synuclein Induced Synaptopathy in Parkinson's Disease. *Front Neurosci*, *12*, 80. doi:10.3389/fnins.2018.00080
- Brinkmalm, A., Brinkmalm, G., Honer, W. G., Frölich, L., Hausner, L., Minthon, L., . . . Öhrfelt, A. (2014). SNAP-25 is a promising novel cerebrospinal fluid biomarker for synapse degeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*, 9(1), 53. doi:10.1186/1750-1326-9-53
- Brown, F. S., Rowe, J. B., Passamonti, L., & Rittman, T. (2020). Falls in Progressive Supranuclear Palsy. In *Movement Disorders Clinical Practice* (Vol. 7, pp. 16-24): Wiley-Blackwell.
- Brun, A., Liu, X., & Erikson, C. (1995). Synapse loss and gliosis in the molecular layer of the cerebral cortex in Alzheimer's disease and in frontal lobe degeneration. Paper presented at the Neurodegeneration.
- Burgos, N., Cardoso, M. J., Thielemans, K., Modat, M., Pedemonte, S., Dickson, J., . . . Ourselin, S. (2014). Attenuation correction synthesis for hybrid PET-MR scanners: Application to brain studies. In *IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging* (Vol. 33, pp. 2332-2341).
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., & Südhof, T. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. *Science*, 329(5999), 1663-1667. doi:10.1126/science.1195227
- Burrell, J. R., Hodges, J. R., & Rowe, J. B. (2014). Cognition in corticobasal syndrome and progressive supranuclear palsy: a review. *Mov Disord*, 29(5), 684-693. doi:10.1002/mds.25872

- Burrell, J. R., Hornberger, M., Villemagne, V. L., Rowe, C. C., & Hodges, J. R. (2013). Clinical Profile of PiB-Positive Corticobasal Syndrome. In *PLoS One* (Vol. 8).
- Cai, Z., Li, S., Matuskey, D., Nabulsi, N., & Huang, Y. (2019). PET imaging of synaptic density: A new tool for investigation of neuropsychiatric diseases. In *Neuroscience Letters* (Vol. 691, pp. 44-50): Elsevier.
- Callahan, L. M., & Coleman, P. D. (1995). Neurons bearing neurofibrillary tangles are responsible for selected synaptic deficits in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, *16*(3), 311-314. doi:10.1016/0197-4580(95)00035-d
- Carella, F., Ciano, C., Panzica, F., & Scaioli, V. (1997). Myoclonus in corticobasal degeneration. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 12, pp. 598-603): Mov Disord.
- Casanova, R., Srikanth, R., Baer, A., Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Hayasaka, S., . . . Maldjian, J. A. (2007). Biological parametric mapping: A statistical toolbox for multimodality brain image analysis. *Neuroimage*, 34(1), 137-143. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.09.011
- Castillo-Carranza, D. L., Sengupta, U., Guerrero-Muñoz, M. J., Lasagna-Reeves, C. A., Gerson, J. E., Singh, G., . . . Kayed, R. (2014). Passive immunization with tau oligomer monoclonal antibody reverses tauopathy phenotypes without affecting hyperphosphorylated neurofibrillary tangles. In *Journal of Neuroscience* (Vol. 34, pp. 4260-4272): Society for Neuroscience.
- Cepeda, C., Wu, N., André, V. M., Cummings, D. M., & Levine, M. S. (2007). The corticostriatal pathway in Huntington's disease. *Prog Neurobiol*, *81*(5-6), 253-271. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2006.11.001
- Chang, D., Nalls, M. A., Hallgrímsdóttir, I. B., Hunkapiller, J., van der Brug, M., Cai, F., . . Graham, R. R. (2017). A meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies 17 new Parkinson's disease risk loci. *Nat Genet*, 49(10), 1511-1516. doi:10.1038/ng.3955
- Chang-Lu Tao, X., Yun-Tao Liu, X., Sun, R., Zhang, B., Qi, L., Shivakoti, S., . . . Guo-Qiang Bi, X. (2018). Cellular/Molecular Differentiation and Characterization of Excitatory and Inhibitory Synapses by Cryo-electron Tomography and Correlative Microscopy. In.
- Chen, L., Brewer, M. D., Guo, L., Wang, R., Jiang, P., & Yang, X. (2017). Enhanced Degradation of Misfolded Proteins Promotes Tumorigenesis. *Cell Rep*, 18(13), 3143-3154. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2017.03.010
- Chen, M. K., Mecca, A. P., Naganawa, M., Finnema, S. J., Toyonaga, T., Lin, S. F., ... Van Dyck, C. H. (2018). Assessing Synaptic Density in Alzheimer Disease with Synaptic Vesicle Glycoprotein 2A Positron Emission Tomographic Imaging. In JAMA Neurology (Vol. 75, pp. 1215-1224).
- Chen, M. K., Mecca, A. P., Naganawa, M., Gallezot, J. D., Toyonaga, T., Mondal, J., . . . Carson, R. E. (2021). Comparison of [(11)C]UCB-J and [(18)F]FDG PET in Alzheimer's disease: A tracer kinetic modeling study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 271678x211004312. doi:10.1177/0271678x211004312
- Chen-Plotkin, A. S. (2021). LRRK2 and survival in progressive supranuclear palsy. *Lancet* Neurol, 20(2), 83-84. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(20)30485-3
- Clare, R., King, V. G., Wirenfeldt, M., & Vinters, H. V. (2010). Synapse loss in dementias. J Neurosci Res, 88(10), 2083-2090. doi:10.1002/jnr.22392
- Clavaguera, F., Akatsu, H., Fraser, G., Crowther, R. A., Frank, S., Hench, J., . . . Tolnay, M. (2013). Brain homogenates from human tauopathies induce tau inclusions in

mouse brain. In *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* (Vol. 110, pp. 9535-9540): National Academy of Sciences.

- Clavaguera, F., Bolmont, T., Crowther, R. A., Abramowski, D., Frank, S., Probst, A., . . . Tolnay, M. (2009). Transmission and spreading of tauopathy in transgenic mouse brain. In *Nature Cell Biology* (Vol. 11, pp. 909-913): Nature Publishing Group.
- Cocco, C., D'Amato, F., Noli, B., Ledda, A., Brancia, C., Bongioanni, P., & Ferri, G. L. (2010). Distribution of VGF peptides in the human cortex and their selective changes in Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases. J Anat, 217(6), 683-693. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7580.2010.01309.x
- Colgan, N., Siow, B., O'Callaghan, J. M., Harrison, I. F., Wells, J. A., Holmes, H. E., . . . Lythgoe, M. F. (2016). Application of neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging (NODDI) to a tau pathology model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroimage*, 125, 739-744. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.10.043
- Constantinides, V. C., Paraskevas, G. P., Paraskevas, P. G., Stefanis, L., & Kapaki, E. (2019). Corticobasal degeneration and corticobasal syndrome: A review. In.
- Coomans, E. M., Schoonhoven, D. N., Tuncel, H., Verfaillie, S. C. J., Wolters, E. E., Boellaard, R., . . . van Berckel, B. N. M. (2021). In vivo tau pathology is associated with synaptic loss and altered synaptic function. In *Alzheimer's Research and Therapy* (Vol. 13): BioMed Central Ltd.
- Cope, T. E., Rittman, T., Borchert, R. J., Jones, P. S., Vatansever, D., Allinson, K., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2018). Tau burden and the functional connectome in Alzheimer's disease and progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Brain* (Vol. 141, pp. 550-567).
- Cordato, N. J., Duggins, A. J., Halliday, G. M., Morris, J. G. L., & Pantelis, C. (2005). Clinical deficits correlate with regional cerebral atrophy in progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Brain* (Vol. 128, pp. 1259-1266): Oxford University Press.
- Cordato, N. J., Pantelis, C., Halliday, G. M., Velakoulis, D., Wood, S. J., Stuart, G. W., . . . Morris, J. G. L. (2002). *Frontal atrophy correlates with behavioural changes in progressive supranuclear palsy*.
- Cox, S. R., Ritchie, S. J., Tucker-Drob, E. M., Liewald, D. C., Hagenaars, S. P., Davies, G., . . . Deary, I. J. (2016). Ageing and brain white matter structure in 3,513 UK Biobank participants. *Nature Communications*, 7(1), 13629. doi:10.1038/ncomms13629
- Coyle-Gilchrist, I. T. S., Dick, K. M., Patterson, K., Rodríquez, P. V., Wehmann, E., Wilcox, A., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2016). Prevalence, characteristics, and survival of frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndromes. In *Neurology* (Vol. 86, pp. 1736-1743): Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Crespi, C., Dodich, A., Iannaccone, S., Marcone, A., Falini, A., Cappa, S. F., & Cerami, C. (2020). Diffusion tensor imaging evidence of corticospinal pathway involvement in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. In *Cortex* (Vol. 125, pp. 1-11): Masson SpA.
- Cummings, D. M., Milnerwood, A. J., Dallérac, G. M., Vatsavayai, S. C., Hirst, M. C., & Murphy, K. P. (2007). Abnormal cortical synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of Huntington's disease. *Brain Res Bull*, 72(2-3), 103-107. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2006.10.016
- Cuthbert, B. N. (2014). The RDoC framework: continuing commentary. *World Psychiatry*, *13*(2), 196-197. doi:10.1002/wps.20140
- Dahnke, R., Yotter, R. A., & Gaser, C. (2013). Cortical thickness and central surface estimation. *Neuroimage*, 65, 336-348. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.09.050

- Dallérac, G. M., Vatsavayai, S. C., Cummings, D. M., Milnerwood, A. J., Peddie, C. J., Evans, K. A., . . . Murphy, K. P. (2011). Impaired long-term potentiation in the prefrontal cortex of Huntington's disease mouse models: rescue by D1 dopamine receptor activation. *Neurodegener Dis*, 8(4), 230-239. doi:10.1159/000322540
- de la Monte, S. M., Vonsattel, J. P., & Richardson, E. P., Jr. (1988). Morphometric demonstration of atrophic changes in the cerebral cortex, white matter, and neostriatum in Huntington's disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 47(5), 516-525. doi:10.1097/00005072-198809000-00003
- De Wilde, M. C., Overk, C. R., Sijben, J. W., & Masliah, E. (2016). Meta-analysis of synaptic pathology in Alzheimer's disease reveals selective molecular vesicular machinery vulnerability. In *Alzheimer's and Dementia* (Vol. 12, pp. 633-644): NIH Public Access.
- DeKosky, S. T., & Scheff, S. W. (1990). Synapse loss in frontal cortex biopsies in Alzheimer's disease: Correlation with cognitive severity. In Annals of Neurology (Vol. 27, pp. 457-464): John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Desikan, R. S., Ségonne, F., Fischl, B., Quinn, B. T., Dickerson, B. C., Blacker, D., . . . Killiany, R. J. (2006). An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *Neuroimage*, 31(3), 968-980. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.01.021
- DeVos, S. L., Corjuc, B. T., Oakley, D. H., Nobuhara, C. K., Bannon, R. N., Chase, A., . . . Hyman, B. T. (2018). Synaptic Tau Seeding Precedes Tau Pathology in Human Alzheimer's Disease Brain. In *Frontiers in Neuroscience* (Vol. 12, pp. 267): Frontiers Media S.A.
- Di Maria, E., Tabaton, M., Vigo, T., Abbruzzese, G., Bellone, E., Donati, C., ... Mandich, P. (2000). Corticobasal degeneration shares a common genetic background with progressive supranuclear palsy. *Ann Neurol*, 47(3), 374-377. doi:10.1002/1531-8249(200003)47:3<374::aid-ana15>3.3.co;2-#
- Dickson, D. W., Kouri, N., Murray, M. E., & Josephs, K. A. (2011). Neuropathology of frontotemporal lobar degeneration-Tau (FTLD-Tau). *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*: Springer.
- Dorostkar, M. M., Zou, C., Blazquez-Llorca, L., & Herms, J. (2015). Analyzing dendritic spine pathology in Alzheimer's disease: problems and opportunities. *Acta Neuropathol*, 130(1), 1-19. doi:10.1007/s00401-015-1449-5
- Dujardin, S., Bégard, S., Caillierez, R., Lachaud, C., Delattre, L., Carrier, S., . . . Colin, M. (2014). Ectosomes: A new mechanism for non-exosomal secretion of Tau protein. In *PLoS One* (Vol. 9): Public Library of Science.
- Duman, R. S., Aghajanian, G. K., Sanacora, G., & Krystal, J. H. (2016). Synaptic plasticity and depression: new insights from stress and rapid-acting antidepressants. *Nat Med*, 22(3), 238-249. doi:10.1038/nm.4050
- Dyck, B. A., Beyaert, M. G. R., Ferro, M. A., & Mishra, R. K. (2011). Medial prefrontal cortical synapsin II knock-down induces behavioral abnormalities in the rat: Examining synapsin II in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. In *Schizophrenia Research* (Vol. 130, pp. 250-259): Elsevier.
- Dyck, B. A., Skoblenick, K. J., Castellano, J. M., Ki, K., Thomas, N., & Mishra, R. K. (2009). Behavioral abnormalities in synapsin II knockout mice implicate a causal factor in schizophrenia. In *Synapse* (Vol. 63, pp. 662-672).

- Eckert, A., Nisbet, R., Grimm, A., & Götz, J. (2014). March separate, strike together--role of phosphorylated TAU in mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1842*(8), 1258-1266. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.08.013
- Eidelberg, D., Dhawan, V., Moeller, J. R., Sidtis, J. J., Ginos, J. Z., Strother, S. C., . . . Rottenberg, D. A. (1991). The metabolic landscape of cortico-basal ganglionic degeneration: regional asymmetries studied with positron emission tomography. In *Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry* (Vol. 54, pp. 856-862).
- Ekinci, F. J., & Shea, T. B. (2000). *Phosphorylation of Tau Alters Its Association with the Plasma Membrane*. Paper presented at the Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology.
- Esposito, G., Ana Clara, F., & Verstreken, P. (2012). Synaptic vesicle trafficking and Parkinson's disease. *Dev Neurobiol*, 72(1), 134-144. doi:10.1002/dneu.20916
- Evans, L. D., Wassmer, T., Fraser, G., Smith, J., Perkinton, M., Billinton, A., & Livesey, F. J. (2018). Extracellular Monomeric and Aggregated Tau Efficiently Enter Human Neurons through Overlapping but Distinct Pathways. In *Cell Reports* (Vol. 22, pp. 3612-3624): Elsevier B.V.
- Fá, M., Puzzo, D., Piacentini, R., Staniszewski, A., Zhang, H., Baltrons, M. A., ... Arancio, O. (2016). Extracellular Tau Oligomers Produce An Immediate Impairment of LTP and Memory. In *Scientific Reports* (Vol. 6): Nature Publishing Group.
- Feany, M. B., & Dickson, D. W. (1995). *Widespread Cytoskeletal Pathology Characterizes Corticobasal Degeneration*. Paper presented at the American Journal ofPathology.
- Ferguson, G. D., Anagnostaras, S. G., Silva, A. J., & Herschman, H. R. (2000). Deficits in memory and motor performance in synaptotagmin IV mutant mice. In *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America (Vol. 97, pp. 5598-5603): National Academy of Sciences.
- Ferrari, R., Manzoni, C., & Hardy, J. (2019). Genetics and molecular mechanisms of frontotemporal lobar degeneration: an update and future avenues. *Neurobiol Aging*, 78, 98-110. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.02.006
- Ferrer, I. (1999). Neurons and their dendrites in frontotemporal dementia. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord, 10 Suppl 1*, 55-60. doi:10.1159/000051214
- Ferrer, I. (2002). Synaptic pathology and cell death in the cerebellum in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. *Cerebellum*, 1(3), 213-222. doi:10.1080/14734220260418448
- Ferrer, I., Marín, C., Rey, M. J., Ribalta, T., Goutan, E., Blanco, R., . . . Martí, E. (1999). BDNF and full-length and truncated TrkB expression in Alzheimer disease. Implications in therapeutic strategies. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 58(7), 729-739. doi:10.1097/00005072-199907000-00007
- Ferrer, I., Roig, C., Espino, A., Peiro, G., Matias Guiu, X., Neuropatologia, U., . . . Peiro Matias Guiu, G. X. (1991). *Dementia of frontal lobe type and motor neuron disease*. A Golgi study of the frontal cortex. Paper presented at the Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry.
- Ferri, C. P., Prince, M., Brayne, C., Brodaty, H., Fratiglioni, L., Ganguli, M., . . . Scazufca, M. (2005). Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. *Lancet*, 366(9503), 2112-2117. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(05)67889-0
- Filippi, M., Sarasso, E., & Agosta, F. (2019). Resting-state Functional MRI in Parkinsonian Syndromes. In *Movement Disorders Clinical Practice* (Vol. 6, pp. 104-117): Wiley-Blackwell.
- Finkel, R. S., Mercuri, E., Darras, B. T., Connolly, A. M., Kuntz, N. L., Kirschner, J., . . . De Vivo, D. C. (2017). Nusinersen versus Sham Control in Infantile-Onset Spinal

Muscular Atrophy. *N Engl J Med*, 377(18), 1723-1732. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1702752

- Finnema, S. J., Nabulsi, N. B., Eid, T., Detyniecki, K., Lin, S. F., Chen, M. K., ... Carson, R. E. (2016). Imaging synaptic density in the living human brain. In *Science Translational Medicine* (Vol. 8).
- Finnema, S. J., Nabulsi, N. B., Mercier, J., Lin, S. F., Chen, M. K., Matuskey, D., . . . Carson, R. E. (2018). Kinetic evaluation and test-retest reproducibility of [11C]UCB-J, a novel radioligand for positron emission tomography imaging of synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2A in humans. In *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow* and Metabolism (Vol. 38, pp. 2041-2052): SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England.
- Fischer, R. S., & Fowler, V. M. (2015). Thematic minireview series: The state of the cytoskeleton in 2015. In *Journal of Biological Chemistry* (Vol. 290, pp. 17133-17136): American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Inc.
- Flach, K., Hilbrich, I., Schiffmann, A., Gärtner, U., Krüger, M., Leonhardt, M., . . . Holzer, M. (2012). Tau oligomers impair artificial membrane integrity and cellular viability. In *Journal of Biological Chemistry* (Vol. 287, pp. 43223-43233): J Biol Chem.
- Foster, N. L., Gilman, S., Berent, S., Morin, E. M., Brown, M. B., & Koeppe, R. A. (1988). Cerebral hypometabolism in progressive supranuclear palsy studied with positron emission tomography. In *Annals of Neurology* (Vol. 24, pp. 399-406): Ann Neurol.
- Foster, N. L., Minoshima, S., Johanns, J., Little, R., Heumann, M. L., Kuhl, D. E., & Gilman, S. (2000). PET measures of benzodiazepine receptors in progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Neurology* (Vol. 54, pp. 1768-1773): Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Frandemiche, M. L., De Seranno, S., Rush, T., Borel, E., Elie, A., Arnal, I., . . . Buisson, A. (2014). Activity-dependent tau protein translocation to excitatory synapse is disrupted by exposure to amyloid-beta oligomers. In *Journal of Neuroscience* (Vol. 34, pp. 6084-6097): Society for Neuroscience.
- Fu, M., & Zuo, Y. (2011). Experience-dependent structural plasticity in the cortex. Trends Neurosci, 34(4), 177-187. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2011.02.001
- Fukutomi, H., Glasser, M. F., Zhang, H., Autio, J. A., Coalson, T. S., Okada, T., . . . Hayashi, T. (2018). Neurite imaging reveals microstructural variations in human cerebral cortical gray matter. *Neuroimage*, 182, 488-499. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.02.017
- Fusco, F. R., Chen, Q., Lamoreaux, W. J., Figueredo-Cardenas, G., Jiao, Y., Coffman, J. A., ... Reiner, A. (1999). Cellular Localization of Huntingtin in Striatal and Cortical Neurons in Rats: Lack of Correlation with Neuronal Vulnerability in Huntington's Disease. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(4), 1189. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-04-01189.1999
- Garcia-Reitböck, P., Anichtchik, O., Bellucci, A., Iovino, M., Ballini, C., Fineberg, E., . . . Spillantini, M. G. (2010). SNARE protein redistribution and synaptic failure in a transgenic mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Brain*, 133(Pt 7), 2032-2044. doi:10.1093/brain/awq132
- Gardner, R. C., Boxer, A. L., Trujillo, A., Mirsky, J. B., Guo, C. C., Gennatas, E. D., ... Seeley, W. W. (2013). Intrinsic connectivity network disruption in progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Annals of Neurology* (Vol. 73, pp. 603-616): NIH Public Access.
- Gazzina, S., Respondek, G., Compta, Y., Allinson, K. S., Spillantini, M. G., Molina-Porcel, L., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2019). Neuropathological validation of the MDS-PSP criteria with PSP and other frontotemporal lobar degeneration. In *bioRxiv* (pp. 520510): Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory.
- Gerhard, A., Trender-Gerhard, I., Turkheimer, F., Quinn, N. P., Bhatia, K. P., & Brooks, D. J. (2006). In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C]-PK11195 PET progresive supranuclear palsy. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 21, pp. 89-93): Mov Disord.
- Gerhard, A., Watts, J., Trender-Gerhard, I., Turkheimer, F., Banati, R. B., Bhatia, K., & Brooks, D. J. (2004). In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C](R -PK11195 PET in corticobasal degeneration. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 19, pp. 1221-1226).
- Germann, M., Brederoo, S. G., & Sommer, I. E. C. (2021). Abnormal synaptic pruning during adolescence underlying the development of psychotic disorders. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*, 34(3), 222-227. doi:10.1097/yco.000000000000696
- Gerson, J. E., Sengupta, U., Lasagna-Reeves, C. A., Guerrero-Muñoz, M. J., Troncoso, J., & Kayed, R. (2014). Characterization of tau oligomeric seeds in progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Acta Neuropathologica Communications* (Vol. 2, pp. 73): BioMed Central Ltd.
- Giunta, M., Solje, E., Gardoni, F., Borroni, B., & Benussi, A. (2021). Experimental Disease-Modifying Agents for Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration. *J Exp Pharmacol*, 13, 359-376. doi:10.2147/jep.S262352
- Glasmacher, S. A., Leigh, P. N., & Saha, R. A. (2017). Predictors of survival in progressive supranuclear palsy and multiple system atrophy: A systematic review and metaanalysis. In *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* (Vol. 88, pp. 402-411): BMJ Publishing Group.
- Glorie, D., Verhaeghe, J., Miranda, A., De Lombaerde, S., Stroobants, S., & Staelens, S. (2020). Sapap3 deletion causes dynamic synaptic density abnormalities: a longitudinal [(11)C]UCB-J PET study in a model of obsessive-compulsive disorder-like behaviour. *EJNMMI Res*, 10(1), 140. doi:10.1186/s13550-020-00721-2
- Goedert, M., Eisenberg, D. S., & Crowther, R. A. (2017a). Propagation of Tau Aggregates and Neurodegeneration. In *Annual Review of Neuroscience* (Vol. 40, pp. 189-210): Annual Reviews Inc.
- Goedert, M., Eisenberg, D. S., & Crowther, R. A. (2017b). Propagation of Tau Aggregates and Neurodegeneration. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 40, 189-210. doi:10.1146/annurev-neuro-072116-031153
- Golbe, L. I., & Ohman-Strickland, P. A. (2007). A clinical rating scale for progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Brain* (Vol. 130, pp. 1552-1565): Oxford University Press.
- Gómez-Isla, T., Hollister, R., West, H., Mui, S., Growdon, J. H., Petersen, R. C., . . . Hyman, B. T. (1997). Neuronal loss correlates with but exceeds neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol, 41(1), 17-24. doi:10.1002/ana.410410106
- Gómez-Ramos, A., Díaz-Hernández, M., Cuadros, R., Hernández, F., & Avila, J. (2006). Extracellular tau is toxic to neuronal cells. In *FEBS Letters* (Vol. 580, pp. 4842-4850): FEBS Lett.
- Gómez-Ramos, A., Díaz-Hernández, M., Rubio, A., Díaz-Hernández, J. I., Miras-Portugal, M. T., & Avila, J. (2009). Characteristics and consequences of muscarinic receptor

activation by tau protein. In *European Neuropsychopharmacology* (Vol. 19, pp. 708-717): Elsevier.

- Gómez-Ramos, A., Díaz-Hernández, M., Rubio, A., Miras-Portugal, M. T., & Avila, J. (2008). Extracellular tau promotes intracellular calcium increase through M1 and M3 muscarinic receptors in neuronal cells. In *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience* (Vol. 37, pp. 673-681): Mol Cell Neurosci.
- Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Hillis, A. E., Weintraub, S., Kertesz, A., Mendez, M., Cappa, S. F., . . . Grossman, M. (2011). Classification of primary progressive aphasia and its variants. In *Neurology* (Vol. 76, pp. 1006-1014): Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Gorrie, G. H., Fecto, F., Radzicki, D., Weiss, C., Shi, Y., Dong, H., ... Deng, H. X. (2014). Dendritic spinopathy in transgenic mice expressing ALS/dementia-linked mutant UBQLN2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111(40), 14524-14529. doi:10.1073/pnas.1405741111
- Grosse, P., Kühn, A., Cordivari, C., & Brown, P. (2003). Coherence analysis in the myoclonus of corticobasal degeneration. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 18, pp. 1345-1350).
- Grötsch, M. T., Respondek, G., Colosimo, C., Compta, Y., Corvol, J. C., Ferreira, J., . . . Höglinger, G. U. (2021). A Modified Progressive Supranuclear Palsy Rating Scale. *Mov Disord*. doi:10.1002/mds.28470
- Grussu, F., Schneider, T., Tur, C., Yates, R. L., Tachrount, M., Ianuş, A., . . . Gandini Wheeler-Kingshott, C. A. M. (2017). Neurite dispersion: a new marker of multiple sclerosis spinal cord pathology? Ann Clin Transl Neurol, 4(9), 663-679. doi:10.1002/acn3.445
- Guerreiro, P. S., Gerhardt, E., Lopes da Fonseca, T., Bähr, M., Outeiro, T. F., & Eckermann, K. (2016). LRRK2 Promotes Tau Accumulation, Aggregation and Release. In *Molecular Neurobiology* (Vol. 53, pp. 3124-3135): Humana Press Inc.
- Guix, F. X., Corbett, G. T., Cha, D. J., Mustapic, M., Liu, W., Mengel, D., . . . Walsh, D.
 M. (2018). Detection of aggregation-competent tau in neuron-derived extracellular vesicles. In *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* (Vol. 19): MDPI AG.
- Gunn, R. N., Lammertsma, A. A., Hume, S. P., & Cunningham, V. J. (1997). Parametric imaging of ligand-receptor binding in PET using a simplified reference region model. In *Neuroimage* (Vol. 6, pp. 279-287): Academic Press.
- Guo, J. L., & Lee, V. M. Y. (2011). Seeding of normal tau by pathological tau conformers drives pathogenesis of Alzheimer-like tangles. In *Journal of Biological Chemistry* (Vol. 286, pp. 15317-15331): J Biol Chem.
- Halliday, G. M., Li, Y. W., Blumbergs, P. C., Joh, T. H., Cotton, R. G., Howe, P. R., ... Geffen, L. B. (1990). Neuropathology of immunohistochemically identified brainstem neurons in Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 27(4), 373-385. doi:10.1002/ana.410270405
- Hammers, A., Allom, R., Koepp, M. J., Free, S. L., Myers, R., Lemieux, L., . . . Duncan, J. S. (2003). Three-dimensional maximum probability atlas of the human brain, with particular reference to the temporal lobe. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 19(4), 224-247. doi:10.1002/hbm.10123
- Hamos, J. E., DeGennaro, L. J., & Drachman, D. A. (1989). Synaptic loss in alzheimer's disease and other dementias. In *Neurology* (Vol. 39, pp. 355-361): Neurology.
- Hanger, D. P., Anderton, B. H., & Noble, W. (2009). Tau phosphorylation: the therapeutic challenge for neurodegenerative disease. *Trends Mol Med*, 15(3), 112-119. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2009.01.003

- Hanger, D. P., Goniotaki, D., & Noble, W. (2019). Synaptic Localisation of Tau. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, *1184*, 105-112. doi:10.1007/978-981-32-9358-8_9
- Harms, R. L., Fritz, F. J., Tobisch, A., Goebel, R., & Roebroeck, A. (2017). Robust and fast nonlinear optimization of diffusion MRI microstructure models. *Neuroimage*, 155, 82-96. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.04.064
- Harris, K. M., Jensen, F. E., & Tsao, B. (1992). Three-dimensional structure of dendritic spines and synapses in rat hippocampus (CA 1) at postnatal day 15 and adult ages: Implications for the maturation of synaptic physiology and long-term potentiation. In *Journal of Neuroscience* (Vol. 12, pp. 2685-2705): J Neurosci.
- Harris, K. M., & Kater, S. B. (1994). Dendritic spines: cellular specializations imparting both stability and flexibility to synaptic function. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 17, 341-371. doi:10.1146/annurev.ne.17.030194.002013
- Haydon, P. G. (2001). Glia: Listening and talking to the synapse. In *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 2, pp. 185-193).
- Hebb, D. (1949). The organization of behavior: A neuropsychological theory. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1949. 335 p. In *Science Education* (Vol. 34, pp. 336-337): Wiley.
- Hellwig, S., Amtage, F., Kreft, A., Buchert, R., Winz, O. H., Vach, W., . . . Meyer, P. T. (2012). [18F]FDG-PET is superior to [123I]IBZM-SPECT for the differential diagnosis of parkinsonism. In *Neurology* (Vol. 79, pp. 1314-1322): Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Hellwig, S., Frings, L., Amtage, F., Buchert, R., Spehl, T. S., Rijntjes, M., . . . Meyer, P. T. (2015). 18F-FDG PET Is an early predictor of overall survival in suspected atypical parkinsonism. In *Journal of Nuclear Medicine* (Vol. 56, pp. 1541-1546): Society of Nuclear Medicine Inc.
- Hering, H., & Sheng, M. (2001). Dentritic spines: structure, dynamics and regulation. In *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 2, pp. 880-888): Nature Publishing Group.
- Herms, J., & Dorostkar, M. M. (2016). Dendritic Spine Pathology in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis, 11, 221-250. doi:10.1146/annurev-pathol-012615-044216
- Hoffmann, N. A., Dorostkar, M. M., Blumenstock, S., Goedert, M., & Herms, J. (2014). Impaired plasticity of cortical dendritic spines in P301S tau transgenic mice. In Acta Neuropathologica Communications (Vol. 2, pp. 82): BioMed Central Ltd.
- Höglinger, G. U., Melhem, N. M., Dickson, D. W., Sleiman, P. M. A., Wang, L. S., Klei, L.,...Zecchinelli, A. L. (2011). Identification of common variants influencing risk of the tauopathy progressive supranuclear palsy. *Nature Genetics*: Nature Publishing Group.
- Höglinger, G. U., Respondek, G., Stamelou, M., Kurz, C., Josephs, K. A., Lang, A. E., . . . Bordelon, Y. (2017). Clinical diagnosis of progressive supranuclear palsy: The movement disorder society criteria. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 32, pp. 853-864).
- Holland, N., Jones, P. S., Savulich, G., Wiggins, J. K., Hong, Y. T., Fryer, T. D., ... Rowe, J. B. (2020). Synaptic Loss in Primary Tauopathies Revealed by [11C]UCB-J Positron Emission Tomography. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 35, pp. 1834-1842): John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Holland, N., Robbins, T. W., & Rowe, J. B. (2021). The role of noradrenaline in cognition and cognitive disorders. In *Brain*.
- Holmes, B. B., DeVos, S. L., Kfoury, N., Li, M., Jacks, R., Yanamandra, K., . . . Diamond,
 M. I. (2013). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans mediate internalization and

propagation of specific proteopathic seeds. In Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America (Vol. 110).

- Holmes, B. B., & Diamond, M. I. (2014). Prion-like properties of Tau protein: the importance of extracellular Tau as a therapeutic target. J Biol Chem, 289(29), 19855-19861. doi:10.1074/jbc.R114.549295
- Holmes, S. E., Scheinost, D., Finnema, S. J., Naganawa, M., Davis, M. T., DellaGioia, N., ... Esterlis, I. (2019). Lower synaptic density is associated with depression severity and network alterations. In Nature Communications (Vol. 10).
- Honer, W. G. (2003). Pathology of presynaptic proteins in Alzheimer's disease: More than simple loss of terminals. In Neurobiology of Aging (Vol. 24, pp. 1047-1062).
- Hoover, B. R., Reed, M. N., Su, J., Penrod, R. D., Kotilinek, L. A., Grant, M. K., ... Liao, D. (2010). Tau Mislocalization to Dendritic Spines Mediates Synaptic Dysfunction Independently of Neurodegeneration. In Neuron (Vol. 68, pp. 1067-1081): Cell Press.
- Howlett, D. R., Whitfield, D., Johnson, M., Attems, J., O'Brien, J. T., Aarsland, D., ... Francis, P. T. (2015). Regional Multiple Pathology Scores Are Associated with Cognitive Decline in Lewy Body Dementias. Brain Pathol, 25(4), 401-408. doi:10.1111/bpa.12182
- Hughes, L. E., Ghosh, B. C. P., & Rowe, J. B. (2013). Reorganisation of brain networks in frontotemporal dementia and progressive supranuclear palsy. In NeuroImage: Clinical (Vol. 2, pp. 459-468).
- Ingelsson, M., Fukumoto, H., Newell, K. L., Growdon, J. H., Hedley-Whyte, E. T., Frosch, M. P., ... Irizarry, M. C. (2004). Early Abeta accumulation and progressive synaptic loss, gliosis, and tangle formation in AD brain. Neurology, 62(6), 925-931. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000115115.98960.37
- Irwin, D. J., Brettschneider, J., McMillan, C. T., Cooper, F., Olm, C., Arnold, S. E., ... Trojanowski, J. Q. (2016). Deep clinical and neuropathological phenotyping of Pick disease. Ann Neurol, 79(2), 272-287. doi:10.1002/ana.24559
- Ishibashi, K., Tomiyama, T., Nishitsuji, K., Hara, M., & Mori, H. (2006). Absence of synaptophysin near cortical neurons containing oligomer Abeta in Alzheimer's disease brain. J Neurosci Res, 84(3), 632-636. doi:10.1002/jnr.20952
- Islam, M. S., Nolte, H., Jacob, W., Ziegler, A. B., Pütz, S., Grosjean, Y., . . . Krüger, M. (2016). Human R1441C LRRK2 regulates the synaptic vesicle proteome and phosphoproteome in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. Hum Mol Genet, 25(24), 5365-5382. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddw352
- Jabbari, E., Holland, N., Chelban, V., Jones, P. S., Lamb, R., Rawlinson, C., . . . Morris, H. R. (2019). Diagnosis Across the Spectrum of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy and Corticobasal Syndrome. In JAMA Neurology.
- Jabbari, E., Koga, S., Valentino, R. R., Reynolds, R. H., Ferrari, R., Tan, M. M. X., . . . T.M. Hu, M. (2021). Genetic determinants of survival in progressive supranuclear palsy: a genome-wide association study. In The Lancet Neurology (Vol. 20, pp. 107-116): Lancet Publishing Group.
- Jabbari, E., Woodside, J., Tan, M. M. X., Shoai, M., Pittman, A., Ferrari, R., . . . Morris, H. R. (2018). Variation at the TRIM11 locus modifies progressive supranuclear palsy phenotype. In Annals of Neurology (Vol. 84, pp. 485-496): John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Jack, C. R., Wiste, H. J., Weigand, S. D., Therneau, T. M., Knopman, D. S., Lowe, V., ... Petersen, R. C. (2017a). Age-specific and sex-specific prevalence of cerebral β-

amyloidosis, tauopathy, and neurodegeneration in cognitively unimpaired individuals aged 50–95 years: a cross-sectional study. In *The Lancet Neurology* (Vol. 16, pp. 435-444): NIH Public Access.

- Jack, C. R., Wiste, H. J., Weigand, S. D., Therneau, T. M., Lowe, V. J., Knopman, D. S., . . Petersen, R. C. (2017b). Defining imaging biomarker cut points for brain aging and Alzheimer's disease. In *Alzheimer's and Dementia* (Vol. 13, pp. 205-216): NIH Public Access.
- Jackson, J., Jambrina, E., Li, J., Marston, H., Menzies, F., Phillips, K., & Gilmour, G. (2019). Targeting the Synapse in Alzheimer's Disease. *Front Neurosci*, 13, 735. doi:10.3389/fnins.2019.00735
- Jackson, J. S., Witton, J., Johnson, J. D., Ahmed, Z., Ward, M., Randall, A. D., . . . Ashby, M. C. (2017). Altered Synapse Stability in the Early Stages of Tauopathy. *Cell Reports*, 18(13), 3063-3068. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.03.013</u>
- Jacobsen, J. S., Wu, C.-C., Redwine, J. M., Comery, T. A., Arias, R., Bowlby, M., . . . Bloom, F. E. (2006). Early-onset behavioral and synaptic deficits in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103, 5161-5166. Retrieved from https://www.pnas.org/content/pnas/103/13/5161.full.pdf
- Jadhav, S., Cubinkova, V., Zimova, I., Brezovakova, V., Madari, A., Cigankova, V., & Zilka, N. (2015). Tau-mediated synaptic damage in Alzheimer's disease. *Transl Neurosci*, 6(1), 214-226. doi:10.1515/tnsci-2015-0023
- Jähne, S., Mikulasch, F., Heuer, H. G. H., Truckenbrodt, S., Agüi-Gonzalez, P., Grewe, K., ... Priesemann, V. (2021). Presynaptic activity and protein turnover are correlated at the single-synapse level. *Cell Rep*, 34(11), 108841. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2021.108841
- Janezic, S., Threlfell, S., Dodson, P. D., Dowie, M. J., Taylor, T. N., Potgieter, D., . . . Wade-Martins, R. (2013). Deficits in dopaminergic transmission precede neuron loss and dysfunction in a new Parkinson model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110(42), E4016-4025. doi:10.1073/pnas.1309143110
- Jeffrey, M., Halliday, W. G., Bell, J., Johnston, A. R., MacLeod, N. K., Ingham, C., . . . Fraser, J. R. (2000). Synapse loss associated with abnormal PrP precedes neuronal degeneration in the scrapie-infected murine hippocampus. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, 26(1), 41-54. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2990.2000.00216.x
- Jiang, S., Wen, N., Li, Z., Dube, U., Del Aguila, J., Budde, J., . . . Karch, C. M. (2018). Integrative system biology analyses of CRISPR-edited iPSC-derived neurons and human brains reveal deficiencies of presynaptic signaling in FTLD and PSP. In *Translational Psychiatry* (Vol. 8, pp. 265).
- Johnsen, G. E., & Asbjørnsen, A. E. (2008). Consistent impaired verbal memory in PTSD: a meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord*, 111(1), 74-82. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2008.02.007
- Josephs, K. A., Petersen, R. C., Knopman, D. S., Boeve, B. F., Whitwell, J. L., Duffy, J. R., . . . Dickson, D. W. (2006). Clinicopathologic analysis of frontotemporal and corticobasal degenerations and PSP. In *Neurology* (Vol. 66, pp. 41-48): Neurology.
- Josephs, K. A., Whitwell, J. L., Dickson, D. W., Boeve, B. F., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., . . . Jack, C. R. (2008). Voxel-based morphometry in autopsy proven PSP and CBD. In *Neurobiology of Aging* (Vol. 29, pp. 280-289).
- Juh, R., Kim, J., Moon, D., Choe, B., & Suh, T. (2004). Different metabolic patterns analysis of Parkinsonism on the 18 F-FDG PET. In *European Journal of Radiology* (Vol. 51, pp. 223-233).

- Kaiser, R. H., Andrews-Hanna, J. R., Wager, T. D., & Pizzagalli, D. A. (2015). Large-Scale Network Dysfunction in Major Depressive Disorder: A Meta-analysis of Resting-Connectivity. State Functional JAMA Psychiatry, 72(6), 603-611. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0071
- Kamagata, K., Hatano, T., Okuzumi, A., Motoi, Y., Abe, O., Shimoji, K., . . . Aoki, S. (2016). Neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging in the substantia nigra disease. Eur Radiol, in idiopathic Parkinson 26(8), 2567-2577. doi:10.1007/s00330-015-4066-8
- Kandel, E. R., Dudai, Y., & Mayford, M. R. (2014). The molecular and systems biology of memory. Cell, 157(1), 163-186. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.001
- Kandimalla, R., Manczak, M., Yin, X., Wang, R., & Reddy, P. H. (2018). Hippocampal phosphorylated tau induced cognitive decline, dendritic spine loss and mitochondrial abnormalities in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. In Human Molecular Genetics (Vol. 27, pp. 30-40): Oxford University Press.
- Kang, H. J., Voleti, B., Hajszan, T., Rajkowska, G., Stockmeier, C. A., Licznerski, P., ... Duman, R. S. (2012). Decreased expression of synapse-related genes and loss of synapses in major depressive disorder. Nat Med, 18(9), 1413-1417. doi:10.1038/nm.2886
- Kaniyappan, S., Chandupatla, R. R., Mandelkow, E. M., & Mandelkow, E. (2017). Extracellular low-n oligomers of tau cause selective synaptotoxicity without affecting cell viability. In Alzheimer's and Dementia (Vol. 13, pp. 1270-1291).
- Katsinelos, T., Zeitler, M., Dimou, E., Karakatsani, A., Müller, H. M., Nachman, E., . . . Jahn, T. R. (2018). Unconventional Secretion Mediates the Trans-cellular Spreading of Tau. In Cell Reports (Vol. 23, pp. 2039-2055): Elsevier B.V.
- Kaufman, A. C., Salazar, S. V., Haas, L. T., Yang, J., Kostylev, M. A., Jeng, A. T., . . . Strittmatter, S. M. (2015). Fyn inhibition rescues established memory and synapse loss in Alzheimer mice. Ann Neurol, 77(6), 953-971. doi:10.1002/ana.24394
- Kester, M. I., Teunissen, C. E., Crimmins, D. L., Herries, E. M., Ladenson, J. H., Scheltens, P., . . . Fagan, A. M. (2015). Neurogranin as a Cerebrospinal Fluid Biomarker for Synaptic Loss in Symptomatic Alzheimer Disease. JAMA Neurology, 72(11), 1275-1280. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.1867
- Kluin, K. J., Gilman, S., Foster, N. L., Sima, A. A. F., D'Amato, C. J., Bruch, L. A., . . . Johanns, J. (2001). Neuropathological correlates of dysarthria in progressive supranuclear palsy. In Archives of Neurology (Vol. 58, pp. 265-269): American Medical Association.
- Klunk, W. E., Koeppe, R. A., Price, J. C., Benzinger, T. L., Devous, M. D., Jagust, W. J., Mintun, M. A. (2015). The Centiloid project: Standardizing quantitative amyloid plaque estimation by PET. In Alzheimer's and Dementia (Vol. 11, pp. 1-15.e14): NIH Public Access.
- Kneynsberg, A., Combs, B., Christensen, K., Morfini, G., & Kanaan, N. M. (2017). Axonal Degeneration in Tauopathies: Disease Relevance and Underlying Mechanisms. Front Neurosci, 11, 572. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00572
- Koga, S., Parks, A., Kasanuki, K., Sanchez-Contreras, M., Baker, M. C., Josephs, K. A., Dickson, D. W. (2017). Cognitive impairment in progressive supranuclear palsy is associated with tau burden. In Movement Disorders (Vol. 32, pp. 1772-1779): John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Koole, M., van Aalst, J., Devrome, M., Mertens, N., Serdons, K., Lacroix, B., . . . Van Laere, K. (2019). Quantifying SV2A density and drug occupancy in the human

brain using [11 C]UCB-J PET imaging and subcortical white matter as reference tissue. In *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging* (Vol. 46, pp. 396-406).

- Kopeikina, K. J., Carlson, G. A., Pitstick, R., Ludvigson, A. E., Peters, A., Luebke, J. I., . .
 Spires-Jones, T. L. (2011). Tau accumulation causes mitochondrial distribution deficits in neurons in a mouse model of tauopathy and in human Alzheimer's disease brain. In *American Journal of Pathology* (Vol. 179, pp. 2071-2082): Am J Pathol.
- Kopeikina, K. J., Polydoro, M., Tai, H. C., Yaeger, E., Carlson, G. A., Pitstick, R., . . . Spires-Jones, T. L. (2013). Synaptic alterations in the rTg4510 mouse model of tauopathy. In *Journal of Comparative Neurology* (Vol. 521, pp. 1334-1353): J Comp Neurol.
- Kovacs, G. G. (2015). Invited review: Neuropathology of tauopathies: principles and practice. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, *41*(1), 3-23. doi:10.1111/nan.12208
- Kovacs, G. G. (2020). Astroglia and Tau: New Perspectives. In *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience* (Vol. 12, pp. 96): Frontiers Media SA.
- Kovacs, G. G., Lukic, M. J., Irwin, D. J., Arzberger, T., Respondek, G., Lee, E. B., ... Höglinger, G. U. (2020). Distribution patterns of tau pathology in progressive supranuclear palsy. *Acta Neuropathol*, 140(2), 99-119. doi:10.1007/s00401-020-02158-2
- Koziorowski, D., Figura, M., Milanowski Ł, M., Szlufik, S., Alster, P., Madetko, N., & Friedman, A. (2021). Mechanisms of Neurodegeneration in Various Forms of Parkinsonism-Similarities and Differences. *Cells*, 10(3). doi:10.3390/cells10030656
- Kramer, M. L., & Schulz-Schaeffer, W. J. (2007). Presynaptic alpha-synuclein aggregates, not Lewy bodies, cause neurodegeneration in dementia with Lewy bodies. J Neurosci, 27(6), 1405-1410. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4564-06.2007
- Kril, J. J., Patel, S., Harding, A. J., & Halliday, G. M. (2002). Neuron loss from the hippocampus of Alzheimer's disease exceeds extracellular neurofibrillary tangle formation. *Acta Neuropathol*, 103(4), 370-376. doi:10.1007/s00401-001-0477-5
- Kroth, H., Oden, F., Molette, J., Schieferstein, H., Capotosti, F., Mueller, A., ... Stephens, A. (2019). Discovery and preclinical characterization of [(18)F]PI-2620, a next-generation tau PET tracer for the assessment of tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease and other tauopathies. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*, 46(10), 2178-2189. doi:10.1007/s00259-019-04397-2
- Kuchibhotla, K. V., Wegmann, S., Kopeikina, K. J., Hawkes, J., Rudinskiy, N., Andermann, M. L., ... Hyman, B. T. (2014). Neurofibrillary tangle-bearing neurons are functionally integrated in cortical circuits in vivo. In *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* (Vol. 111, pp. 510-514): Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
- Kweon, J. H., Kim, S., & Lee, S. B. (2017). The cellular basis of dendrite pathology in neurodegenerative diseases. In *BMB Reports* (Vol. 50, pp. 5-11).
- Kwon, H. S., & Koh, S.-H. (2020). Neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative disorders: the roles of microglia and astrocytes. *Translational Neurodegeneration*, 9(1), 42. doi:10.1186/s40035-020-00221-2
- Lang, A. E., Stebbins, G. T., Wang, P., Jabbari, E., Lamb, R., Morris, H., ... Rowe, J. B. (2020). The Cortical Basal ganglia Functional Scale (CBFS): Development and preliminary validation. In *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders* (Vol. 79, pp. 121-126): Elsevier Ltd.

- Lansdall, C. J., Coyle-Gilchrist, I. T. S., Jones, P. S., Rodríguez, P. V., Wilcox, A., Wehmann, E., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2017). Apathy and impulsivity in frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndromes. In *Brain* (Vol. 140, pp. 1792-1807): Oxford University Press.
- Lasagna-Reeves, C. A., Castillo-Carranza, D. L., Jackson, G. R., & Kayed, R. (2011a). Tau Oligomers as Potential Targets for Immunotherapy for Alzheimers Disease and Tauopathies. In *Current Alzheimer Research* (Vol. 8, pp. 659-665): Bentham Science Publishers Ltd.
- Lasagna-Reeves, C. A., Castillo-Carranza, D. L., Sengupta, U., Clos, A. L., Jackson, G. R., & Kayed, R. (2011b). Tau oligomers impair memory and induce synaptic and mitochondrial dysfunction in wild-type mice. In *Molecular Neurodegeneration* (Vol. 6): Mol Neurodegener.
- Lasagna-Reeves, C. A., Castillo-Carranza, D. L., Sengupta, U., Guerrero-Munoz, M. J., Kiritoshi, T., Neugebauer, V., . . . Kayed, R. (2012). Alzheimer brain-derived tau oligomers propagate pathology from endogenous tau. In *Scientific Reports* (Vol. 2, pp. 1-7): Nature Publishing Group.
- Lee, S. E., Rabinovici, G. D., Mayo, M. C., Wilson, S. M., Seeley, W. W., DeArmond, S. J., . . . Miller, B. L. (2011). Clinicopathological correlations in corticobasal degeneration. *Ann Neurol*, 70(2), 327-340. doi:10.1002/ana.22424
- Lee, V. M., Goedert, M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2001). Neurodegenerative tauopathies. Annu Rev Neurosci, 24, 1121-1159. doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.1121
- Leemans, A., & Jones, D. K. (2009). The B-matrix must be rotated when correcting for subject motion in DTI data. *Magn Reson Med*, 61(6), 1336-1349. doi:10.1002/mrm.21890
- Leuba, G., Walzer, C., Vernay, A., Carnal, B., Kraftsik, R., Piotton, F., . . . Savioz, A. (2008). Postsynaptic density protein PSD-95 expression in Alzheimer's disease and okadaic acid induced neuritic retraction. In *Neurobiology of Disease* (Vol. 30, pp. 408-419): Neurobiol Dis.
- Leuzy, A., Chiotis, K., Lemoine, L., Gillberg, P. G., Almkvist, O., Rodriguez-Vieitez, E., & Nordberg, A. (2019). Tau PET imaging in neurodegenerative tauopathies-still a challenge. *Mol Psychiatry*, 24(8), 1112-1134. doi:10.1038/s41380-018-0342-8
- Levine, M. S., Cepeda, C., Hickey, M. A., Fleming, S. M., & Chesselet, M. F. (2004). Genetic mouse models of Huntington's and Parkinson's diseases: illuminating but imperfect. *Trends Neurosci*, 27(11), 691-697. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2004.08.008
- Lewis-Smith, D. J., Wolpe, N., Ghosh, B. C. P., & Rowe, J. B. (2020). Alien limb in the corticobasal syndrome: phenomenological characteristics and relationship to apraxia. In *Journal of Neurology* (Vol. 267, pp. 1147-1157): Springer.
- Lin, C. H., Tsai, P. I., Wu, R. M., & Chien, C. T. (2010). LRRK2 G2019S mutation induces dendrite degeneration through mislocalization and phosphorylation of tau by recruiting autoactivated GSK3β. In *Journal of Neuroscience* (Vol. 30, pp. 13138-13149): Society for Neuroscience.
- Ling, H., O'Sullivan, S. S., Holton, J. L., Revesz, T., Massey, L. A., Williams, D. R., . . . Lees, A. J. (2010). Does corticobasal degeneration exist? A clinicopathological reevaluation. In *Brain* (Vol. 133, pp. 2045-2057): Brain.
- Lipton, A. M., Munro Cullum, C., Satumtira, S., Sontag, E., Hynan, L. S., White, C. L., & Bigio, E. H. (2001). Contribution of asymmetric synapse loss to lateralizing clinical deficits in frontotemporal dementias. In *Archives of Neurology* (Vol. 58, pp. 1233-1239): American Medical Association.

- Litvan, I., Cummings, J. L., & Mega, M. (1998). Neuropsychiatric features of corticobasal degeneration. In *Journal of Neurology Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* (Vol. 65, pp. 717-721): BMJ Publishing Group.
- Litvan, I., Lees, P. S. J., Cunningham, C. R., Rai, S. N., Cambon, A. C., Standaert, D. G., . . Hennessy, C. (2016). Environmental and occupational risk factors for progressive supranuclear palsy: Case-control study. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 31, pp. 644-652): John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Litvan, I., Proudfoot, J. A., Martin, E. R., Standaert, D., Riley, D., Hall, D., . . . Jankovic, J. (2021). Gene-Environment Interactions in Progressive Supranuclear Palsy. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 12(488). doi:10.3389/fneur.2021.664796
- Liu, X., & Brun, A. (1996). Regional and laminar synaptic pathology in frontal lobe degeneration of non-Alzheimer type. In *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* (Vol. 11, pp. 47-55): John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Löscher, W., Gillard, M., Sands, Z. A., Rafal, Kaminski, M., & Klitgaard, H. (2016). Synaptic Vesicle Glycoprotein 2A Ligands in the Treatment of Epilepsy and Beyond. In CNS Drugs (Vol. 30).
- Lue, L. F., Kuo, Y. M., Roher, A. E., Brachova, L., Shen, Y., Sue, L., ... Rogers, J. (1999). Soluble amyloid beta peptide concentration as a predictor of synaptic change in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol, 155(3), 853-862. doi:10.1016/s0002-9440(10)65184-x
- Lynch, B. A., Lambeng, N., Nocka, K., Kensel-Hammes, P., Bajjalieh, S. M., Matagne, A., & Fuks, B. (2004). The synaptic vesicle is the protein SV2A is the binding site for the antiepileptic drug levetiracetam. In *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* (Vol. 101, pp. 9861-9866): National Academy of Sciences.
- Mackenzie, I. R., Neumann, M., Baborie, A., Sampathu, D. M., Du Plessis, D., Jaros, E., . . Lee, V. M. (2011). A harmonized classification system for FTLD-TDP pathology. *Acta Neuropathol*, 122(1), 111-113. doi:10.1007/s00401-011-0845-8
- Magnoni, S., Esparza, T. J., Conte, V., Carbonara, M., Carrabba, G., Holtzman, D. M., . . . Brody, D. L. (2012). Tau elevations in the brain extracellular space correlate with reduced amyloid- β levels and predict adverse clinical outcomes after severe traumatic brain injury. In *Brain* (Vol. 135, pp. 1268-1280): Oxford University Press.
- Mak, E., Su, L., Williams, G. B., Watson, R., Firbank, M., Blamire, A. M., & O'Brien, J. T. (2015). Longitudinal assessment of global and regional atrophy rates in Alzheimer's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 7, 456-462. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2015.01.017</u>
- Malpetti, M., Kievit, R. A., Passamonti, L., Simon Jones, P., Tsvetanov, K. A., Rittman, T., ... Rowe, J. B. (2020a). Microglial activation and tau burden predict cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. In *Brain* (Vol. 143, pp. 1588-1602): Oxford University Press.
- Malpetti, M., Passamonti, L., Jones, P. S., Street, D., Rittman, T., Fryer, T. D., ... Rowe, J. B. (2021). Neuroinflammation predicts disease progression in progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* (pp. jnnp-2020-325549).
- Malpetti, M., Passamonti, L., Rittman, T., Jones, P. S., Vázquez Rodríguez, P., Bevan-Jones, W. R., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2020b). Neuroinflammation and Tau Colocalize in

vivo in Progressive Supranuclear Palsy. In *Annals of Neurology* (Vol. 88, pp. 1194-1204): John Wiley and Sons Inc.

- Mamarabadi, M., Razjouyan, H., & Golbe, L. I. (2018). Is the Latency from Progressive Supranuclear Palsy Onset to Diagnosis Improving? In *Movement Disorders Clinical Practice* (Vol. 5, pp. 603-606): Wiley-Blackwell.
- Manavaki, R., Hong, Y., & Fryer, T. D. (2019). Brain MRI coil attenuation map processing for the GE SIGNA PET/MR: Impact on PET image quantification and uniformity. In IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference Proceedings.
- Mandel, R. J. (2010). CERE-110, an adeno-associated virus-based gene delivery vector expressing human nerve growth factor for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Opin Mol Ther*, *12*(2), 240-247.
- Mandelkow, E. M., & Mandelkow, E. (2012). Biochemistry and cell biology of tau protein in neurofibrillary degeneration. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 2(7), a006247. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a006247
- Mansur, A., Rabiner, E. A., Comley, R. A., Lewis, Y., Middleton, L. T., Huiban, M., . . . Gunn, R. N. (2020). Characterization of 3 PET tracers for quantification of mitochondrial and synaptic function in healthy human brain: 18F-BCPP-EF, 11C-SA-4503, and 11C-UCB-J. In *Journal of Nuclear Medicine* (Vol. 61, pp. 96-103): Society of Nuclear Medicine Inc.
- Mao, Q., Qin, W.-z., Zhang, A., & Ye, N. (2020). Recent advances in dopaminergic strategies for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica, 41(4), 471-482. doi:10.1038/s41401-020-0365-y
- Marquié, M., Normandin, M. D., Meltzer, A. C., Siao Tick Chong, M., Andrea, N. V., Antón-Fernández, A., . . . Gómez-Isla, T. (2017). Pathological correlations of [F-18]-AV-1451 imaging in non-alzheimer tauopathies. In *Annals of Neurology* (Vol. 81, pp. 117-128).
- Marzo, A., Galli, S., Lopes, D., McLeod, F., Podpolny, M., Segovia-Roldan, M., . . . Salinas, P. C. (2016). Reversal of Synapse Degeneration by Restoring Wnt Signaling in the Adult Hippocampus. *Curr Biol*, 26(19), 2551-2561. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2016.07.024
- Masliah, E., Ellisman, M., Carragher, B., Mallory, M., Young, S., Hansen, L., . . . Terry, R. D. (1992). Three-dimensional analysis of the relationship between synaptic pathology and neuropil threads in alzheimer disease. In *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology* (Vol. 51, pp. 404-414): J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.
- Masliah, E., Terry, R. D., Alford, M., & DeTeresa, R. (1990). Quantitative immunohistochemistry of synaptophysin in human neocortex: an alternative method to estimate density of presynaptic terminals in paraffin sections. J Histochem Cytochem, 38(6), 837-844. doi:10.1177/38.6.2110586
- Massey, L. A., Micallef, C., Paviour, D. C., O'Sullivan, S. S., Ling, H., Williams, D. R., . . Jäger, H. R. (2012). Conventional magnetic resonance imaging in confirmed progressive supranuclear palsy and multiple system atrophy. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 27, pp. 1754-1762): Mov Disord.
- Matuskey, D., Tinaz, S., Wilcox, K. C., Naganawa, M., Toyonaga, T., Dias, M., ... Carson,
 R. E. (2020). Synaptic Changes in Parkinson Disease Assessed with in vivo Imaging. In *Annals of Neurology* (Vol. 87, pp. 329-338): John Wiley and Sons Inc.

- McCutcheon, R. A., Reis Marques, T., & Howes, O. D. (2020). Schizophrenia-An Overview. JAMA Psychiatry, 77(2), 201-210. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.3360
- McKeith, I. G., Boeve, B. F., Dickson, D. W., Halliday, G., Taylor, J. P., Weintraub, D., .
 . Kosaka, K. (2017). Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: Fourth consensus report of the DLB Consortium. *Neurology*, 89(1), 88-100. doi:10.1212/wnl.00000000004058
- Mecca, A. P., Chen, M. K., O'Dell, R. S., Naganawa, M., Toyonaga, T., Godek, T. A., . . . Dyck, C. H. (2020). In vivo measurement of widespread synaptic loss in Alzheimer's disease with SV2A PET. In *Alzheimer's & Dementia* (pp. alz.12097): John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Mendoza-Torreblanca, J. G., Vanoye-Carlo, A., Phillips-Farfán, B. V., Carmona-Aparicio, L., & Gómez-Lira, G. (2013). Synaptic vesicle protein 2A: basic facts and role in synaptic function. *Eur J Neurosci, 38*(11), 3529-3539. doi:10.1111/ejn.12360
- Menkes-Caspi, N., Yamin, H. G., Kellner, V., Spires-Jones, T. L., Cohen, D., & Stern, E. A. (2015). Pathological tau disrupts ongoing network activity. In *Neuron* (Vol. 85, pp. 959-966).
- Metzler, M., Gan, L., Wong, T. P., Liu, L., Helm, J., Liu, L., . . . Hayden, M. R. (2007). NMDA receptor function and NMDA receptor-dependent phosphorylation of huntingtin is altered by the endocytic protein HIP1. *J Neurosci*, 27(9), 2298-2308. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5175-06.2007
- Milicevic Sephton, S., Miklovicz, T., Russell, J. J., Doke, A., Li, L., Boros, I., & Aigbirhio, F. I. (2020). Automated radiosynthesis of [111 C]UCB-J for imaging synaptic density by positron emission tomography. In *Journal of Labelled Compounds and Radiopharmaceuticals* (Vol. 63, pp. 151-158): John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
- Milnerwood, A. J., Gladding, C. M., Pouladi, M. A., Kaufman, A. M., Hines, R. M., Boyd, J. D., . . . Raymond, L. A. (2010). Early increase in extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signaling and expression contributes to phenotype onset in Huntington's disease mice. *Neuron*, 65(2), 178-190. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2010.01.008
- Mioshi, E., Dawson, K., Mitchell, J., Arnold, R., & Hodges, J. R. (2006). The Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination Revised (ACE-R): a brief cognitive test battery for dementia screening. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 21(11), 1078-1085. doi:10.1002/gps.1610
- Mirbaha, H., Holmes, B. B., Sanders, D. W., Bieschke, J., & Diamond, M. I. (2015). Tau trimers are the minimal propagation unit spontaneously internalized to seed intracellular aggregation. In *Journal of Biological Chemistry* (Vol. 290, pp. 14893-14903): American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Inc.
- Mitchell, T., Archer, D. B., Chu, W. T., Coombes, S. A., Lai, S., Wilkes, B. J., . . .
 Vaillancourt, D. E. (2019). Neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging (NODDI) and free-water imaging in Parkinsonism. In *Human Brain Mapping* (Vol. 40, pp. 5094-5107): John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Mohamed, N. V., Desjardins, A., & Leclerc, N. (2017). Tau secretion is correlated to an increase of Golgi dynamics. In *PLoS One* (Vol. 12): Public Library of Science.
- Mohamed, N. V., Plouffe, V., Rémillard-Labrosse, G., Planel, E., & Leclerc, N. (2014). Starvation and inhibition of lysosomal function increased tau secretion by primary cortical neurons. In *Scientific Reports* (Vol. 4, pp. 1-11): Nature Publishing Group.
- Montine, T. J., Phelps, C. H., Beach, T. G., Bigio, E. H., Cairns, N. J., Dickson, D. W., . . . Hyman, B. T. (2012). National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association

guidelines for the neuropathologic assessment of Alzheimer's disease: a practical approach. *Acta Neuropathol*, *123*(1), 1-11. doi:10.1007/s00401-011-0910-3

- Morfini, G. A., Burns, M., Binder, L. I., Kanaan, N. M., Lapointe, N., Bosco, D. A., . . . Brady, S. T. (2009). Axonal transport defects in neurodegenerative diseases. *Journal of Neuroscience*: Society for Neuroscience.
- Mormino, E. C., Toueg, T. N., Azevedo, C., Castillo, J. B., Guo, W., Nadiadwala, A., ... Chin, F. T. (2020). Tau PET imaging with (18)F-PI-2620 in aging and neurodegenerative diseases. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*. doi:10.1007/s00259-020-04923-7
- Morton, A. J., & Edwardson, J. M. (2001). Progressive depletion of complexin II in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. *J Neurochem*, 76(1), 166-172. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00059.x
- Mowinckel, A. M., & Vidal-Piñeiro, D. (2020). Visualization of Brain Statistics With R Packages ggseg and ggseg3d. *Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science*, 3(4), 466-483. doi:10.1177/2515245920928009
- Mueller, A., Bullich, S., Barret, O., Madonia, J., Berndt, M., Papin, C., . . . Stephens, A. W. (2020). Tau PET imaging with (18)F-PI-2620 in Patients with Alzheimer Disease and Healthy Controls: A First-in-Humans Study. *J Nucl Med*, 61(6), 911-919. doi:10.2967/jnumed.119.236224
- Mueller, C., Hussl, A., Krismer, F., Heim, B., Mahlknecht, P., Nocker, M., . . . Seppi, K. (2018). The diagnostic accuracy of the hummingbird and morning glory sign in patients with neurodegenerative parkinsonism. In *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders* (Vol. 54, pp. 90-94): Elsevier Ltd.
- Mufson, E. J., Conner, J. M., & Kordower, J. H. (1995). Nerve growth factor in Alzheimer's disease: defective retrograde transport to nucleus basalis. *Neuroreport*, 6(7), 1063-1066. doi:10.1097/00001756-199505090-00028
- Mukaetova-Ladinska, E. B., Garcia-Siera, F., Hurt, J., Gertz, H. J., Xuereb, J. H., Hills, R., ... Wischik, C. M. (2000). Staging of cytoskeletal and β-amyloid changes in human isocortex reveals biphasic synaptic protein response during progression of Alzheimer's disease. In *American Journal of Pathology* (Vol. 157, pp. 623-636): American Society for Investigative Pathology.
- Murley, A. G., Coyle-Gilchrist, I., Rouse, M. A., Jones, P. S., Li, W., Wiggins, J., ... Rowe, J. B. (2020a). Redefining the multidimensional clinical phenotypes of frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndromes. In *Brain* (Vol. 143, pp. 1555-1571): Oxford University Press.
- Murley, a. G., Rouse, M. A., Coyle-Gilchrist, I. T. S., Jones, P. S., Li, W., Wiggins, J., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2021). Predicting loss of independence and mortality in frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndromes. In *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* (pp. jnnp-2020-324903): BMJ.
- Murley, A. G., Rouse, M. A., Jones, P. S., Ye, R., Hezemans, F. H., O'Callaghan, C., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2020b). GABA and glutamate deficits from frontotemporal lobar degeneration are associated with disinhibition. In *Brain : a journal of neurology* (Vol. 143, pp. 3449-3462): NLM (Medline).
- Murley, A. G., & Rowe, J. B. (2018). Neurotransmitter deficits from frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Brain*, 141(5), 1263-1285. doi:10.1093/brain/awx327
- Murray, M. E., Kouri, N., Lin, W. L., Jack, C. R., Jr., Dickson, D. W., & Vemuri, P. (2014). Clinicopathologic assessment and imaging of tauopathies in neurodegenerative dementias. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 6(1), 1. doi:10.1186/alzrt231

- Murrough, J. W., Abdallah, C. G., Anticevic, A., Collins, K. A., Geha, P., Averill, L. A., . . Charney, D. S. (2016). Reduced global functional connectivity of the medial prefrontal cortex in major depressive disorder. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 37(9), 3214-3223. doi:10.1002/hbm.23235
- Mwansisya, T. E., Hu, A., Li, Y., Chen, X., Wu, G., Huang, X., . . . Liu, Z. (2017). Task and resting-state fMRI studies in first-episode schizophrenia: A systematic review. *Schizophrenia Research*, *189*, 9-18. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2017.02.026
- Nagahara, A. H., Merrill, D. A., Coppola, G., Tsukada, S., Schroeder, B. E., Shaked, G. M., . . . Tuszynski, M. H. (2009). Neuroprotective effects of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in rodent and primate models of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med*, 15(3), 331-337. doi:10.1038/nm.1912
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., . . . Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 53(4), 695-699. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Nelson, P. T., Alafuzoff, I., Bigio, E. H., Bouras, C., Braak, H., Cairns, N. J., ... Beach, T. G. (2012). Correlation of Alzheimer disease neuropathologic changes with cognitive status: a review of the literature. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 71(5), 362-381. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e31825018f7
- Nguyen, M., Wong, Y. C., Ysselstein, D., Severino, A., & Krainc, D. (2019). Synaptic, Mitochondrial, and Lysosomal Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease. *Trends Neurosci*, 42(2), 140-149. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2018.11.001
- Nicastro, N., Holland, N., Savulich, G., Carter, S. F., Mak, E., Hong, Y. T., ... O'Brien, J. T. (2020). 11C-UCB-J synaptic PET and multimodal imaging in dementia with Lewy bodies. In *European Journal of Hybrid Imaging* (Vol. 4): Springer Science and Business Media LLC.
- Niccolini, F., & Politis, M. (2016). A systematic review of lessons learned from PET molecular imaging research in atypical parkinsonism. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*, 43(12), 2244-2254. doi:10.1007/s00259-016-3464-8
- Niewiadomska, G., Niewiadomski, W., Steczkowska, M., & Gasiorowska, A. (2021). Tau Oligomers Neurotoxicity. *Life (Basel)*, 11(1). doi:10.3390/life11010028
- Niewidok, B., Igaev, M., Söndermann, F., Janning, D., Bakota, L., & Brandt, R. (2016). Presence of a carboxy-Terminal pseudorepeat and disease-like pseudohyperphosphorylation critically influence tau's interaction with microtubules in axon-like processes. In *Molecular Biology of the Cell* (Vol. 27, pp. 3537-3549): American Society for Cell Biology.
- Nithianantharajah, J., & Hannan, A. J. (2013). Dysregulation of synaptic proteins, dendritic spine abnormalities and pathological plasticity of synapses as experience-dependent mediators of cognitive and psychiatric symptoms in Huntington's disease. *Neuroscience*, 251, 66-74. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.05.043
- Nygaard, H. B., van Dyck, C. H., & Strittmatter, S. M. (2014). Fyn kinase inhibition as a novel therapy for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 6(1), 8. doi:10.1186/alzrt238
- O'Dell, R. S., Mecca, A. P., Chen, M. K., Naganawa, M., Toyonaga, T., Lu, Y., . . . van Dyck, C. H. (2021). Association of Aβ deposition and regional synaptic density in early Alzheimer's disease: a PET imaging study with [(11)C]UCB-J. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, *13*(1), 11. doi:10.1186/s13195-020-00742-y

- Oesterhus, R., Soennesyn, H., Rongve, A., Ballard, C., Aarsland, D., & Vossius, C. (2014). Long-Term Mortality in a Cohort of Home-Dwelling Elderly with Mild Alzheimer's Disease and Lewy Body Dementia. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 38(3-4), 161-169. doi:10.1159/000358051
- Olgiati, S., Quadri, M., Fang, M., Rood, J. P., Saute, J. A., Chien, H. F., . . . Bonifati, V. (2016). DNAJC6 Mutations Associated With Early-Onset Parkinson's Disease. Ann Neurol, 79(2), 244-256. doi:10.1002/ana.24553
- Onwordi, E. C., Halff, E. F., Whitehurst, T., Mansur, A., Cotel, M. C., Wells, L., . . . Howes, O. D. (2020). Synaptic density marker SV2A is reduced in schizophrenia patients and unaffected by antipsychotics in rats. In *Nature Communications* (Vol. 11): Nature Research.
- Osimo, E. F., Beck, K., Reis Marques, T., & Howes, O. D. (2019). Synaptic loss in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis and systematic review of synaptic protein and mRNA measures. *Mol Psychiatry*, 24(4), 549-561. doi:10.1038/s41380-018-0041-5
- Padovani, A., Borroni, B., Brambati, S. M., Agosti, C., Broli, M., Alonso, R., . . . Perani, D. (2006). Diffusion tensor imaging and voxel based morphometry study in early progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* (Vol. 77, pp. 457-463): BMJ Publishing Group.
- Palleis, C., Sauerbeck, J., Beyer, L., Harris, S., Schmitt, J., Morenas-Rodriguez, E., . . . Brendel, M. (2020). In Vivo Assessment of Neuroinflammation in <scp>4-Repeat</scp> Tauopathies. In *Movement Disorders* (pp. mds.28395).
- Panza, F., Imbimbo, B. P., Lozupone, M., Greco, A., Seripa, D., Logroscino, G., . . . Colosimo, C. (2019). Disease-modifying therapies for tauopathies: agents in the pipeline. *Expert Rev Neurother*, 19(5), 397-408. doi:10.1080/14737175.2019.1606715
- Park, H. J., Lee, K. W., Oh, S., Yan, R., Zhang, J., Beach, T. G., . . . Mouradian, M. M. (2018). Protein phosphatase 2A and its methylation modulating enzymes LCMT-1 and PME-1 are dysregulated in tauopathies of progressive supranuclear palsy and Alzheimer disease. In *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology* (Vol. 77, pp. 139-148): Oxford University Press.
- Parker, T. D., Slattery, C. F., Zhang, J., Nicholas, J. M., Paterson, R. W., Foulkes, A. J. M., ... Schott, J. M. (2018). Cortical microstructure in young onset Alzheimer's disease using neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 39(7), 3005-3017. doi:10.1002/hbm.24056
- Passamonti, L., Rodríguez, P. V., Hong, Y. T., Allinson, K. S. J., Williamson, D., Borchert, R. J., . . . Rowe, J. B. (2017). 18F-AV-1451 positron emission tomography in Alzheimer's disease and progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Brain* (Vol. 140, pp. 781-791).
- Peter R., H. (1979). Synaptic density in human frontal cortex Developmental changes and effects of aging. In *Brain Research* (Vol. 163, pp. 195-205): Elsevier.
- Peterson, K. A., Patterson, K., & Rowe, J. B. (2021). Language impairment in progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal syndrome. *J Neurol*, 268(3), 796-809. doi:10.1007/s00415-019-09463-1
- Pharmaceuticals, I. I. (2018). IONIS-HTT Rx (RG6042) Top-line Data Demonstrate Significant Reductions of Disease-Causing Mutant Huntingtin Protein in People With Huntington's Disease. [Press release]

- Phelan, K., & McDermid, H. E. (2012). The 22q13.3 Deletion Syndrome (Phelan-McDermid Syndrome). *Mol Syndromol*, 2(3-5), 186-201. doi:10.1159/000334260
- Picconi, B., Piccoli, G., & Calabresi, P. (2012). Synaptic dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Adv Exp Med Biol, 970, 553-572. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-0932-8_24
- Pickett, E. K., Henstridge, C. M., Allison, E., Pitstick, R., Pooler, A., Wegmann, S., . . . Spires-Jones, T. L. (2017). Spread of tau down neural circuits precedes synapse and neuronal loss in the rTgTauEC mouse model of early Alzheimer's disease. In *Synapse* (Vol. 71): Wiley-Blackwell.
- Pienaar, I. S., Burn, D., Morris, C., & Dexter, D. (2012). Synaptic Protein Alterations in Parkinson's Disease. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 45(1), 126-143. doi:10.1007/s12035-011-8226-9
- Piguet, O., Hornberger, M., Mioshi, E., & Hodges, J. R. (2011). Behavioural-variant frontotemporal dementia: diagnosis, clinical staging, and management. *Lancet Neurol*, 10(2), 162-172. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(10)70299-4
- Plowey, E. D., & Chu, C. T. (2011). Synaptic dysfunction in genetic models of Parkinson's disease: a role for autophagy? *Neurobiol Dis*, 43(1), 60-67. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2010.10.011
- Polanco, J. C., Li, C., Durisic, N., Sullivan, R., & Götz, J. (2018). Exosomes taken up by neurons hijack the endosomal pathway to spread to interconnected neurons. In Acta Neuropathologica Communications (Vol. 6, pp. 10): BioMed Central.
- Polydoro, M., Dzhala, V. I., Pooler, A. M., Nicholls, S. B., McKinney, A. P., Sanchez, L., ... Hyman, B. T. (2014). Soluble pathological tau in the entorhinal cortex leads to presynaptic deficits in an early Alzheimer's disease model. In *Acta Neuropathologica* (Vol. 127, pp. 257-270): NIH Public Access.
- Pooler, A. M., Noble, W., & Hanger, D. P. (2014). A role for tau at the synapse in Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. *Neuropharmacology*, 76 Pt A, 1-8. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.09.018
- Prentice, H., Modi, J. P., & Wu, J.-Y. (2015). Mechanisms of Neuronal Protection against Excitotoxicity, Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress, and Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Stroke and Neurodegenerative Diseases. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2015, 964518. doi:10.1155/2015/964518
- Quadri, M., Fang, M., Picillo, M., Olgiati, S., Breedveld, G. J., Graafland, J., . . . Bonifati, V. (2013). Mutation in the SYNJ1 gene associated with autosomal recessive, earlyonset Parkinsonism. *Hum Mutat*, 34(9), 1208-1215. doi:10.1002/humu.22373
- Rajendran, L., & Paolicelli, R. C. (2018). Microglia-mediated synapse loss in Alzheimer's disease. In *Journal of Neuroscience* (Vol. 38, pp. 2911-2919): Society for Neuroscience.
- Rascovsky, K., Hodges, J. R., Kipps, C. M., Johnson, J. K., Seeley, W. W., Mendez, M. F.,
 Miller, B. M. (2007). Diagnostic criteria for the behavioral variant of frontotemporal dementia (bvFTD): Current limitations and future directions. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*: Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord.
- Rebeiz, J. J., Kolodny, E. H., & Richardson, E. P. (1968). Corticodentatonigral Degeneration With Neuronal Achromasia. In *Archives of Neurology* (Vol. 18, pp. 20-33).
- Reeve, A. K., Grady, J. P., Cosgrave, E. M., Bennison, E., Chen, C., Hepplewhite, P. D., & Morris, C. M. (2018). Mitochondrial dysfunction within the synapses of substantia nigra neurons in Parkinson's disease. *NPJ Parkinsons Dis, 4*, 9. doi:10.1038/s41531-018-0044-6

- Regan, P., & Cho, K. (2019). The Role of Tau in the Post-synapse. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, *1184*, 113-121. doi:10.1007/978-981-32-9358-8_10
- Reid, M. J., Beltran-Lobo, P., Johnson, L., Perez-Nievas, B. G., & Noble, W. (2020). Astrocytes in Tauopathies. In *Frontiers in Neurology* (Vol. 11, pp. 572850): Frontiers Media S.A.
- Respondek, G., Kurz, C., Arzberger, T., Compta, Y., Englund, E., Ferguson, L. W., ... Höglinger, G. U. (2017). Which ante mortem clinical features predict progressive supranuclear palsy pathology? In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 32, pp. 995-1005).
- Revuelta, G. J., Rosso, A., & Lippa, C. F. (2008). Neuritic pathology as a correlate of synaptic loss in dementia with lewy bodies. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen, 23(1), 97-102. doi:10.1177/1533317507310565
- Rittman, T., Coyle-Gilchrist, I. T., & Rowe, J. B. (2016). Managing cognition in progressive supranuclear palsy. *Neurodegener Dis Manag*, 6(6), 499-508. doi:10.2217/nmt-2016-0027
- Rittman, T., Ghosh, B. C., McColgan, P., Breen, D. P., Evans, J., Williams-Gray, C. H., . .
 Rowe, J. B. (2013). The Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination for the differential diagnosis and longitudinal assessment of patients with parkinsonian disorders. In *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* (Vol. 84, pp. 544-551): BMJ Publishing Group.
- Robbins, T. W., James, M., Owen, A. M., Lange, K. W., Lees, A. J., Leigh, P. N., . . .
 Summers, B. A. (1994). Cognitive deficits in progressive supranuclear palsy, Parkinson's disease, and multiple system atrophy in tests sensitive to frontal lobe dysfunction. In *Journal of Neurology Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* (Vol. 57, pp. 79-88): BMJ Publishing Group.
- Robinson, J. L., Lee, E. B., Xie, S. X., Rennert, L., Suh, E., Bredenberg, C., . . . Trojanowski, J. Q. (2018). Neurodegenerative disease concomitant proteinopathies are prevalent, age-related and APOE4-associated. *Brain*, 141(7), 2181-2193. doi:10.1093/brain/awy146
- Rocher, A. B., Crimins, J. L., Amatrudo, J. M., Kinson, M. S., Todd-Brown, M. A., Lewis, J., & Luebke, J. I. (2010). Structural and functional changes in tau mutant mice neurons are not linked to the presence of NFTs. In *Experimental Neurology* (Vol. 223, pp. 385-393): NIH Public Access.
- Rocher, A. B., Kinson, M. S., & Luebke, J. I. (2008). Significant structural but not physiological changes in cortical neurons of 12-month-old Tg2576 mice. *Neurobiol Dis*, 32(2), 309-318. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2008.07.014
- Rohrer, J. D., Isaacs, A. M., Mizielinska, S., Mead, S., Lashley, T., Wray, S., . . . Warren, J. D. (2015). C9orf72 expansions in frontotemporal dementia and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*, 14(3), 291-301. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(14)70233-9
- Rohrer, J. D., Lashley, T., Schott, J. M., Warren, J. E., Mead, S., Isaacs, A. M., . . . Warren, J. D. (2011). Clinical and neuroanatomical signatures of tissue pathology in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Brain*, 134(Pt 9), 2565-2581. doi:10.1093/brain/awr198
- Rojas, J. C., Bang, J., Lobach, I. V., Tsai, R. M., Rabinovici, G. D., Miller, B. L., & Boxer, A. L. (2018). CSF neurofilament light chain and phosphorylated tau 181 predict disease progression in PSP. In *Neurology* (Vol. 90, pp. E273-E281): Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

- Rösler, T. W., Tayaranian Marvian, A., Brendel, M., Nykänen, N. P., Höllerhage, M., Schwarz, S. C., . . . Höglinger, G. U. (2019). Four-repeat tauopathies. In *Progress* in Neurobiology (Vol. 180, pp. 101644): Elsevier.
- Rossano, S., Toyonaga, T., Finnema, S. J., Naganawa, M., Lu, Y., Nabulsi, N., . . . Carson,
 R. E. (2019). Assessment of a white matter reference region for 11C-UCB-J PET quantification. In *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*.
- Rousset, O. G., Ma, Y., & Evans, A. C. (1998). Correction for partial volume effects in PET: Principle and validation. In *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*.
- Rowe, J. B., Holland, N., & Rittman, T. (2021). Progressive Supranuclear Palsy: Diagnosis and Mangagement *Practical Neurology*(*In press.*).
- Rusz, J., Bonnet, C., Klempíř, J., Tykalová, T., Baborová, E., Novotný, M., . . . Růžička, E. (2015). Speech disorders reflect differing pathophysiology in Parkinson's disease, progressive supranuclear palsy and multiple system atrophy. In *Journal of Neurology* (Vol. 262, pp. 992-1001): Dr. Dietrich Steinkopff Verlag GmbH and Co. KG.
- Ryan, T. J., & Grant, S. G. (2009). The origin and evolution of synapses. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 10*(10), 701-712. doi:10.1038/nrn2717
- Sami, S., Williams, N., Hughes, L. E., Cope, T. E., Rittman, T., Coyle-Gilchrist, I. T. S., . . Rowe, J. B. (2018). Neurophysiological signatures of Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration: Pathology versus phenotype. In *Brain* (Vol. 141, pp. 2500-2510).
- Scheff, S. W. (2003). Reactive Synaptogenesis in Aging and Alzheimer's Disease: Lessons Learned in the Cotman Laboratory. *Neurochemical Research*, 28(11), 1625-1630. doi:10.1023/A:1026048619220
- Scheff, S. W., Price, D. A., Schmitt, F. A., DeKosky, S. T., & Mufson, E. J. (2007). Synaptic alterations in CA1 in mild Alzheimer disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Neurology*, 68(18), 1501-1508. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000260698.46517.8f
- Scheff, S. W., Price, D. A., Schmitt, F. A., & Mufson, E. J. (2006). Hippocampal synaptic loss in early Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. In *Neurobiology* of Aging (Vol. 27, pp. 1372-1384).
- Scheres, S. H., Zhang, W., Falcon, B., & Goedert, M. (2020). Cryo-EM structures of tau filaments. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, 64, 17-25. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2020.05.011
- Schikorski, T., & Stevens, C. F. (1999). Quantitative fine-structural analysis of olfactory cortical synapses. In *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* (Vol. 96, pp. 4107-4112): National Academy of Sciences.
- Schilling, K. G., Janve, V., Gao, Y., Stepniewska, I., Landman, B. A., & Anderson, A. W. (2018). Histological validation of diffusion MRI fiber orientation distributions and dispersion. *Neuroimage*, 165, 200-221. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.10.046
- Schindowski, K., Bretteville, A., Leroy, K., Bégard, S., Brion, J. P., Hamdane, M., & Buée, L. (2006). Alzheimer's disease-like tau neuropathology leads to memory deficits and loss of functional synapses in a novel mutated tau transgenic mouse without any motor deficits. *Am J Pathol*, 169(2), 599-616. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2006.060002
- Schwab, R. S., & England, A. C. (1969). Projection Technique for Evaluating Surgery in Parkinson's Disease. In: Billingham, F.H. and Donaldson, M.C., Eds., Third Symposium on Parkinson's Disease, Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, 152-157. *Scientific Research*.

- Seemiller, J., Bischof, G. N., Hoenig, M. C., Tahmasian, M., van Eimeren, T., & Drzezga, A. (2021). Indication of retrograde tau spreading along Braak stages and functional connectivity pathways. In European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging: Springer Science and Business Media Deutschland GmbH.
- Seiger, R., Ganger, S., Kranz, G. S., Hahn, A., & Lanzenberger, R. (2018). Cortical Thickness Estimations of FreeSurfer and the CAT12 Toolbox in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease and Healthy Controls. J Neuroimaging, 28(5), 515-523. doi:10.1111/jon.12521
- Selkoe, D. J., & Hardy, J. (2016). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. In EMBO Molecular Medicine (Vol. 8, pp. 595-608): EMBO.
- Sellers, K. J., Elliott, C., Jackson, J., Ghosh, A., Ribe, E., Rojo, A. I., ... Killick, R. (2018). Amyloid β synaptotoxicity is Wnt-PCP dependent and blocked by fasudil. Alzheimers Dement, 14(3), 306-317. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2017.09.008
- Senatore, A., Restelli, E., & Chiesa, R. (2013). Synaptic dysfunction in prion diseases: a trafficking problem? Int J Cell Biol, 2013, 543803. doi:10.1155/2013/543803
- Shaikh, A. G., Factor, S. A., & Juncos, J. L. (2017). Saccades in Progressive Supranuclear Palsy-Maladapted, Irregular, Curved, and Slow. In Movement Disorders Clinical Practice (Vol. 4, pp. 671-681): Wiley-Blackwell.
- Shannon, K. M., & Fraint, A. (2015). Therapeutic advances in Huntington's Disease. Mov Disord, 30(11), 1539-1546. doi:10.1002/mds.26331
- Simoneau, S., Rezaei, H., Salès, N., Kaiser-Schulz, G., Lefebvre-Roque, M., Vidal, C., . . . Lasmézas, C. I. (2007). In vitro and in vivo neurotoxicity of prion protein oligomers. PLoS Pathog, 3(8), e125. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.0030125
- Soleimani-Meigooni, D. N., Iaccarino, L., La Joie, R., Baker, S., Bourakova, V., Boxer, A. L., . . . Rabinovici, G. D. (2020). 18F-flortaucipir PET to autopsy comparisons in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases. In Brain : a journal of neurology (Vol. 143, pp. 3477-3494): NLM (Medline).
- Spampanato, J., Gu, X., Yang, X. W., & Mody, I. (2008). Progressive synaptic pathology of motor cortical neurons in a BAC transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. Neuroscience, 157(3), 606-620. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.09.020
- Sperling, R. A., Aisen, P. S., Beckett, L. A., Bennett, D. A., Craft, S., Fagan, A. M., ... Phelps, C. H. (2011). Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. In Alzheimer's and Dementia (Vol. 7, pp. 280-292).
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., & Goedert, M. (1997). Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. Nature, 388(6645), 839-840. doi:10.1038/42166
- Spires-Jones, T. L., & Hyman, B. T. (2014). The intersection of amyloid beta and tau at synapses in Alzheimer's disease. Neuron, 82(4), 756-771. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2014.05.004
- Stamelou, M., Alonso-Canovas, A., & Bhatia, K. P. (2012). Dystonia in corticobasal degeneration: a review of the literature on 404 pathologically proven cases. Mov Disord, 27(6), 696-702. doi:10.1002/mds.24992
- Stamelou, M., & Höglinger, G. (2016). A Review of Treatment Options for Progressive Supranuclear Palsy. CNS Drugs, 30(7), 629-636. doi:10.1007/s40263-016-0347-2
- Steele, J. C., Richardson, J. C., & Olszewski, J. (1964). Progressive Supranuclear Palsy: A Heterogeneous Degeneration Involving the Brain Stem, Basal Ganglia and 146

Cerebellum With Vertical Gaze and Pseudobulbar Palsy, Nuchal Dystonia and Dementia. In *Archives of Neurology* (Vol. 10, pp. 333-359): American Medical Association.

- Stern, E. A. (2011). Functional Changes in Neocortical Activity in Huntington's Disease Model Mice: An in vivo Intracellular Study. *Front Syst Neurosci*, 5, 47. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2011.00047
- Stewart, M. G., Popov, V. I., Kraev, I. V., Medvedev, N., & Davies, H. A. (2014). Chapter One - Structure and Complexity of the Synapse and Dendritic Spine. In V. Pickel & M. Segal (Eds.), *The Synapse* (pp. 1-20). Boston: Academic Press.
- Stoothoff, W., Jones, P. B., Spires-Jones, T. L., Joyner, D., Chhabra, E., Bercury, K., . . . Hyman, B. T. (2009). Differential effect of three-repeat and four-repeat tau on mitochondrial axonal transport. In *Journal of Neurochemistry* (Vol. 111, pp. 417-427).
- Südhof, T. C. (2004). THE SYNAPTIC VESICLE CYCLE. In Annu. Rev. Neurosci (Vol. 27, pp. 509-556).
- Südhof, T. C. (2013). Neurotransmitter release: the last millisecond in the life of a synaptic vesicle. *Neuron*, 80(3), 675-690. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.022
- Sze, C. I., Troncoso, J. C., Kawas, C., Mouton, P., Price, D. L., & Martin, L. J. (1997). Loss of the presynaptic vesicle protein synaptophysin in hippocampus correlates with cognitive decline in Alzheimer disease. In *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology* (Vol. 56, pp. 933-944): Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Tanaka, J., Horiike, Y., Matsuzaki, M., Miyazaki, T., Ellis-Davies, G. C., & Kasai, H. (2008). Protein synthesis and neurotrophin-dependent structural plasticity of single dendritic spines. *Science*, 319(5870), 1683-1687. doi:10.1126/science.1152864
- Taoufik, E., Kouroupi, G., Zygogianni, O., & Matsas, R. (2018). Synaptic dysfunction in neurodegenerative and neurodevelopmental diseases: an overview of induced pluripotent stem-cell-based disease models. *Open Biol*, 8(9). doi:10.1098/rsob.180138
- Tardivel, M., Bégard, S., Bousset, L., Dujardin, S., Coens, A., Melki, R., . . . Colin, M. (2016). Tunneling nanotube (TNT)-mediated neuron-to neuron transfer of pathological Tau protein assemblies. In *Acta Neuropathologica Communications* (Vol. 4, pp. 117): BioMed Central.
- Terry, R. D., Masliah, E., Salmon, D. P., Butters, N., DeTeresa, R., Hill, R., ... Katzman, R. (1991). Physical basis of cognitive alterations in alzheimer's disease: Synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. In *Annals of Neurology* (Vol. 30, pp. 572-580): Wiley-Blackwell.
- Torralva, T., Roca, M., Gleichgerrcht, E., López, P., & Manes, F. (2009). INECO Frontal Screening (IFS): a brief, sensitive, and specific tool to assess executive functions in dementia. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 15(5), 777-786. doi:10.1017/s1355617709990415
- Toyonaga, T., Smith, L. M., Finnema, S. J., Gallezot, J.-D., Naganawa, M., Bini, J., . . . Carson, R. E. (2019). In vivo synaptic density imaging with 11 C-UCB-J detects treatment effects of saracatinib (AZD0530) in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. . In *Journal of Nuclear Medicine* (pp. jnumed.118.223867).
- Trojanowski, J. Q., Schuck, T., Schmidt, M. L., & Lee, V. M. (1989). Distribution of tau proteins in the normal human central and peripheral nervous system. In *Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry* (Vol. 37, pp. 209-215): SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA.

- Troubat, R., Barone, P., Leman, S., Desmidt, T., Cressant, A., Atanasova, B., . . . Camus, V. (2021). Neuroinflammation and depression: A review. *Eur J Neurosci*, 53(1), 151-171. doi:10.1111/ejn.14720
- Tsai, R. M., Miller, Z., Koestler, M., Rojas, J. C., Ljubenkov, P. A., Rosen, H. J., ... Boxer, A. L. (2020). Reactions to Multiple Ascending Doses of the Microtubule Stabilizer TPI-287 in Patients With Alzheimer Disease, Progressive Supranuclear Palsy, and Corticobasal Syndrome: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Neurol, 77(2), 215-224. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.3812
- Tyebji, S., & Hannan, A. J. (2017). Synaptopathic mechanisms of neurodegeneration and dementia: Insights from Huntington's disease. *Prog Neurobiol*, 153, 18-45. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2017.03.008
- Tykalova, T., Rusz, J., Klempir, J., Cmejla, R., & Ruzicka, E. (2017). Distinct patterns of imprecise consonant articulation among Parkinson's disease, progressive supranuclear palsy and multiple system atrophy. In *Brain and Language* (Vol. 165, pp. 1-9): Academic Press Inc.
- Tyler, W. J., & Pozzo-Miller, L. D. (2001). BDNF enhances quantal neurotransmitter release and increases the number of docked vesicles at the active zones of hippocampal excitatory synapses. J Neurosci, 21(12), 4249-4258. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.21-12-04249.2001
- Usenovic, M., Niroomand, S., Drolet, R. E., Yao, L., Gaspar, R. C., Hatcher, N. G., ... Parmentier-Batteur, S. (2015). Internalized tau oligomers cause neurodegeneration by inducing accumulation of pathogenic tau in human neurons derived from induced pluripotent stem cells. In *Journal of Neuroscience* (Vol. 35, pp. 14234-14250): Society for Neuroscience.
- van der Ende, E. L., Xiao, M., Xu, D., Poos, J. M., Panman, J. L., Jiskoot, L. C., . . . van Swieten, J. C. (2020). Neuronal pentraxin 2: a synapse-derived CSF biomarker in genetic frontotemporal dementia. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & amp; amp; Psychiatry*, 91(6), 612. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2019-322493
- van Dyck, C. H., Nygaard, H. B., Chen, K., Donohue, M. C., Raman, R., Rissman, R. A., . . Strittmatter, S. M. (2019). Effect of AZD0530 on Cerebral Metabolic Decline in Alzheimer Disease: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Neurol*, 76(10), 1219-1229. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2050
- VandeVrede, L., Ljubenkov, P. A., Rojas, J. C., Welch, A. E., & Boxer, A. L. (2020). Four-Repeat Tauopathies: Current Management and Future Treatments. *Neurotherapeutics*, 17(4), 1563-1581. doi:10.1007/s13311-020-00888-5
- Vanhaute, H., Ceccarini, J., Michiels, L., Koole, M., Sunaert, S., Lemmens, R., . . . Van Laere, K. (2020). In vivo synaptic density loss is related to tau deposition in amnestic mild cognitive impairment. In *Neurology* (pp. 10.1212/WNL.00000000009818).
- Velier, J., Kim, M., Schwarz, C., Kim, T. W., Sapp, E., Chase, K., . . . DiFiglia, M. (1998). Wild-type and mutant huntingtins function in vesicle trafficking in the secretory and endocytic pathways. *Exp Neurol*, 152(1), 34-40. doi:10.1006/exnr.1998.6832
- Verny, C., Bachoud-Lévi, A. C., Durr, A., Goizet, C., Azulay, J. P., Simonin, C., . . . Bonneau, D. (2017). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial evaluating cysteamine in Huntington's disease. *Mov Disord*, 32(6), 932-936. doi:10.1002/mds.27010
- Verpelli, C., Heise, C., & Sala, C. (2013). *Structural and Functional Organization of the Postsynaptic Density*: Elsevier Inc.

- Vogels, T., Murgoci, A. N., & Hromádka, T. (2019). Intersection of pathological tau and microglia at the synapse. Acta Neuropathol Commun, 7(1), 109. doi:10.1186/s40478-019-0754-y
- Walker, C. K., Greathouse, K. M., Boros, B. D., Poovey, E. H., Clearman, K. R., Ramdas, R., . . . Herskowitz, J. H. (2021). Dendritic Spine Remodeling and Synaptic Tau Levels in PS19 Tauopathy Mice. In *Neuroscience* (Vol. 455, pp. 195-211): Elsevier Ltd.
- Walker, F. O. (2007). Huntington's disease. *Lancet*, 369(9557), 218-228. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60111-1
- Walsh, D. M., Klyubin, I., Fadeeva, J. V., Cullen, W. K., Anwyl, R., Wolfe, M. S., . . . Selkoe, D. J. (2002). Naturally secreted oligomers of amyloid β protein potently inhibit hippocampal long-term potentiation in vivo. In *Nature* (Vol. 416, pp. 535-539).
- Wang, Y., & Mandelkow, E. (2012). Degradation of tau protein by autophagy and proteasomal pathways. *Biochemical Society Transactions*: Biochem Soc Trans.
- Wang, Y. T., & Edison, P. (2019). Tau Imaging in Neurodegenerative Diseases Using Positron Emission Tomography. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep*, 19(7), 45. doi:10.1007/s11910-019-0962-7
- Ward, S. M., Himmelstein, D. S., Lancia, J. K., & Binder, L. I. (2012). Tau oligomers and tau toxicity in neurodegenerative disease. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 40(4), 667-671. doi:10.1042/bst20120134
- Wear, H. J., Wedderburn, C. J., Mioshi, E., Williams-Gray, C. H., Mason, S. L., Barker, R. A., & Hodges, J. R. (2008). The Cambridge Behavioural Inventory revised. *Dement Neuropsychol*, 2(2), 102-107. doi:10.1590/s1980-57642009dn20200005
- Weber, A., Schwarz, S. C., Tost, J., Trümbach, D., Winter, P., Busato, F., . . . Müller, U. (2018). Epigenome-wide DNA methylation profiling in Progressive Supranuclear Palsy reveals major changes at DLX1. In *Nature Communications* (Vol. 9, pp. 1-12): Nature Publishing Group.
- Wen, Y., Zhou, Y., Jiao, B., & Shen, L. (2021). Genetics of Progressive Supranuclear Palsy: A Review. J Parkinsons Dis, 11(1), 93-105. doi:10.3233/jpd-202302
- Whitwell, J. L., Avula, R., Master, A., Vemuri, P., Senjem, M. L., Jones, D. T., ... Josephs, K. A. (2011). Disrupted thalamocortical connectivity in PSP: A resting-state fMRI, DTI, and VBM study. *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders*, 17, 599-605. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2011.05.013
- Whitwell, J. L., Höglinger, G. U., Antonini, A., Bordelon, Y., Boxer, A. L., Colosimo, C., ... Josephs, K. A. (2017a). Radiological biomarkers for diagnosis in PSP: Where are we and where do we need to be? *Mov Disord*, 32(7), 955-971. doi:10.1002/mds.27038
- Whitwell, J. L., Lowe, V. J., Tosakulwong, N., Weigand, S. D., Senjem, M. L., Schwarz, C. G., . . . Josephs, K. A. (2017b). [18F]AV-1451 tau positron emission tomography in progressive supranuclear palsy. In *Movement Disorders* (Vol. 32, pp. 124-133): John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Whitwell, J. L., Schwarz, C. G., Reid, R. I., Kantarci, K., Jack, C. R., Jr., & Josephs, K. A. (2014). Diffusion tensor imaging comparison of progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal syndromes. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 20(5), 493-498. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.01.023

- Whitwell, J. L., Tosakulwong, N., Clark, H. M., Ali, F., Botha, H., Weigand, S. D., . . . Josephs, K. A. (2021). Diffusion tensor imaging analysis in three progressive supranuclear palsy variants. In *Journal of Neurology* (Vol. 1, pp. 3): Springer.
- Williams, M. M., Xiong, C., Morris, J. C., & Galvin, J. E. (2006). Survival and mortality differences between dementia with Lewy bodies vs Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*, 67(11), 1935-1941. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000247041.63081.98
- Williams-Gray, C. H., Evans, J. R., Goris, A., Foltynie, T., Ban, M., Robbins, T. W., ... Barker, R. A. (2009). The distinct cognitive syndromes of Parkinson's disease: 5 year follow-up of the CamPaIGN cohort. *Brain*, 132(Pt 11), 2958-2969. doi:10.1093/brain/awp245
- Winblad, B., Amouyel, P., Andrieu, S., Ballard, C., Brayne, C., Brodaty, H., ... Zetterberg, H. (2016). Defeating Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a priority for European science and society. *Lancet Neurol*, 15(5), 455-532. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(16)00062-4
- Winkler, A. M., Ridgway, G. R., Webster, M. A., Smith, S. M., & Nichols, T. E. (2014). Permutation inference for the general linear model. *Neuroimage*, 92(100), 381-397. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.01.060
- Wu, Y., & Carson, R. E. (2002). Noise reduction in the simplified reference tissue model for neuroreceptor functional imaging. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 22(12), 1440-1452. doi:10.1097/01.Wcb.0000033967.83623.34
- Xiong, Y., Neifert, S., Karuppagounder, S. S., Liu, Q., Stankowski, J. N., Lee, B. D., ... Dawson, V. L. (2018). Robust kinase- and age-dependent dopaminergic and norepinephrine neurodegeneration in LRRK2 G2019S transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 115(7), 1635-1640. doi:10.1073/pnas.1712648115
- Xu, Q., Huang, S., Song, M., Wang, C. E., Yan, S., Liu, X., . . . Li, X. J. (2013). Synaptic mutant huntingtin inhibits synapsin-1 phosphorylation and causes neurological symptoms. J Cell Biol, 202(7), 1123-1138. doi:10.1083/jcb.201303146
- Yamada, K., Cirrito, J. R., Stewart, F. R., Jiang, H., Finn, M. B., Holmes, B. B., . . . Holtzman, D. M. (2011). In vivo microdialysis reveals age-dependent decrease of brain interstitial fluid tau levels in P301S human tau transgenic mice. In *Journal of Neuroscience* (Vol. 31, pp. 13110-13117): J Neurosci.
- Yavich, L., Tanila, H., Vepsäläinen, S., & Jäkälä, P. (2004). Role of alpha-synuclein in presynaptic dopamine recruitment. J Neurosci, 24(49), 11165-11170. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.2559-04.2004
- Yokoyama, J. S., Karch, C. M., Fan, C. C., Bonham, L. W., Kouri, N., Ross, O. A., . . . Desikan, R. S. (2017). Shared genetic risk between corticobasal degeneration, progressive supranuclear palsy, and frontotemporal dementia. In *Acta Neuropathologica* (Vol. 133, pp. 825-837): Springer Verlag.
- Yoon, W. T., Chung, E. J., Lee, S. H., Kim, B. J., & Lee, W. Y. (2005). Clinical Analysis of Blepharospasm and Apraxia of Eyelid Opening in Patients with Parkinsonism. In *Journal of Clinical Neurology* (Vol. 1, pp. 159): Korean Neurological Association.
- Yoshiyama, Y., Higuchi, M., Zhang, B., Huang, S. M., Iwata, N., Saido, Takaomi C. C., . . . Lee, V. M. Y. (2007). Synapse Loss and Microglial Activation Precede Tangles in a P301S Tauopathy Mouse Model. In *Neuron* (Vol. 53, pp. 337-351): Cell Press.
- Yoshiyama, Y., Lee, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2013). Therapeutic strategies for tau mediated neurodegeneration. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 84(7), 784-795. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2012-303144

- Yotter, R. A., Dahnke, R., Thompson, P. M., & Gaser, C. (2011a). Topological correction of brain surface meshes using spherical harmonics. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 32(7), 1109-1124. doi:10.1002/hbm.21095
- Yotter, R. A., Thompson, P. M., & Gaser, C. (2011b). Algorithms to improve the reparameterization of spherical mappings of brain surface meshes. *J Neuroimaging*, 21(2), e134-147. doi:10.1111/j.1552-6569.2010.00484.x
- Yu, Q., Du, F., Douglas, J. T., Yu, H., Yan, S. S., & Yan, S. F. (2017). Mitochondrial Dysfunction Triggers Synaptic Deficits via Activation of p38 MAP Kinase Signaling in Differentiated Alzheimer's Disease Trans-Mitochondrial Cybrid Cells. In *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* (Vol. 59, pp. 223-239): NIH Public Access.
- Yuste, R., & Bonhoeffer, T. (2001). Morphological changes in dendritic spines associated with long-term synaptic plasticity. Annu Rev Neurosci, 24, 1071-1089. doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.1071
- Zadikoff, C., & Lang, A. E. (2005). Apraxia in movement disorders. *Brain*, 128(Pt 7), 1480-1497. doi:10.1093/brain/awh560
- Zalfa, F., Eleuteri, B., Dickson, K. S., Mercaldo, V., De Rubeis, S., Di Penta, A., ... Bagni, C. (2007). A new function for the fragile X mental retardation protein in regulation of PSD-95 mRNA stability. In *Nature Neuroscience* (Vol. 10, pp. 578-587): Nat Neurosci.
- Zempel, H., & Mandelkow, E. (2014). Lost after translation: missorting of Tau protein and consequences for Alzheimer disease. *Trends Neurosci*, 37(12), 721-732. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2014.08.004
- Zempel, H., Thies, E., Mandelkow, E., & Mandelkow, E. M. (2010). Abeta oligomers cause localized Ca(2+) elevation, missorting of endogenous Tau into dendrites, Tau phosphorylation, and destruction of microtubules and spines. *J Neurosci*, 30(36), 11938-11950. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.2357-10.2010
- Zhang, H., Schneider, T., Wheeler-Kingshott, C. A., & Alexander, D. C. (2012). NODDI: Practical in vivo neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging of the human brain. In *Neuroimage* (Vol. 61, pp. 1000-1016).
- Zhang, W., Tarutani, A., Newell, K. L., Murzin, A. G., Matsubara, T., Falcon, B., . . . Scheres, S. H. W. (2020). Novel tau filament fold in corticobasal degeneration. *Nature*, 580(7802), 283-287. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2043-0
- Zhang, Y., Walter, R., Ng, P., Luong, P. N., Dutt, S., Heuer, H., . . . Boxer, A. L. (2016). Progression of microstructural degeneration in progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal syndrome: A longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging study. In *PLoS One* (Vol. 11, pp. e0157218): Public Library of Science.
- Zhao, P., Zhang, B., & Gao, S. (2012). 18[F]-FDG PET study on the idiopathic Parkinson's disease from several parkinsonian-plus syndromes. In *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders* (Vol. 18): Elsevier Ltd.
- Zhou, M., Ottenberg, G., Sferrazza, G. F., & Lasmézas, C. I. (2012). Highly neurotoxic monomeric α-helical prion protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(8), 3113-3118. doi:10.1073/pnas.1118090109
- Zhukareva, V., Joyce, S., Schuck, T., Van Deerlin, V., Hurtig, H., Albin, R., . . . Lee, V.
 M. Y. (2006). Unexpected abundance of pathological tau in progressive supranuclear palsy white matter. In *Annals of Neurology* (Vol. 60, pp. 335-345).

Bibliography